

Universidade de Brasília

Instituto de Ciências Biológicas

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia

Ecologia das interações entre plantas e pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado: avaliação de desenho amostral, efeitos da severidade do fogo e disponibilidade de recursos

Águeda Lourenço Vieira da Silva

Brasília, 2023

Ecologia das interações entre plantas e pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado: avaliação de desenho amostral, efeitos da severidade do fogo e disponibilidade de recursos

Águeda Lourenço Vieira da Silva

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Emerson Monteiro Vieira

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia da Universidade de Brasília como parte dos requisitos para a obtenção do grau de Doutora em Ecologia.

Brasília - DF

Outubro de 2023

# TERMO DE APROVAÇÃO

#### ÁGUEDA LOURENÇO VIEIRA DA SILVA

# Ecologia das interações entre plantas e pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado: avaliação de desenho amostral, efeitos da severidade do fogo e disponibilidade de recursos

#### BANCA EXAMINADORA:

Prof. Dr. Emerson Monteiro Vieira Presidente/Orientador Universidade de Brasília (UnB) Laboratório de Ecologia de Vertebrados – ECOVERT

> Profa. Dra. Heloísa Sinátora Miranda Membro titular interno vinculado ao PPG Universidade de Brasília (UnB) Laboratório de Ecologia do Fogo

Profa. Dra. Eliana Cazetta Membro titular externo Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz (UESC) Laboratório de Ecologia Aplicada e Conservação – LEAC

Prof. Dr. Mário Almeida Neto Membro titular externo Universidade Federal de Goiás (UFG) Laboratório de Interações Ecológicas e Biodiversidade – LIEB

> Prof. Dr. Pedro Henrique Brum Togni Membro suplente Universidade de Brasília (UnB) Laboratório de Ecologia de Insetos – LECOI

#### Agradecimentos

Agradeço aos meus pais, Rizonete e Heleno, por todo apoio e incentivo para minha formação. Aos meus irmãos, por compartilharem comigo as alegrias e dificuldades dessa longa jornada. Em especial, à minha irmã Aline que enfrentou comigo o mesmo desafio de obter o grau de doutora.

Ao Prof. Emerson Vieira, pela orientação, ensinamentos, confiança e apoio para que eu pudesse concluir o doutorado. Agradeço também ao Prof. Alexandre Palma, com quem aprendi a fazer Ciência investigando os pequenos mamíferos e suas interações durante minha graduação.

À banca pelas valiosas contribuições feitas a esse trabalho.

À Clarice, minha amiga e companheira de pesquisa desde a graduação até aqui! Obrigada por toda ajuda, conversa, partilha de contas, papers e vida. Que nossa parceria tenha vida longa.

Às amigas e amigos que estiveram ao meu lado em diferentes momentos dessa maratona. Obrigada pela rede de apoio.

À Damaris Baldacci, por todo suporte emocional durante as sessões de terapia.

A todos os parceiros de laboratório (s), em especial Nícholas Camargo, André Mendonça (Kid), Clarice Vieira, Thaís Pigozzi, Bárbara Araújo (Babi), Maria Clara, Guilher me Reis, Anna Camargo, Larissa Rodrigues, Pedro Linhares (Bacon), Rogério Andrade, Victória Medeiros (Vic), Juliana Ribeiro, Bruna Nunes e Renan Moura. Grata por tantas conversas, apoio e principalmente pelas amizades construídas.

Ao Rossano Ramos pelo auxílio com a análise das imagens de satélite. Ao Marcelo Kuhlmann pelo auxílio na identificação das sementes. Ao Hernani Oliveira pelas discussões.

Ao Prof. Fernando Pacheco Rodrigues pelo auxílio com a extração de DNA e ao Instituto Tecnológico Vale (ITV), em especial ao Santelmo Vasconcelos e Michele Molina, pelo auxílio com as análises desse material.

Ao Parque Nacional da Chapada dos Veadeiros por todo apoio logístico durante as campanhas de campo. Também à Solange e ao Ângelo por permitirem as coletas na RPPN Fazenda Mata Funda e à PEQUI (Pesquisa e Conservação do Cerrado) pelo suporte logístico durante as amostragens.

A todos os voluntários, brigadistas e estudantes que auxiliaram as atividades de campo e de laboratório enfrentando sol, chuva, carrapatos e pandemia.

Ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia, principalmente aos professores que fomentaram a descoberta e busca de conhecimentos e aos colegas de curso que compartilhar a m disciplinas, histórias e desabafos.

Ao Laboratório de Ecologia de Vertebrados (EcoVert) do Depto. de Ecologia da Universidade de Brasília, pelo suporte logístico fundamental para a execução desse trabalho.

Ao Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) pela bolsa de doutorado e apoio financeiro por meio do projeto "Efeitos do fogo sobre mamíferos e suas interações ecológicas no Cerrado do Brasil central", em parceria com o Centro Nacional de Prevenção e Combate aos Incêndios Florestais (PrevFogo).

#### Resumo

A distribuição das espécies e das suas interações ecológicas varia espacial e temporalmente. As comunidades biológicas e por consequência suas interações podem ser afetadas por distúrbios como os incêndios, que são capazes de alterar a estrutura dos habitats e a disponibilidade de recursos. Para entendermos os padrões de distribuição das espécies, assim como detectar alterações após perturbações, é necessário mensurar adequadamente a diversidade dos grupos estudados. Isso é um desafio, sobretudo para grupos altamente diversos, como os pequenos mamíferos voadores neotropicais e em ambientes compostos por diferentes fisionomias, como o Cerrado. Nesse estudo, avaliamos: 1) como o desenho amostral afeta as estimativas de diversidade de pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado; 2) os efeitos da severidade do fogo, da disponibilidade de recursos e da estrutura do habitat nas redes de interação planta-animal das quais participam os pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado; e 3) os efeitos da severidade do fogo sobre o potencial de dispersão de sementes por pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado. O desenho amostral utilizado na amostragem de comunidades de pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado afetou as estimativas de abundância e riqueza desse grupo. Amostragens que utilizaram em conjunto armadilhas tipo gaiola e as de interceptação e queda (*pitfalls*) e que consideraram as duas estações climáticas (i. e. seca e chuvosa) foram mais eficientes, especialmente nas formações abertas. A análise de DNA metabarcoding nos permitiu detectar uma riqueza de plantas consumidas por roedores e marsupiais muito acima do que é possível através de métodos tradicionais. No total, identificamos 211 espécies de plantas nas fezes desses animais, contrastando com as 28 espécies de sementes detectadas pela análise visual em estereoscópio. As interações planta-animal entre pequenos mamíferos e a flora do Cerrado foram afetadas pelo fogo. A severidade do fogo tornou as redes de interações mais aninhadas, e com menor grau de modularidade e especialização nas matas de galeria atingidas mais severamente pelo incêndio. Nessas áreas, a diversidade de interações foi maior, possivelmente em decorrência da invasão

de espécies típicas de habitats abertos, favorecidas pelas modificações na estrutura do habitat causadas pelo fogo. A disponibilidade de recursos (i. e. frutos) também afetou a estrutura das redes planta-animal, embora essa disponibilidade não tenha apresentado relação direta com a severidade do fogo. Já a estrutura do habitat não afetou diretamente a estrutura das redes plantaanimal. No entanto, esse fator foi explicado em grande parte pela severidade do fogo. Portanto, é possível que seus efeitos sobre a estrutura das interações tenham sido indiretos. O fogo também afetou o papel dos pequenos mamíferos como potenciais dispersores de sementes. Houve uma redução no número de potenciais dispersores e na diversidade de plantas dispersas pelo grupo nas matas de galeria mais severamente atingidas pelo incêndio. Esses efeitos foram espécie-específicos, variando ao longo do gradiente de severidade do fogo. Os resultados apresentados no presente estudo indicam que incêndios severos modificam as comunidades de pequenos mamíferos que habitam as matas de galeria mesmo após três anos da ocorrência do incêndio. Essas modificações têm efeitos sobre as interações planta-animal assim como sobre o papel ecossistêmico que roedores e marsupiais desempenham como dispersores de sementes, potencialmente impactando o recrutamento vegetal em áreas sensíveis ao fogo. Diante disso, recomendamos que planos de manejo integrado do fogo considerem a proteção dos ambientes mais sensíveis, pois os efeitos negativos de incêndios severos nessas áreas podem ser prolongados.

Palavras-chave: estimativas de diversidade, incêndios florestais, redes de interação plantaanimal, dispersão de sementes, roedores, marsupiais, savana neotropical.

# Abstract

The distribution of species and their ecological interactions varies spatially and temporally. Biological communities and consequently their interactions can be affected by disturbances such as fires, which are capable of altering the structure of habitats and the availability of resources. To understand species distribution patterns, as well as detect changes following disturbances, it is necessary to adequately measure the diversity of the groups studied. This is a challenge, especially for highly diverse groups, such as neotropical non-volant small mammals, and in environments composed of distinct plant physiognomies, such as the Cerrado (neotropical savanna). In this study, we evaluated: 1) how the sampling design affects estimates of small mammal diversity in the Cerrado; 2) the effects of fire severity, resource availability, and habitat structure on plant-animal interaction networks in which small mammals participate in the Cerrado; and 3) the effects of fire severity on the potential for seed dispersal by small mammals in the Cerrado. The kind of trapping protocol used to sample small mammal communities in the Cerrado affected the abundance and richness estimates of this group. Sampling designs using both cage traps and pitfalls and considering both climatic seasons (i.e., dry and rainy) were more efficient, especially in open formations. DNA metabarcoding analysis allowed us to detect a high number of plants consumed by rodents and marsupials far above what is possible using traditional methods. In total, we identified 211 species of plants in the fecal samples, contrasting with the 28 species of seeds detected by stereoscopic visual analysis. Plant-animal interactions between small mammals and Cerrado flora were affected by fire. The severity of fire made the interaction networks more nested, and with a lower degree of modularity and specialization in gallery forests more severely affected by fire. In these areas, the diversity of interactions was higher, possibly because of the invasion of species typical of open habitats, favored by changes in the habitat structure caused by fire. The availability of resources (i.e. fruits) also affected the structure of plant-animal networks, although this

availability was not directly related to the fire severity. Habitat structure did not directly affect the structure of plant-animal networks, but this factor was largely explained by fire severity. Therefore, it is possible that its effects on the structure of interactions were indirect. Fire also affected the role of small mammals as potential seed dispersers. There was a reduction in the number of potential dispersers and in the diversity of plants dispersed by the group in the gallery forests most severely affected by fire. These effects were species-specific, varying along the fire severity gradient. The results presented in the present study indicate that severe fires modify the communities of small mammals that inhabit gallery forests even three years after the fire occurrence. These modifications have effects on plant-animal interactions as well as on the ecosystem roles that rodents and marsupials play as seed dispersers, potentially impacting plant recruitment in fire-sensitive areas. Considering this, we recommend that integrated fire management plans consider the protection of the most sensitive environments, as the negative effects of severe fires in these areas can be perceived on a long-term basis.

**Keywords**: diversity estimates, wildfire, plant-animal interaction networks, seed dispersal, rodents, marsupials, neotropical savanna.

# Sumário

INTRODUÇÃO GERAL	12
Referências	16
Capítulo 1: Sampling design affects small mammal diversity estimates in a Neotropical savanna	22
Abstract	22
Introduction	23
Material and methods	26
Study sites	26
Dataset	28
Data analysis	31
Results	34
Discussion	40
Conclusion	43
References	45
Supporting information	52
Capítulo 2: Plant-animal interaction networks of Neotropical small mammals are affected fire severity and resource availability but not by habitat structure	l by 58
Abstract	58
Introduction	59
Methods	62
Study sites	62
Small mammal sampling and sample colection	63
Fruit availability	64
Habitat structure	65
Metabarcoding analysis and bioinformatic	66
Data analysis	68
Results	70
Discussion	76
Conclusion	83
References	84
Supporting information	95
Capítulo 3: Fire severity affects consumption and potential dispersal of seeds by small mammals in a Neotropical savanna	106

Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Study area	
Small mammal sampling	
Fecal sampling and analysis	
Data analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusion	
References	
Supporting information	
CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS	

# INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

A ocorrência de uma espécie em uma comunidade depende não somente de sua capacidade de dispersão e tolerância às condições ambientais ali presentes, mas também de interações com outras espécies (Belyea and Lancaster 1999). De forma geral, a relação entre duas espécies que interagem pode ser classificada como antagonista, quando uma delas se beneficia em detrimento da outra, ou mutualista, quando ambas se beneficiam da interação. Competição, parasitismo e predação são exemplos de antagonismos, enquanto polinização e dispersão de sementes representam mutualismos.

A frugivoria (que pode incluir a dispersão ou predação de sementes) está entre as interações planta-animal mais amplamente distribuídas ao redor do mundo, com implicações para a dinâmica e estabilidade de diversos ecossistemas terrestres (Levey et al. 2002, Estrada and Fleming 2012). Esse tópico tem sido investigado crescentemente na ecologia, impulsionado em grande parte pelos trabalhos de Barbara K. Snow e David W. Snow, pioneiros em relacionar o período de frutificação com a dieta de aves em florestas tropicais (Snow 1965, Snow and Snow 1971).

Os padrões das interações variam no tempo e no espaço (Alarcón et al. 2008, Dugger et al. 2019). Essas interações, contudo, podem sofrer mudanças que estão associadas à ocorrência de distúrbios e perturbações. A invasão de espécies exóticas, por exemplo, pode causar alterações na disponibilidade de recursos e levar ao rearranjo de interações entre plantas e abelhas (Hachuy-Filho et al. 2020). Já a redução do hábitat, por sua vez, pode afetar a estrutura das interações em teias alimentares. Nesse caso, apesar da pouca variação na riqueza de espécies detectada, há um declínio na distribuição da frequência das interações, que passam a concentrar o fluxo energético em uma ou poucas interações em ambientes intensamente manejados (Tylianakis et al. 2007). A perda de habitat também contribuiu diretamente para a perda de espécies em redes planta-polinizador e indiretamente para a

reorganização das interações em savanas do norte da Flórida (Spiesman and Inouye 2013). Perdas de espécies e interações em teias alimentares também foram reportadas para ecossistemas de água doce após eventos de seca extrema (Ledger et al. 2012). Além desses distúrbios já indicados, eventos de fogo também são capazes de alterar as comunidades biológicas e suas interações (Ballarin et al. 2023).

O fogo é um distúrbio natural que atua historicamente na estrutura e composição da vegetação em diversos ecossistemas (Daubenmire 1968, Simon et al. 2009). O homem, por sua vez, tem influenciado globalmente o regime do fogo. Essas mudanças têm sido causadas principalmente pelas ocorrências de queimas de origem antrópica em áreas sensíveis e supressão de incêndios naturais em áreas propensas ao fogo, assim como por modificações nas condições ambientais propícias a sua ocorrência (Bowman et al. 2011, Rogers et al. 2020). As condições climáticas, a carga de combustível disponível e a topografia são fatores que determinam o comportamento do fogo (Countryman 1972). Assim, os eventos de fogo podem apresentar intensidades e velocidades de propagação distintas e a vegetação pode sofrer diferentes impactos que podem ser classificados em níveis de severidade de acordo com os danos causados, por exemplo, à cobertura do dossel (White et al. 1996, Flores et al. 2021). No Cerrado, incêndios naturais e queimas antrópicas são comuns, e estima-se que o fogo ocorra nessa região há pelo menos 30 mil anos (Salgado-Labouriau et al. 1997). Entretanto, atualmente a ausência de uma política consistente para uso do fogo nesse bioma ameaça a manutenção da savana tropical mais biodiversa do mundo (Durigan and Ratter 2016).

Nas diferentes fitofisionomias do Cerrado, que vão de campos abertos e savanas até formações florestais (Eiten 1972), ocorrem pelo menos 251 espécies de mamíferos, sendo que marsupiais e roedores representam quase metade deste total (Paglia et al. 2012). Como o Cerrado é um ambiente propenso ao fogo, esses animais são frequentemente expostos aos incêndios e queimas. Em áreas queimadas, a disponibilidade de recursos e estrutura do habitat

estão entre os principais determinantes da recuperação de populações de pequenos mamíferos (Sutherland and Dickman 1999). Após um incêndio na Austrália, por exemplo, o gradiente de vegetação ao longo dos estágios sucessionais pós-fogo permitiu a substituição de espécies de roedores e marsupiais (Fox 1982). No Cerrado, esse mesmo processo foi observado para pequenos mamíferos em áreas de cerrado sentido restrito (Briani et al. 2004). Espécies de roedores que conseguem utilizar melhor os recursos disponíveis logo após o fogo (principalmente insetos) são favorecidos em áreas queimadas. Já as espécies que dependem mais de frutos e sementes só retornam ou aumentam o número de indivíduos em estágios mais avançados da sucessão (Vieira and Briani 2013).

A maioria dos pequenos mamíferos inclui em algum grau frutos e sementes em sua dieta, podendo atuar tanto como predadores de sementes (Vieira et al. 2003, DeMattia et al. 2004) quanto como dispersores (Charles-Dominique et al. 1981, Brewer and Rejmánek 1999, Cáceres and Lessa 2012, Sahley et al. 2016). Assim, uma vez que esses animais exercem papel importante no recrutamento de espécies vegetais (Bricker et al. 2010, Vaz Ferreira et al. 2011) e devido à importância de eventos de fogo em áreas de Cerrado (Miranda et al. 2002), torna-se altamente relevante entender a estrutura das interações planta-animal das quais esses animais fazem parte e como elas são alteradas pelo fogo no Cerrado.

Análises de redes de interações têm sido extensivamente utilizadas a fim de elucidar padrões de interação entre organismos, assim como os processos ecológicos e evolutivos envolvidos (Quintero et al. 2022). Sob tal perspectiva, as espécies podem ser representadas por nós e, as interações existentes entre elas, por ligações que conectam esses nós (Barabási 2016). Essas análises permitem a investigação dos padrões de interações e os efeitos de alterações ambientais, que muitas vezes não são detectados por descritores convencionais de comunidades que não metrificam interações (Tylianakis et al. 2007). Além disso, a estrutura das redes de interações sofre influência da diversidade de espécies envolvidas e do número de

interações entre elas (Thébault and Fontaine 2010). Para a avaliação adequada das interações entre pequenos mamíferos e plantas é essencial que a diversidade e composição de espécies desses animais em suas áreas de ocorrência seja bem conhecida.

A mensuração adequada da diversidade de espécies ainda é um desafio. Especialmente para o grupo dos pequenos mamíferos não voadores neotropicais, que apresenta elevada diversidade (Luza et al. 2019), com espécies respondendo diferentemente aos métodos de amostragem (Lambert et al. 2005, Caceres et al. 2011, Barros et al. 2015, Ardente et al. 2017, Bovendorp et al. 2017). Efeitos de amostragem sobre as estimativas de diversidade calculadas para comunidades de pequenos mamíferos neotropicais foram reportados para diferentes ambientes florestais (Vieira et al. 2014, Barros et al. 2015, Santos-Filho et al. 2015, Bovendorp et al. 2017, Palmeirim et al. 2019). No entanto, esses efeitos podem ser diferentes em ambientes predominantemente não-florestais, com sazonalidade climática acentuada (Eiten 1972) e composição de espécies distintas (Paglia et al. 2012), caso do Cerrado. Apesar disso, estudos abrangentes sobre questões metodológicas afetando as estimativas de riqueza e abundância de pequenos mamíferos não voadores nesse bioma são inexistentes. Sendo assim, é importante entender como o desenho amostral pode influenciar as estimativas de riqueza, abundância, composição e diversidade em comunidades de pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado.

O presente estudo está estruturado em três capítulos, todos relacionados aos pequenos mamíferos do Cerrado brasileiro, incluindo suas interações ecológicas com as plantas e o efeito do fogo sobre estas interações. No primeiro capítulo, avaliei os efeitos de diferentes desenhos amostrais sobre as estimativas de diversidade para o grupo dos pequenos mamíferos não voadores no Cerrado. Já no capítulo 2, objetivei descrever as redes de interações entre pequenos mamíferos e as plantas das quais consomem frutos e sementes no Cerrado, investigando os efeitos da severidade do fogo, da disponibilidade de recursos e estrutura do habitat sobre estas redes. Por último, no capítulo 3, investiguei o potencial de dispersão de

sementes que roedores e marsupiais apresentam no Cerrado, assim como os impactos da severidade do fogo sobre os serviços de dispersão potencialmente providos por esses animais.

# Referências

- Alarcón, R., N. M. Waser, and J. Ollerton. 2008. Year-to-year variation in the topology of a plant–pollinator interaction network. Oikos 117:1796-1807.
- Ardente, N. C., Á. C. Ferreguetti, D. Gettinger, P. Leal, F. Martins-Hatano, and H. G. Bergallo. 2017. Differencial efficiency of two sampling methods in capturing nonvolant small mammals in an area in eastern Amazonia. Acta Amazonica 47.
- Ballarin, C. S., G. J. Mores, G. Alcarás de Goés, A. Fidelis, and T. Cornelissen. 2023. Trends and gaps in the study of fire effects on plant–animal interactions in Brazilian ecosystems. Austral Ecology n/a.
- Barabási, A.-L. 2016. Graph Theory. Network science. Cambridge University Press.
- Barros, C. S., T. Püttker, B. T. Pinotti, and R. Pardini. 2015. Determinants of capturerecapture success: an evaluation of trapping methods to estimate population and community parameters for Atlantic forest small mammals. Zoologia (Curitiba) 32.
- Belyea, L. R., and J. Lancaster. 1999. Assembly rules within a contingent ecology. Oikos 86:402-416.
- Bovendorp, R. S., R. A. MCCleery, and M. Galetti. 2017. Optimising sampling methods for small mammal communities in Neotropical rainforests. Mammal Review 47:148-158.
- Bowman, D. M. J. S., J. Balch, P. Artaxo, W. J. Bond, M. A. Cochrane, C. M. D'Antonio, R. DeFries, F. H. Johnston, J. E. Keeley, M. A. Krawchuk, C. A. Kull, M. Mack, M. A. Moritz, S. Pyne, C. I. Roos, A. C. Scott, N. S. Sodhi, and T. W. Swetnam. 2011. The human dimension of fire regimes on Earth. Journal of Biogeography 38:2223-2236.

- Brewer, S. W., and M. Rejmánek. 1999. Small rodents as significant dispersers of tree seeds in a Neotropical forest. Journal of Vegetation Science 10:165-174.
- Briani, D. C., A. R. T. Palma, E. M. Vieira, and R. P. B. Henriques. 2004. Post-fire succession of small mammals in the Cerrado of central Brazil. Biodiversity & Conservation 13:1023-1037.
- Bricker, M., D. Pearson, and J. Maron. 2010. Small-mammal seed predation limits the recruitment and abundance of two perennial grassland forbs. Ecology 91:85-92.
- Cáceres, N. C., and L. G. Lessa. 2012. O papel de marsupiais na dispersão de sementes. Pages 407-423 in N. C. Cáceres, editor. Os marsupiais do Brasil: Biologia, ecologia e conservação. UFMS, Campo Grande, Brazil.
- Caceres, N. C., R. P. Nápoli, and W. Hannibal. 2011. Differential trapping success for small mammals using pitfall and standard cage traps in a woodland savannah region of southwestern Brazil. 75:45-52.
- Charles-Dominique, P., M. Atramentowicz, M. Charles-Dominique, H. Gérard, A. Hladik, C.
  M. Hladik, and M. F. Prévost. 1981. Les mammifères frugivores arboricoles nocturnes d'une forêt guyanaise: inter-relations plantes-animaux Revue d'Écologie (Terre et Vie) 35:341-435.
- Countryman, C. M. 1972. The fire environment concept. Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Daubenmire, R. 1968. Ecology of fire in grasslands. Pages 209-266 in J. B. Cragg, editor. Advances in Ecological Research. Academic Press.
- DeMattia, E. A., L. M. Curran, and B. J. Rathcke. 2004. Effects of small rodents and large mammals on Neotropical seeds. Ecology 85:2161-2170.
- Dugger, P. J., P. G. Blendinger, K. Böhning-Gaese, L. Chama, M. Correia, D. M. Dehling, C. Emer, N. Farwig, E. C. Fricke, M. Galetti, D. García, I. Grass, R. Heleno, F. A. F.

Jacomassa, S. Moraes, C. Moran, M. C. Muñoz, E. L. Neuschulz, L. Nowak, A. Piratelli, M. A. Pizo, M. Quitián, H. S. Rogers, R. A. Ruggera, F. Saavedra, M. S. Sánchez, R. Sánchez, V. Santillán, D. G. Schabo, F. R. da Silva, S. Timóteo, A. Traveset, M. G. R. Vollstädt, and M. Schleuning. 2019. Seed-dispersal networks are more specialized in the Neotropics than in the Afrotropics. Global Ecology and Biogeography 28:248-261.

- Durigan, G., and J. A. Ratter. 2016. The need for a consistent fire policy for Cerrado conservation. Journal of Applied Ecology 53:11-15.
- Eiten, G. 1972. The Cerrado vegetation of Brazil. The Botanical Review 38:201-341.
- Estrada, A., and T. H. Fleming. 2012. Frugivores and seed dispersal. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Flores, B. M., M. de Sá Dechoum, I. B. Schmidt, M. Hirota, A. Abrahão, L. Verona, L. L. F. Pecoral, M. B. Cure, A. L. Giles, P. de Britto Costa, M. B. Pamplona, G. G. Mazzochini, P. Groenendijk, G. L. Minski, G. Wolfsdorf, A. B. Sampaio, F. Piccolo, L. Melo, R. Fiacador de Lima, and R. S. Oliveira. 2021. Tropical riparian forests in danger from large savanna wildfires. Journal of Applied Ecology 58:419-430.
- Fox, B. J. 1982. Fire and mammalian secondary succession in an Australian coastal heath. Ecology 63:1332-1341.
- Hachuy-Filho, L., C. S. Ballarin, and F. W. Amorim. 2020. Changes in plant community structure and decrease in floral resource availability lead to a high temporal β-diversity of plant–bee interactions. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 14:571-583.
- Lambert, T. D., J. R. Malcolm, and B. L. Zimmerman. 2005. Variation in small mammal species richness by trap height and trap type in southeastern Amazonia. Journal of Mammalogy 86:982-990.

- Ledger, M. E., L. E. Brown, F. K. Edwards, A. M. Milner, and G. Woodward. 2012. Drought alters the structure and functioning of complex food webs. Nature Climate Change 3:223.
- Levey, D. J., W. R. Silva, and M. Galetti. 2002. Seed dispersal and frugivory: ecology, evolution, and conservation. CABI.
- Luza, A. L., C. H. Graham, and S. M. Hartz. 2019. A global database on non-volant small mammal composition in natural and human-modified habitats. Data in Brief 23:103842.
- Miranda, A. C., H. S. Miranda, I. de Fátima Oliveira Dias, and B. F. de Souza Dias. 1993. Soil and air temperatures during prescribed cerated fires in Central Brazil. Journal of Tropical Ecology 9:313-320.
- Miranda, H. S., M. M. C. Bustamante, and A. C. Miranda. 2002. The fire factor. Pages 51-68 in P. S. Oliveira and R. J. Marquis, editors. The Cerrados of Brazil. Columbia University Press, New York Chichester, West Sussex.
- Paglia, A. P., G. A. B. Fonseca, A. B. Rylands, G. Herrmann, L. M. S. Aguiar, A. G.
  Chiarello, Y. L. R. Leite, L. P. Costa, S. Siciliano, M. C. M. Kierulff, S. L. Mendes, V.
  d. C. Tavares, R. A. Mittermeier, and J. L. Patton. 2012. Lista anotada dos mamíferos do Brasil/Annotated checklist of Brazilian mammals. 2 edition. Conservation International, Arlington, VA.
- Palmeirim, A. F., M. Benchimol, C. A. Peres, and M. V. Vieira. 2019. Moving forward on the sampling efficiency of neotropical small mammals: insights from pitfall and camera trapping over traditional live trapping. Mammal Research 64:445-454.
- Quintero, E., J. Isla, and P. Jordano. 2022. Methodological overview and data-merging approaches in the study of plant-frugivore interactions. Oikos 2022.

- Rogers, B. M., J. K. Balch, S. J. Goetz, C. E. R. Lehmann, and M. Turetsky. 2020. Focus on changing fire regimes: interactions with climate, ecosystems, and society. Environmental Research Letters 15:030201.
- Sahley, C. T., K. Cervantes, E. Salas, D. Paredes, V. Pacheco, and A. Alonso. 2016. Primary seed dispersal by a sigmodontine rodent assemblage in a Peruvian montane forest. Journal of Tropical Ecology 32:125-134.
- Salgado-Labouriau, M. L., V. Casseti, K. R. Ferraz-Vicentini, L. Martin, F. Soubiès, K. Suguio, and B. Turcq. 1997. Late Quaternary vegetational and climatic changes in cerrado and palm swamp from Central Brazil. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 128:215-226.
- Santos-Filho, M. d., P. R. D. E. LÁZari, C. P. F. d. Sousa, and G. R. Canale. 2015. Trap efficiency evaluation for small mammals in the southern Amazon. Acta Amazonica 45.
- Simon, M. F., R. Grether, L. P. de Queiroz, C. Skema, R. T. Pennington, and C. E. Hughes. 2009. Recent assembly of the Cerrado, a neotropical plant diversity hotspot, by in situ evolution of adaptations to fire. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106:20359-20364.
- Snow, B. K., and D. W. Snow. 1971. The feeding ecology of tanagers and honeycreepers in Trinidad. The Auk 88:291-322.
- Snow, D. 1965. A possible selective factor in the evolution of fruiting seasons in tropical forest. Oikos:274-281.
- Spiesman, B. J., and B. D. Inouye. 2013. Habitat loss alters the architecture of plant– pollinator interaction networks. Ecology 94:2688-2696.
- Sutherland, E. F., and C. R. Dickman. 1999. Mechanisms of recovery after fire by rodents in the Australian environment: a review. Wildlife Research 26:405-419.

- Thébault, E., and C. Fontaine. 2010. Stability of ecological communities and the architecture of mutualistic and trophic networks. Science 329:853-856.
- Tylianakis, J. M., T. Tscharntke, and O. T. Lewis. 2007. Habitat modification alters the structure of tropical host–parasitoid food webs. Nature 445:202.
- Vaz Ferreira, A., E. M. Bruna, and H. L. Vasconcelos. 2011. Seed predators limit plant recruitment in Neotropical savannas. Oikos 120:1013-1022.
- Vieira, A. L. M., A. S. Pires, A. F. Nunes-Freitas, N. M. Oliveira, A. S. Resende, and E. F. C. Campello. 2014. Efficiency of small mammal trapping in an Atlantic Forest fragmented landscape: the effects of trap type and position, seasonality and habitat. Brazilian Journal of Biology 74.
- Vieira, E. M., and D. C. Briani. 2013. Short-term effects of fire on small rodents in the Brazilian Cerrado and their relation with feeding habits. International Journal of Wildland Fire 22:1063-1071.
- Vieira, E. M., M. A. Pizo, and P. Izar. 2003. Fruit and seed exploitation by small rodents of the Brazilian Atlantic forest. Page 533. Mammalia.
- White, J., K. Ryan, C. Key, and S. Running. 1996. Remote sensing of forest fire severity and vegetation recovery. International Journal of Wildland Fire 6:125-136.

Capítulo 1: Sampling design affects small mammal diversity estimates in a Neotropical savanna

#### Abstract

- To comprehend the mechanisms behind the observed patterns of species distributions, an accurate description of the biological community diversity is necessary. However, adequate measurement of species diversity may be challenging for organisms such as neotropical non-volant small mammals, which are a highly speciose group that responds differently to the available sampling methods.
- 2. We assessed an extensive literature on small mammal studies conducted in a neotropical savanna aiming to evaluate the effect of trapping protocols used on small mammal community parameters and to identify the most adequate sampling protocol for different macrohabitats (forest, savanna, and grassland).
- We compiled data on small mammal abundance and richness in the Cerrado from diverse sources and extracted information on sampling methods used: trap type, trap arrangement, sampling period, and trapping effort.
- 4. Using cage and pitfall traps simultaneously generated higher abundance and species richness estimates in all macrohabitats, reflecting a complementary effect of these two types of traps. For richness estimates, sampling periods that covered both seasons were more relevant in environments subject to major seasonal variations (savanna and grassland). Trap type and body mass interacted so that larger individuals were more frequently captured in cage traps and smaller individuals in pitfall traps. Trap effectiveness depended on the macrohabitat, with small Sherman traps capturing more species in savanna, while pitfall traps had higher success in forest.
- 5. Sampling methods used in small mammal communities affect the abundance and richness estimates of this group. Thus, to maximise sampling efficiency for future

studies, we suggest the use of pitfall traps combined with cage traps and sampling periods that account for seasonal variation of the region. Lastly, we recommend that the trap arrangement be aligned with the study goals, and that the kind, size, and shape of the study area should be considered.

Keywords: Cerrado, sampling protocol, rodent, marsupials, trap type.

# Introduction

The explanations for the observed patterns of occurrence and abundance of organisms on Earth remain pivotal questions in ecology (Gaston 2000; Tittensor et al. 2010). Understanding the mechanisms that produce these patterns depends on the identification and description of biological communities and their component species. Moreover, biodiversity measurements are essential, considering that ecosystem functioning is strongly related to species diversity (Isbell et al. 2014; Tilman et al. 2018). Nonetheless, the adequate measurement of species diversity is still a challenge for ecologists (Gotelli & Colwell 2011), specifically for neotropical non-volant small mammals, as species belonging to this highly speciose group (at least 204 species, comprising about 38% of the world richness for this group; Luza et al. (2019)) respond differently to the available sampling methods. For these species, the use of specific kinds of traps, baits, and trapping protocols can markedly influence the inferred diversity of a region (Lambert et al. 2005; Cáceres et al. 2011; Barros et al. 2015; Ardente et al. 2017; Bovendorp et al. 2017). The evaluation of the effects of distinct capture methods and sampling protocols on their estimated diversity can contribute to the elucidation of the processes that determine the patterns of occurrence and distribution of this group.

Because of its high richness and local abundance, small mammals constitute a highly relevant faunal component of the Cerrado, the greatest predominantly non-forested region of the Neotropics (Veblen et al. 2007). In this neotropical savanna, at least 118 species of rodents and marsupials occur (Paglia et al. 2012; Mendonça et al. 2018). The Cerrado is characterised by its high plant diversity and endemism, with > 10,000 plant species (Myers et al. 2000) that are distributed along distinct phytophysiognomies. These phytophysiognomies include grasslands, typical savanna environments (e.g. cerrado *sensu stricto*), and forest formations (Eiten 1972). This vegetal heterogeneity results in high diversity in the Cerrado, which is considered to be the most diverse (Klink & Machado 2005) and is probably the most threatened tropical savanna in the world (Myers et al. 2000; Strassburg et al. 2017).

Several distinct sampling methods have been used in small mammal studies in various Cerrado phytophysiognomies. The most commonly used traps are live-traps (i.e. cages; mainly Sherman® traps, Tomahawk®, and other wire-mesh cage traps), in which the animals are attracted by baits, and pitfalls (buckets buried into the ground), in which the animals are passively caught, generally being directed by drift fences (Martins et al. 2006; Carmignotto et al. 2014; Camargo et al. 2018; Ribeiro et al. 2019). Traps are generally placed in the field and are equally spaced, forming linear transects or rectangular grids. Each of these configurations has its advantages and drawbacks, and the best choice for estimating abundance and diversity is still a source of debate, with studies that compared them providing conflicting results (Steele et al. 1984; Read et al. 1988; Bujalska 1989; Pearson & Ruggiero 2003).

The possible effects of trapping protocols (e.g. trap type, trap configuration) on community metrics of neotropical small mammals have already been investigated in forested environments, such as the Amazon (Santos-Filho et al. 2015; Palmeirim et al. 2019) and Atlantic forests (Barros et al. 2014; Vieira et al. 2015; Bovendorp et al. 2017). Nonetheless,

these effects cannot be assumed to be the same for non-forested neotropical formations, such as the Cerrado. This neotropical savanna, in comparison to forested biomes, presents striking differences in species composition (Paglia et al. 2012), prevalence of non-forested formations (i.e. grasslands and typical savanna formations), and also a higher climatic seasonality (Eiten 1972). All these factors may affect trap efficiency and interact with each other in their effects on small mammal assemblages. For example, high between-season variation in resource availability in open cerrado formations (Ferreira & Huete 2004) might cause seasonal changes in the attractivity and efficiency of baited cage traps but not in the efficiency of passive pitfall traps.

Despite the potential relevance of all these methodological issues (i.e. trap configuration, trap type, and sampling effort) on the assessment of small mammal richness and abundance in the Cerrado, comprehensive studies on such subjects are nonexistent. The few available studies are restricted to only one habitat type (Cáceres et al. 2011) or are limited because of the small size of pitfall traps used for comparison (i.e. 30-1 buckets; (Lyra-Jorge & Pivello 2001; Santos-Filho et al. 2008)).

In the present study, we conducted an extensive literature survey on small mammal studies conducted in the Cerrado aiming to achieve the following objectives: (1) to evaluate the effect of trapping protocols used (i.e. trap configuration, seasonal sampling, trap type, sampling effort) on the estimates of small mammal richness and abundance, and (2) to identify the most adequate sampling protocol for each of the three main Cerrado phytophysiognomies. Considering that the use of linear transects might maximise the number of individuals' home range covered by traps and potentially allow the capture of more animals, we expected higher observed abundance and richness with this trapping configuration in comparison to rectangular grids (Pearson & Ruggiero 2003). In relation to season and cerrado physiognomies, considering that forested habitats are potentially less

affected by seasonal climatic variation (Ferreira & Huete 2004), we expected sampling in only one season to be more effective in forested than in non-forested environments (i.e. grasslands and typical savanna environments) in the Cerrado. In relation to trap types used because of the specific characteristics of cages and pitfalls, we expected that the combination of both types would generate higher estimates of richness than when using only one of them. Moreover, since only cages allow arboreal captures, we expected the combined use of both cages and pitfalls to be more important in forested habitats than in non-forested habitats. We also expected the differences between trap types in their capturability of small mammal species to be related to the size of the animals (Hice & Schmidly 2002; Nicolas & Colyn 2006; Hice & Velazco 2013; Santos-Filho et al. 2015).

# Material and methods

#### Study sites

The Cerrado is a neotropical savanna that covers > 2 million square kilometres in South America, with most of its distribution located in Brazilian territory (Klink & Machado 2005) (Fig. 1). This phytogeographic domain is characterised by a mosaic of distinct plant formations. These formations include open areas, dominated by a grassy stratum with few or no shrubs and trees at all; typical savanna environments, characterised by a gramineous layer with sparse shrubs and trees; and forest environments, which are dominated by tree species forming a canopy layer (Ribeiro & Walter 1998). Notwithstanding its high species diversity and endemism rate (Myers et al. 2000), the conservation of the Cerrado is currently a great challenge. At present, approximately 46% of its original plant cover has already been destroyed (Strassburg et al. 2017), and <8% if its total remaining area is legally protected (Oliveira et al. 2017). The climate of the Cerrado is classified as AW type (tropical savanna-wet summer) (Köppen 1948) with a mean annual temperature ranging from 20°C to 26°C (Eiten 1972). The mean annual rainfall ranges from 750 mm in the driest parts of the Cerrado to up to 2,000 mm in the wettest areas. There are two well-defined seasons, a dry season from May to September and a rainy season between October and April, when ~90% of the annual precipitation occurs (Eiten 1972).



Figure 1. Study sites where small mammal communities were sampled in the three main macrohabitat types of the Cerrado.

#### Dataset

For our analysis, we consulted a detailed dataset based on an intensive literature review of studies with rodents and marsupials in the Cerrado published by Mendonça et al. 2018. This is the largest available dataset on the distribution of small mammals in the Cerrado. It contains data on richness and abundance of small mammals from 96 studies (446 sites) conducted across the entire Cerrado region, including trapping methods used and vegetation types sampled. This dataset resulted in 24,283 individual records, including 29 marsupials and 87 rodents. This dataset was based on both published and unpublished material (i.e. dissertations, theses, and datasets provided by researchers). The search was performed in English, Portuguese, and Spanish with the following keywords: small mammal(s), rodents, marsupials, survey(s), inventory(ies), community(ies), assemblage(s), and Cerrado in online academic databases (e.g. ISI Web of Knowledge, Google Scholar, Scielo, Scopus, JStore), digital libraries of State and Federal Brazilian universities, references cited in literature, and email contacts with local experts. It contains data on richness and abundance of small mammals from 96 studies (446 sites) conducted across the entire Cerrado region, including trapping methods used and vegetation types sampled. This dataset resulted in 24,283 individual records, including 29 marsupials and 87 rodents.

From this dataset, we gathered data on small mammal richness and abundance obtained in 14 phytophisiognomic types of the Cerrado. We grouped these sites according to three main macrohabitat categories following Ribeiro and Walter (1998) (Fig. 1). Then, acoording to the dominant vegetational strata, we considered for this study: grasslands (wet grassland, open grassland, shrubby grassland, rocky grassland, 'murundu' [i.e., mound] fields), typical savanna vegetation (open savanna, rocky savanna, typical savanna, dense woodland), and forests (seasonal forest, semideciduous seasonal forest, gallery forest, riverine forest, savanna woodland forest). From these studies, we also extracted information on

location, sampling effort, trap type, trap design, and sampling period (climatic season) when available.

# Evaluation of Trapping Methods

To identify which methodology generates higher estimates of small mammal abundance and richness, we selected four methodological aspects (predictor variables) in studies conducted in the Cerrado: trap configuration (design), trap type (method), number of seasons covered by the study period (season), and sampling effort (Appendix S1). For analysis, we considered only the methodologies applied in at least 20 sites (i.e. methodologies used in 20 or more small mammal communities sampled independently). For the design variable, we considered the following categories: 1) grid, in which the traps were arranged in rectangular transects of  $n \times n$ , usually at equally spaced capture stations; and 2) linear, in which traps were arranged in linear transections, usually at equally spaced capture stations. We categorised the trap type used (method) as: 1) cage, which included sites where only cage traps such as Tomahawk®, Sherman®, and Young® were used and 2) cage and pitfall, which included sites sampled with both cage and pitfall traps. The category 'pitfall traps' was not considered in the analysis because of the low number of sites sampled exclusively with pitfall traps. For the predictor variable (season), we separated sites into 1) 'one', when sampling occurred during one climatic season (dry or wet) or 2) 'both', when the study covered both seasons (dry and wet). As it is expected that the number of species sampled will increase with the capture effort employed, for the analysis of richness, we considered a variable effort to control this factor. We calculated effort by multiplying the number of traps used in each sampling period by the number of days in which sampling occurred.

### Comparison between trap types

Comparisons between trap types in terms of trapping success and species capturability are generally hindered by between-studies differences in terms of local habitat structure and resource availability and also in specific environmental conditions during the trapping period (e.g. moon phase, rain occurrence). Specifically, for our dataset, the low number of studies with pitfall traps and the lack of detailed information regarding trapping success and species captured by different trap types was an additional issue. To avoid these drawbacks, we compared richness estimates provided by distinct trap types and their capture rates based on data obtained from a single large study included in our dataset. This study (hereafter referred to as the restricted dataset) was conducted in three distinct geographic areas and comprised 39 sampled sites (Ribeiro, 2016). These sites covered the main vegetation types occurring in the Cerrado: grasslands (dry and wet grasslands, 6 sites), typical savanna vegetation (cerrado *sensu stricto* and rocky cerrado, 21 sites), and forests (gallery forests, 12 sites). All these sites were sampled with the simultaneous use of pitfalls and cage traps. For all the comparisons between trap types using this restricted dataset, we considered all species combined because sample size was not adequate for analysing rodents and marsupials separately.

The study that was used for comparison of trap types (restricted dataset) was conducted by the same research laboratory as the present study, and we had obtained detailed information on trapping procedures for all sites. In each of these sites, a trapping plot composed of four types of traps was placed, covering an area of approximately 12 ha. These plots included two linear transects of eight pitfall traps each (60 L plastic buckets placed 5 m from each other with 50 cm tall plastic drift fence interconnecting them) and one linear transect with three kinds of cage traps: five wire mesh cages (wire-mesh traps;  $16 \times 16 \times 45$  cm with 1 cm gap between wires), 25 small Sherman® traps ( $9 \times 9.5 \times 23$  cm), and five large Sherman® traps ( $11 \times 12.5 \times 37$  cm). All cage traps were baited with a mixture of mashed banana, cod liver oil, corn meal, peanut butter, and vanilla essence. Each site was sampled for

two years (2012–2013), with one trapping session (each one consisting of 8 days of capture) in each season (wet and dry), resulting in four trapping sessions per site. In each trapping season, all trap types were set simultaneously. We considered each trapping plot to be independent, with the distance between transects within each area ranging from 300 to 1000 m. The details of this methodology are also discussed in another study (Ribeiro et al. 2019). The overall trapping effort was 54,008 trap-days, including 10,048 trap-days for pitfalls, 31,400 trap-days for small Shermans, 6,280 trap-days for large Shermans, and 6,280 trap-days for wire mesh cages.

#### Data analysis

## Overall dataset

To evaluate the effects of sampling design on small mammal captures across the entire dataset, we used the total abundance and species richness of each assemblage as dependent variables. We corrected the overall site abundance by dividing the total number of individuals captured by total trapping effort (i.e. number of traps  $\times$  number of sampling days), obtaining a measure of catch per unit effort (Lambert et al. 2005; Santos-Filho et al. 2015; Bovendorp et al. 2017). Our predictor variables were all related to the methods used for small mammal sampling in the Cerrado and included trap configuration (linear transect or rectangular grid), trap type (cage trap [of any kind] or cage trap + pitfall), number of seasons covered by the study period (one [wet or dry] or both seasons), and total trapping effort. We used *z*-transformed values of total trapping effort for dealing with differences in scale between trapping effort (up to 19,200 trap-days) and species richness (up to 18 species).

To evaluate the performance of different sampling protocols in distinct plant formations from the Cerrado, we assigned each phytophysiognomy to one of the three macrohabitat categories considered (grasslands, savannas, and forests). We excluded from the analysis data from human-disturbed areas or from under-represented phytophysiognomies (<

20 sites in the dataset). Considering that the effectiveness of sampling methods may vary according to the taxonomic group (Moura et al. 2008; Vieira et al. 2014), we created independent models for rodents and marsupials and also for both groups combined. For marsupials only, we did not create models for the 'grasslands' because their number of captures was insufficient. Thus, only rodents and rodents+marsupials were evaluated for this macrohabitat type. Therefore, for each of the two metrics considered (abundance/effort and species richness) we created eight models, three for 'forests' (rodents, marsupials, and rodents+marsupials), three for 'savannas' (rodents, marsupials, and rodents+marsupials), three for 'savannas' (rodents, marsupials, and rodents+marsupials). The models for abundance as the response variable included the three variables related to sampling protocols: design, method, and season. In addition to these three variables, we also included the variable 'total effort' for the response variable 'richness'.

To evaluate the effects of these sampling protocols on the community metrics of small mammals, we used generalised linear models (GLMs). These models were adjusted using a Poisson error structure (log link) for richness and gamma (inverse link) for abundance (corrected for effort). We considered the effect of the predictor variables as significant when the 95% confidence intervals of their estimated coefficients did not contain zero. Prior to the analysis, we verified our dataset for the occurrence of outliers, collinearity of the predictor variables, variance homogeneity, and spatial autocorrelation. We identified outliers in small mammal abundance data, which were excluded before analysis. This removal was possible because our dataset was robust and no relevant reduction in the number of samples was observed. We used the variance inflation factor (VIF) to verify the potential correlation between predictor variables, and considered values of VIF < 3 as evidence of absence of collinearity (Zuur et al. 2010). All VIF values we found were below this limit; therefore, our predictor variables were assumed to be uncorrelated with each other. We also observed that

our data did not violate the assumption of homogeneity of variances. To verify the occurrence of spatial autocorrelation, we applied Moran's correlogram to the model residuals. For the models that showed evidence of spatial autocorrelation, we explicitly considered the spatial structure of the data, adding to the model spatial predictor variables generated by Moran's eigenvector maps (MEM) (Dray Stéphane et al. 2006; Legendre & Legendre 2012). No spatial autocorrelation was detected after the application of MEM. All overall dataset analyses were performed using R software (Team 2009). For modelling, we used the car package (Fox & Weisberg 2019) and for MEM analyses, we used adespatial v.0.3-7 (Dray et al. 2019) and spdep (Bivand et al. 2015) packages.

#### Restricted dataset

For a specific comparison of trap types across the 39 sites with simultaneous use of different trap types (restricted dataset), we compared overall richness estimates (rodents and marsupials combined) generated by distinct trap types. This comparison was performed by creating sampled-based rarefaction and extrapolation curves (Colwell et al., 2012). We generated these curves independently for each macrohabitat category, using the default options of EstimateS version 9.1.0 (Colwell 2013). We considered each trapping campaign as a sample and extrapolated richness estimates for each trap type up to two times the original sample size. We generated these curves for savannas and forests but not for grasslands because of the limited number of samples with at least one capture for this latter macrohabitat type (<20 samples; Gotelli and Colwell 2011). We considered curves with non-overlapping 95% confidence intervals to be significantly different (Colwell et al., 2012).

Using generalised linear mixed models (GLMM), we also tested the effect of plant formation (grasslands, savannas, and forests) and trap type (pitfall, small Sherman®, large Sherman®, and wire mesh cage) on capture success (i.e. total number of individuals captured

per total effort for each species), including species as a random factor. Considering that trap effectiveness is affected by individual body mass (Lyra-Jorge & Pivello 2001; Hice & Velazco 2013; Santos-Filho et al. 2015), we also considered the ln-transformed body mass as a factor (26 species, body mass range: 9 - 604 g; Appendix S2). We used mean values of body mass for each species based on individuals (both juveniles and adults) captured during the fieldwork of the source study. These analyses were performed using the R package nlme (Pinheiro et al. 2020).

### Results

# Overall dataset

Of the 96 studies (446 sites) compiled in our overall dataset, we did not include six studies in the analyses due to the presence of outliers, sampling effort not informed, or only human-disturbed sites sampled. Thus, our final dataset comprised information from 336 sites for small mammal richness (forest: 150; savanna: 115; grassland: 71) and 326 sites for abundance/effort (outliers removed) (forest: 149; savanna: 107; grassland: 70). In total, 113 small mammal species were recorded (29 marsupials and 84 rodents) belonging to 49 genera. Studies that used only cage traps employed a sampling mean effort of 1,950 trap-nights (range: 60 to 19,200), while studies that used cage and pitfall traps simultaneously employed a sampling mean effort of 1,581 trap-nights (range: 48 to 13,860).

The models that evaluated the effect of trap arrangement, trap type, and number of sampling seasons on abundance estimates indicated that small mammal estimates (rodents and marsupials combined) were higher when cage and pitfall traps were used simultaneously in comparison to the use of cage traps only (Fig. 2, Appendix S3). This pattern applied for the three macrohabitats and for the two groups of small mammals when analysed separately. Samples that covered both seasons generated significantly higher estimates in the grassland

and forest macrohabitats (but not in the savannah) for both small mammals combined and for rodents only. When marsupials were analysed separately, however, there was a significant effect of the number of sampling seasons only for the savannah macrohabitat. The evaluated macrohabitats, however, did not differ significantly in abundance estimates when considering distinct trap arrangements (Fig. 2, Appendix S3).



Figure 2. Estimates ( $\beta$ ) and confidence interval (95%) for the distinct methodologies used in small mammal sampling in the Cerrado for abundance corrected for effort. Results are presented for marsupials and rodents analysed together (a, b, and c), for rodents (d, e, and f),

and for marsupials (g and h) in the main vegetation types of the Cerrado (due to low number of marsupials sampled in grasslands, this vegetation was not included in the models for this group).  $\beta$  values represent the difference in estimates in relation to the intercept (see Table 2 for intercept values), which includes predictor variable levels not shown (i.e., both seasons, only cage, and grid arrangement). Confidence intervals that do not touch zero indicate a significant effect (closed circles), while confidence intervals that touch zero indicate no effect (open circles).

The evaluation of the potential effects of methodological factors on richness estimates indicated that the combined use of cage and pitfall traps positively affected small mammal richness in all the cerrado macrohabitats (Fig. 3, Appendix S4). For each group analysed separately, however, we did not detect any significant effect for rodents, and a positive effect of using both trap types on marsupial richness occurred only in forest environments. The richness estimates of both groups were significantly lower in the savanna macrohabitat when sampling occurred in only one season. For the other macrohabitats, however, no effect of the sampling period was detected. Moreover, we did not observe any effect of trap arrangement on species richness estimates in any of the macrohabitats. These estimates were significantly affected by sampling effort, with a positive effect on small mammals (both groups combined) in forest and savanna macrohabitats. When each group of small mammals was analysed separately, this effect was observed to have occurred only for forest environments (Fig. 3, Appendix S4).


Figure 3. Estimates ( $\beta$ ) and confidence interval (95%) for the distinct methodologies used in small mammal sampling in the Cerrado for species richness. Results are presented for marsupials and rodents analysed together (a, b, and c), for rodents (d, e, and f), and for marsupials (g and h) in the main vegetation types of the Cerrado (due to low number of marsupials sampled in grasslands, this vegetation was not included in the models for this group).  $\beta$  values represent the difference in estimates in relation to the intercept (see Table 3 for intercept values), which includes predictor variable levels not shown (i.e., both seasons, only cage, and grid arrangement). Confidence intervals that do not touch zero indicate a

significant effect (closed circles), while confidence intervals that touch zero indicate no effect (open circles).

# Restricted dataset

We evaluated the effects of trap type, macrohabitat, and body mass on capture rates by using mixed models, and the results indicated that capture rates are affected by macrohabitat type and by the interaction between trap type and body mass (Appendix S5). Thus, the effectiveness of distinct trap types was affected by body size, with smaller species being more captured by pitfall traps, whereas larger species being better captured by large Shermans and wire mesh cages (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Relationships between small mammal body mass and trapping success (number of individuals captured per trap expressed as a percentage) in three macrohabitat types (top row: grasslands, middle row: savannas, and bottom row: forests) with four trap types (from left to

right columns: pitfall, small Sherman®, large Sherman®, and wire mesh cage). Small vertical bars on the x-axis indicate body mass of each species. See Appendix S2 for complete list of species and body mass values. Statistical results are indicated in Table 1.

To evaluate the effect of trap types on richness estimates in areas with simultaneous use of four types of traps, we generated species accumulation curves as a function of the number of samples (but plotted against number of individuals) for each trap type. We performed these analyses for the two macrohabitats with a sufficient sample size (i.e. savanna and forests), and contrasting patterns were detected. For the savannas, small Shermans provided significantly higher estimates than pitfall traps, whereas for the forests, the highest richness estimate was observed for pitfall traps, but with no significant differences among trap types (Fig. 5).



Figure 5. Patterns of species richness (sample-based rarefaction and extrapolation) for four trap types used simultaneously in 33 cerrado sites in two macrohabitat types: a) savannas and b) forests. Circles indicate the observed total number of species for each trap type. The x-axis was rescaled for number of individuals.

# Discussion

Our results indicated that the type of trap (but not its disposition in the field), the combination of different types of traps, and the number of seasons covered by the sampling period affect the measurements of diversity of small mammal communities. This effect differed among the main macrohabitats of the Cerrado (grasslands, savannas, and forests). We also observed that the capture success of small mammals was influenced by the macrohabitat type and by the interaction between trap type and individual body mass. Sherman traps potentially capture more species in savanna macrohabitats while no significant differences between cage traps (Sherman and wire mesh cages) and pitfall traps were observed in forest macrohabitats.

As expected, the use of different trap types performed better than the use of a single trap type. The highest estimates of abundance and species richness achieved when cage and pitfall traps were used simultaneously may reflect a complementarity effect resulting from different capture patterns associated with each trap type. First, traps can differ with respect to the size of the captured individuals. Our results for the restricted dataset reveal that the trapping success of larger individuals is greater with cage traps, while smaller individuals are captured more frequently in pitfall traps. This has also been observed in other studies in savanna and rainforest environments (Dizney et al. 2008; Cáceres et al. 2011; Santos-Filho et al. 2015). Second, cage traps are frequently installed in the undergrowth and canopy, allowing the capture of species with arboreal habits that would hardly ever be captured by pitfall traps.

(but see Umetsu et al. 2006). Third, some species of small mammals avoid entering cage trap types (Hammond & Anthony 2006), so they are more likely to be captured in pitfall traps. Thus, it is not unusual for small mammal species to exhibit specificity for a particular type of trap, that is, they are captured exclusively in one trap type (Lambert et al. 2005; Nicolas & Colyn 2006; Umetsu et al. 2006; Ardente et al. 2017; Palmeirim et al. 2019).

Our results indicated that the arrangement of traps (grid or linear) does not affect the estimates of abundance and richness of small mammals in the Cerrado, regardless of the macrohabitat. Therefore, we suggest that the arrangement of the traps should be adjusted to the objective of each study. Grids can be a more interesting option when the aim of the study is to evaluate population aspects such as home range and population density, since these parameters depend on area measurements. On the other hand, linear transections can cross more microhabitats and the home range of more individuals (Pearson & Ruggiero 2003), enabling the capture of species associated with different microhabitats and more individuals, being more suitable for studies whose objective involves community diversity. Another factor that should be considered is the kind, size, and shape of the study area. In the Cerrado, one of the most common forested environments is the gallery forest, which is a naturally narrow forest strip (generally up to 80 m wide) that surrounds water courses (Ribeiro & Walter 1998). This kind of habitat configuration may not allow the establishment of a trapping grid with appropriate trap spacing and the size of the covered area. In such a case, a linear transect is probably the most viable option.

In relation to the sampling period, our analyses suggest that the estimated abundance is higher when trapping occurs in both seasons (i.e. dry and wet seasons). This pattern was observed for all macrohabitats. Small mammal populations may experience seasonal fluctuations, and it is common to observe population increases during the wet season (O'Connell, 1989; Bergallo H., 1994; Mares & Ernest, 1995; Carmignotto et al., 2014). In

general, this pattern is related to the greater availability of food resources (i.e. fruits and arthropods) that accompany the period of the year with the highest rainfall (Bergallo & Magnusson 1999; Gentile et al. 2012). However, some rodent and marsupial species can also show population peaks during drier months (O'Connell 1989). Therefore, it is reasonable to expect that small mammal community sampling carried out over very short periods and that do not include seasonal variation in the region of interest may generate underestimated abundance values.

For species richness, however, there was a tendency for the number of seasons sampled to be less important in forest environments when compared to savanna and grassland environments. In the Cerrado, forest environments tend to be more stable over the climatic seasons than open vegetation types (Ferreira & Huete 2004). Forest fruit production, for example, is more evenly distributed throughout the year, while savanna environments show peak production in the rainy months (Maruyama et al. 2019). Hence, small mammal species inhabiting forest environments may experience less variation in resources over the year, with communities being less affected by seasonality in this habitat type.

The smaller of the small mammals in the Cerrado are more often captured in pitfall traps, whereas larger species have a higher capture rate in Sherman and wire mesh cages. To capture animals, cage traps depend on a force being exerted on a platform for the trap to be triggered. Therefore, larger individuals are more often caught in this type of trap than very light individuals (e.g. young, very small species) (Umetsu et al. 2006), as they may not exert the force necessary to trigger the mechanism of these traps. Pitfall traps, on the other hand, are independent of this type of mechanism and are able to capture smaller individuals more frequently (Hice & Schmidly 2001; Lyra-Jorge & Pivello 2002). However, when it comes to larger individuals, the capture success may be reduced, since these animals are probably able to escape from the buckets used as pitfall traps (Hice & Schmidly 2002).

The results of the restricted dataset indicated that Sherman traps potentially capture more species than pitfall traps in savanna macrohabitats. This pattern had not been reported previously in neotropical environments and may be related to bait attractivity and also the relatively similar efficiency of the Sherman traps for capturing different-sized species in cerrado savannas. On the other hand, in forest macrohabitats, pitfall traps performed better (but not significantly) than cage traps. We detected that pitfall traps were also effective in capturing arboreal species in cerrado forests as reported for other forested areas (Umetsu et al. 2006; Palmeirim et al. 2019). Our results, however, are not in total agreement with those observed for small mammal sampling carried out in rainforests, which indicate higher richness for pitfalls in comparison to cage traps (Lima et al. 2010; Barros et al. 2015; Bovendorp et al. 2017).

# Conclusion

We present the first large study, in terms of spatial scale and volume of data, to assess the influence of methodology on the estimates of abundance and richness of small mammals, a highly speciose group, in a neotropical savanna. We were able not only to compare the efficiency of the different methodologies between each other, but also between the Cerrado macrohabitats and between different groups of small mammals. We demonstrate that the method used in small mammal community sampling affects the abundance and richness estimates of this group. For all Cerrado macrohabitats analysed, small mammal estimates were higher when cage and pitfall traps were used together, and sampling both climatic seasons was more efficient, especially in savanna and grassland formations. We detected a bias in the size of individuals caught by each trap type, with larger animals captured by pitfall traps and smaller animals by cage traps. We also observed that, in savanna environments, regular Sherman traps are more efficient in capturing a greater number of species than pitfall traps.

Based on our findings, we propose a simple small mammal sampling protocol to be used as a guide for future studies to maximise sampling efficiency. Regarding the trap type utilised, we suggest the use of pitfall traps combined with cage traps such as Sherman and wire mesh cages for all macrohabitats. In this way, the best possible representation of the community is obtained, capturing larger and smaller species, young and adult individuals, and animals that avoid entering cage traps. We also recommend conducting sampling that accounts for seasonal variation of the region, especially in environments that experience marked changes throughout the year (e.g., open vegetation formations), which may affect the composition and structure of small mammal communities. Finally, we endorse that the arrangement of the traps should be aligned with the study goals and that the kind, size and shape of the study area should be considered. In open areas from Cerrado, for example, the use of pitfall traps is not always possible, because some grassland areas are associated to rocky soils or else subject to seasonal flooding (Oliveira-Filho & Ratter 2002). In relation to trap arrangement, in some situations a square grid may not be applicable, as in the narrow gallery forests. In such cases, arranging traps in linear transections may be the best option.

# References

- Ardente NC, Ferreguetti AC, Gettinger D, Leal P, Martins-Hatano F, Bergallo HG (2017) Differencial efficiency of two sampling methods in capturing non-volant small mammals in an area in eastern Amazonia. *Acta Amazonica* 47: 123-132.
- Barros CS, Püttker T, Pinotti BT, Pardini R (2015) Determinants of capture-recapture success: an evaluation of trapping methods to estimate population and community parameters for Atlantic forest small mammals. *Zoologia* 32: 334-344.
- Bergallo HdG (1994) Ecology of a small mammal community in an Atlantic forest area in southeastern Brazil. *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment* 29: 197-217.
- Bergallo HG, Magnusson WE (1999) Effects of climate and food availability on four rodent species in southeastern Brazil. *Journal of Mammalogy* 80: 472-486.
- Bivand R, Altman M, Anselin L, Assunção R, Berke O, Bernat A, Blanchet G. (2015) Package 'spdep'. R package version 1.1-5.
- Bovendorp RS, MCCleery RA, Galetti M (2017) Optimising sampling methods for small mammal communities in Neotropical rainforests. *Mammal review* 47: 148-158.
- Bujalska G (1989) Trap line and trap grid as methods of estimation of population parameters in the bank vole inhabiting Crabapple Island. *Acta Theriologica* 34.
- Cáceres N, Nápoli R, Hannibal W (2011) Differential trapping success for small mammals using pitfall and standard cage traps in a woodland savannah region of southwestern Brazil. *Mammalia* 75: 45-52.
- Camargo ACL, Barrio ROL, Camargo NF, Mendonça AF, Ribeiro JF, Rodrigues CMF, Vieira EM (2018) Fire affects the occurrence of small mammals at distinct spatial scales in a Neotropical savanna. *European journal of wildlife research* 64: 63-74.

- Carmignotto AP, Bezerra AMR, Rodrigues FHG (2014) Nonvolant small mammals from a southwestern area of Brazilian Cerrado: diversity, habitat use, seasonality, and biogeography. *Therya* 5: 535-558.
- Colwell RK (2013) EstimateS: Statistical Estimation of Species Richness and Shared Species From Samples. User's Guide and Application. Available online at: http://purl.oclc.org/estimates
- Dizney L, Jones PD, Ruedas LA (2008) Efficacy of three types of live traps used for surveying small mammals in the Pacific Northwest. Northwestern Naturalist 89: 171-181.
- Dray S, Bauman D, Blanchet G, Borcard D, Clappe S, Guenard G et al. (2019) Package 'adespatial: multivariate multiscale spatial analysis.' R package version 0.3-7.
- Dray S, Legendre P, Peres-Neto PR (2006) Spatial modelling: a comprehensive framework for principal coordinate analysis of neighbour matrices (PCNM). *Ecological Modelling* 196: 483-493.

Eiten G (1972) The Cerrado vegetation of Brazil. The Botanical Review 38: 201-341.

- Ferreira LG, Huete AR (2004) Assessing the seasonal dynamics of the Brazilian Cerrado vegetation through the use of spectral vegetation indices. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 25: 1837-1860.
- Fox J, Weisberg S (2019) An {R} Companion to Applied Regression, Third. Sage, Thousand Oaks CA.
- Gaston KJ (2000) Global Patterns in Biodiversity. Nature 405: 220-227.
- Gentile R, Teixeira BR, Bergallo HG (2012) Dinâmica populacional de marsupiais brasileiros. In: Cáceres NC (ed) Os marsupiais do Brasil: Biologia, ecologia e conservação, 311-326. UFMS, Campo Grande.

- Gotelli NJ, Colwell RK (2011) Estimating species richness. In: Magurran AE, McGill BJ (eds) *Biological diversity : frontiers in measurement and assessment*, 39-54. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Hammond EL, Anthony RG (2006) Mark-recapture estimates of population parameters for selected species of small mammals. *Journal of Mammalogy* 87: 618-627.
- Hice CL, Schmidly DJ (2002) The effectiveness of pitfall traps for sampling small mammals in the Amazon basin. *Mastozoología Neotropical* 9: 85-89.
- Hice CL, Velazco PM (2013) Relative effectiveness of several bait and trap types for assessing terrestrial small mammal communities in Neotropical rainforest. Occasional Papers, Museum of Texas Tech University 316: 1-15.
- Isbell F, Cowles J, Dee LE, Loreau M, Reich PB, Gonzalez A, Hector A, Schmid B (2018) Quantifying effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning across times and places. *Ecology Letters* 21: 763-778.
- Klink CA, Machado RB (2005) Conservation of the Brazilian cerrado. *Conservation biology* 19: 707-713.
- Köppen W (1948) Climatologia: con un estudio de los climas de la tierra. Fondo Cultura Económica, Mexico City, Mexico.
- Lambert TD, Malcolm JR, Zimmerman BL (2005) Variation in small mammal species richness by trap height and trap type in southeastern Amazonia. *Journal of Mammalogy* 86: 982-990.

Legendre P, Legendre LFJ (2012) Numerical Ecology, 3rd ed. Elsevier, Oxford, UK.

Lima DO, Azambuja BO, Camilotti VL, Cáceres NC (2010) Small mammal community structure and microhabitat use in the austral boundary of the Atlantic Forest, Brazil. *Zoologia (Curitiba)* 27: 99-105.

- Luza AL, Graham CH, Hartz SM (2019) A global database on non-volant small mammal composition in natural and human-modified habitats. *Data in brief* 23: 103842.
- Lyra-Jorge MC, Pivello VR (2001) Combining live trap and pitfall to survey terrestrial small mammals in savanna and forest habitats, in Brazil. *Mammalia* 65: 524-530.
- Mares MA, Ernest KA (1995) Population and community ecology of small mammals in a gallery forest of central Brazil. *Journal of Mammalogy* 76: 750-768.
- Martins EG, Bonato V, Da-Silva CQ, Reis SF (2006) Seasonality in reproduction, age structure and density of the gracile mouse opossum *Gracilinanus microtarsus* (Marsupialia: Didelphidae) in a Brazilian cerrado. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 22: 461-468.
- Maruyama PK, Melo C, Pascoal C, Vicente E, Cardoso JCF, Brito VLG, Oliveira PE (2019) What is on the menu for frugivorous birds in the Cerrado? Fruiting phenology and nutritional traits highlight the importance of habitat complementarity. *Acta Botanica Brasilica* 33: 572-583.
- Mendonça A, Percequillo AR, Camargo NF, Ribeiro JF, Palma ART, Oliveira LC, Câmara EMVC, Vieira EM (2018) Cerrado small mammals: abundance and distribution of marsupials, lagomorphs, and rodents in a Neotropical savanna. *Ecology* 99: 1-56.
- Miranda AC, Miranda HS, Dias IdFO, Dias BFdS (1993) Soil and air temperatures during prescribed Cerrado fires in central Brazil. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 9: 313-320.
- Moura MC, Grelle CEV, Bergallo HG (2008) How does sampling protocol affect the richness and abundance of small mammals recorded in tropical forest? An example from the Atlantic Forest, Brazil. *Neotropical Biology and Conservation* 3: 51-58.
- Myers N, Mittermeier RA, Mittermeier CG, Da Fonseca GAB, Kent J (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature* 403: 853.

- Nicolas V, Colyn M (2006) Relative efficiency of three types of small mammal traps in an African rainforest. *Belgian Journal of Zoology* 136: 107-111.
- O'Connell MA (1989) Population dynamics of Neotropical small mammals in seasonal habitats. *Journal of Mammalogy* 70: 532-548.
- Oliveira U, Soares-Filho BS, Paglia AP, Brescovit AD, De Carvalho CJB, Silva DP, Rezende DT, Leite FSF, Batista JAN, Barbosa JPPP (2017) Biodiversity conservation gaps in the Brazilian protected areas. *Scientific reports* 7: 9141.
- Oliveira-Filho AT, Ratter JA (2002) Vegetation physiognomies and woody flora of the Cerrado biome. In: Oliveira PS, Marquis RJ (eds) *The Cerrados of Brazil: ecology and natural history of a neotropical Savanna*, 91–120. Columbia University Press, New York.
- Paglia AP, Fonseca GAB, Rylands AB, Herrmann G, Aguiar LMS, Chiarello AG et al. (2012) Annotated Checklist of Brazilian Mammals. Occasional Papers in Conservation Biology 6: 1-76.
- Palmeirim AF, Benchimol M, Peres CA, Vieira MV (2019) Moving forward on the sampling efficiency of neotropical small mammals: insights from pitfall and camera trapping over traditional live trapping. *Mammal Research* 64: 1-10.
- Pearson DE, Ruggiero LF (2003) Transect versus grid trapping arrangements for sampling small-mammal communities. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 31: 454-459.
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, Team RC (2020) nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models R package version 3.1-148.
- Read VT, Malafant KWJ, Myers K (1988) A comparison of grid and index-line trapping methods for small mammal surveys. *Wildlife Research* 15: 673-687.

- Ribeiro JF, Guaraldo A, Nardoto GB, Santoro G, Vieira EM (2019) Habitat type and seasonality influence the isotopic trophic niche of small mammals in a neotropical savanna. *Hystrix, the Italian Journal of Mammalogy* 30: 30-38.
- Ribeiro JF, Walter BMT (1998) Fitofisionomias do bioma cerrado. . In: Sano SM, Almeida SP (eds) *Cerrado: Ambiente e Flora.*, 89-166. Embrapa CPAC, Planaltina.
- Santos-Filho M, da Silva DJ, Sanaiotti TM (2008) Edge effects and landscape matrix use by a small mammal community in fragments of semideciduous submontane forest in Mato Grosso, Brazil. *Brazilian Journal of Biology* 68: 703-710.
- Santos-Filho M, Lázari PR, Sousa CPF, Canale GR (2015) Trap efficiency evaluation for small mammals in the southern Amazon. *Acta Amazonica* 45: 187-194.
- Steele BB, Bayn RL, Val Grant C (1984) Environmental monitoring using populations of birds and small mammals: Analyses of sampling effort. *Biological Conservation* 30: 157-172.
- Strassburg BBN, Brooks T, Feltran-Barbieri R, Iribarrem A, Crouzeilles R, Loyola R, Latawiec AE, Oliveira-Filho FJB, Scaramuzza CAM, Scarano FR (2017) Moment of truth for the Cerrado hotspot. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 1: 0099.
- Team RDC (2009) R: A language and environment for statistical computing, Viena, Austria.
- Tilman D, Isbell F, Cowles JM (2014) Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 45: 471-493.
- Tittensor DP, Mora C, Jetz W, Lotze HK, Ricard D, Berghe EV, Worm B (2010) Global patterns and predictors of marine biodiversity across taxa. *Nature* 466: 1098-1101.
- Umetsu F, Naxara L, Pardini R (2006) Evaluating the efficiency of pitfall traps for sampling small mammals in the Neotropics. *Journal of Mammalogy* 87: 757-765.
- Veblen TT, Young KR, Orme AR (2007) The physical geography of South America. Oxford University Press, New York.

- Vieira ALM, Pires AS, Nunes-Freitas AF, Oliveira NM, Resende AS, Campello EFC (2014) Efficiency of small mammal trapping in an Atlantic Forest fragmented landscape: the effects of trap type and position, seasonality and habitat. *Brazilian Journal of Biology* 74: 538-544.
- Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Elphick CS (2010) A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in ecology and evolution* 1: 3-14.

# Supporting information

Appendix S1. Description of predictor and response variables used in the overall dataset analyses.

Variable	Variable type	Description
Abundance/effort	Response (quantitative)	Number of small mammal individuals captured for each species divided by the
		total sampling effort applied at the respective site.
Richness	Response (quantitative)	Number of small mammal species captured in each site.
Method	Predictor (qualitative)	Trap type used in the sampling: 1) cage (e.g. Tomahawk®, Sherman®, Young®)
		or 2) cage and pitfall (cage traps simultaneously used with pitfall traps)
Design	Predictor (qualitative)	Trap arrangement in the field during the sampling: 1) linear (traps are placed,
		usually equally spaced, forming linear transects) or 2) grid (traps are placed,
		usually equally spaced, in rectangular grids)
Season	Predictor (qualitative)	Number of seasons covered by the sampling period: 1) one season (small
		mammal sampling occurred only in one of the season, i.e. in the dry or in the wet
		season) or 2) both seasons (sampling occurred in dry and wet seasons).
Effort	Predictor (quantitative)	Number of traps used in each sampling multiplied by the number of days that
		sampling occurred.

Appendix S2. Relative abundance (number of individuals captured per 100 trap-days) of small mammals in relation to macrohabitat type (open areas, savannas, and forests) and trap type (Pit = pitfall, Ssh = small Sherman<sup>®</sup>, Lsh = large Sherman<sup>®</sup>, and Wmc = wire mesh cage) considering the restricted dataset. Also indicated is mean body mass for each species based on the values obtained in this same dataset.

Species	Body mass (g)	Macrohabitat											
		Open areas			Savannahs					Fores	ts		
		Pit	Ssh	Lsh	Wmc	Pit	Ssh	Lsh	Wmc	Pit	Ssh	Lsh	Wmc
Marsupials													
Didelphidae													
<i>Monodelphis domestica</i>	49.1	-	-	-	-	0.037	0.036	-	0.060	0.032	0.020	-	-
<i>Monodelphis americana</i>	11.3	-	-	-	-	0.056	-	-	-	0.032	-	-	-
<b>Didelphis albiventris</b>	603.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.089	-	-	0.102	0.051
<b>Gracilinanus agilis</b>	15.7	0.195	-	-	-	0.149	-	-	-	0.319	0.051	0.153	-
Cryptonanus agricolai	10.5	-	0.021	-	-	0.019	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Thylamys velutinus	23	0.065	-	-	-	0.149	0.018	0.030	-	0.032	-	-	-
Rodents													
Cricetidae													
Nectomys squamipes	220.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.064	0.143	0.459	1.378
Nectomys rattus	207.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.020	-	0.153
Cerradomys scotti	56.6	0.065	0.021	0.104	-	0.056	0.101	0.030	0.149	0.064	0.031	0.102	0.051
Oligoryzomys nigripes	15.3	0.065	-	0.104	-	0.037	0.018	-	-	0.893	0.245	0.204	0.153
Oligoryzomys fornesi	10.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.446	0.061	0.051	0.153
Hylaeamys megacephalus	67.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.020	0.051	-
Oecomys cleberi	23.6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.159	0.031	-	-
Euryoryzomys lamia	46.2	-	-	-	0.208	-	-	-	-	0.096	0.010	-	-
Calomys tener	10.0	0.260	0.083	-	-	0.632	0.101	0.060	0.030	0.096	-	-	-
Calomys expulsus	19.6	0.130	0.042	-	-	0.372	0.143	0.030	0.030	0.096	0.010	-	-
Necromys lasiurus	44.8	0.521	0.396	0.104	0.313	0.298	0.196	0.208	0.179	0.383	0.306	0.510	0.306
Thalpomys cerradensis	35.3	0.065	-	-	-	0.130	0.179	0.089	-	0.096	-	-	-
Oxymycterus delator	74.4	-	0.479	0.104	0.313	-	0.012	-	-	0.159	0.286	0.459	0.255
Oxymycterus sp	83.5	-	0.021	-	-	-	0.006	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rhipidomys macrurus	56.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.032	0.092	0.102	-
Caviidae		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Galea flavidens	73.0	-	-	-	-	-	0.006	-	-	-	-	-	-
Echimyidae		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Carterodon sulcidens	61.0	-	-	0.104	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Clyomys laticeps	251.0	-	-	-	-	-	0.018	-	-	-	-	-	-
Thrichomys apereoides	237.0	-	0.042	-	0.208	-	0.113	0.566	0.982	-	0.041	0.153	0.153
Thrichomys sp	165.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.010	-	0.102

Appendix S3. Generalized linear models results for the effect of trap arrangement (linear transect or grid), trap type (cage only or cage + pitfall), and trapping period (only one or two [dry and rainy] seasons) on estimates of small mammal abundance (corrected by effort). Analysis were conducted for small mammals as a group and also for rodents and marsupials separately. The intercept of each model includes the predictor variables levels not showed (i.e., grid, cage only, and both seasons). Confidence interval in bold indicates a significant effect.

	Forest			Sava	annah	Grassland				
—	β	SE	95% CI	β	SE	95% CI	β	SE	95% CI	
Marsupials and Rodents										
Intercept	41.473	4.813	32.684 to 51.575	53.188	6.711	40.911 to 67.265	31.331	5.696	21.349 to 43.806	
Linear	-8.868	5.113	-19.457 to 0.642	-8.414	7.803	-24.107 to 6.625	-2.386	5.931	-15.318 to 8.069	
Cage and pitfall	13.855	4.710	4.972 to 23.488	25.116	7.331	11.068 to 39.893	22.762	7.442	9.349 to 38.649	
One season	-9.130	3.777	-16.471 to -1.612	-10.814	6.303	-23.028 to 1.811	-13.259	4.715	-22.821 to -4.245	
Rodents										
Intercept	60.785	9.240	44.304 to 80.613	52.970	7.282	39.931 to 68.540	31.819	6.040	21.278 to 45.080	
Linear	-15.055	9.699	-35.595 to 2.599	-3.711	9.196	-22.410 to 13.812	-1.355	6.442	-15.349 to 10.043	
Cage and pitfall	23.008	8.845	6.593 to 41.424	39.861	9.786	21.172 to 59.672	26.830	9.029	10.709 to 46.277	
One season	-15.769	6.801	-29.096 to -2.267	-10.223	8.098	-25.730 to 6.170	-13.189	5.364	-24.067 to -2.934	
Marsupials										
Intercept	106.129	17.608	75.036 to 144.201	407.64	102.81	237.997 to 643.632				
Linear	-24.606	19.784	-65.972 to 12.082	-178.47	112.34	-427.957 to 18.688				
Cage and pitfall	35.382	18.574	0.504 to 73.728	90.65	42.08	11.216 to 179.541				
One season	5.346	16.450	-26.079 to 38.828	-177.47	46.71	-274.761 to -89.926				

Appendix S4. Generalized linear models results for the effect of trap arrangement (linear transect or grid), trap type (cage only or cage + pitfall), trapping period (only one or two [dry and rainy] seasons), and total effort on estimates of small mammal richness. Analysis were conducted for small mammals as a group and also for rodents and marsupials separately. The intercept of each model includes the predictor variables levels not showed (i.e., grid, cage, and both seasons). Confidence interval in bold indicates a significant effect.

	Forest			Savann	ah	Grassland				
-	β	SE	95% CI	β	SE	95% CI	β	SE	95% CI	
Marsupials and Rodents										
Intercept	1.839	0.081	1.678 to 1.996	1.725	0.100	1.523 to 1.919	1.430	0.161	1.098 to 1.733	
Linear	-0.152	0.088	-0.325 to 0.022	-0.220	0.131	-0.479 to 0.038	-0.077	0.190	-0.440 to 0.306	
Cage and pitfall	0.173	0.074	0.027 to 0.318	0.311	0.104	0.108 to 0.518	0.294	0.133	0.032 to 0.555	
One season	-0.018	0.080	-0.176 to 0.139	-0.345	0.113	-0.571 to -0.125	-0.167	0.128	-0.421 to 0.082	
Effort	0.143	0.034	0.074 to 0.209	0.144	0.047	0.048 to 0.235	0.081	0.061	-0.043 to 0.196	
Rodents										
Intercept	1.552	0.09	1.363 to 1.734	1.506	0.119	1.266 to 1.735	1.430	0.154	1.113 to 1.721	
Linear	-0.158	0.106	-0.366 to 0.052	-0.209	0.158	-0.518 to 0.103	-0.193	0.188	-0.553 to 0.184	
Cage and pitfall	0.111	0.088	-0.063 to 0.283	0.163	0.116	-0.062 to 0.394	0.265	0.145	-0.021 to 0.548	
One season	-0.053	0.091	-0.234 to 0.125	-0.234	0.133	-0.501 to 0.023	-0.201	0.136	-0.471 to 0.065	
Effort	0.102	0.041	0.017 to 0.181	0.088	0.056	-0.026 to 0.197	0.057	0.063	-0.072 to 0.175	
Marsupials										
Intercept	0.779	0.134	0.510 to 1.037	0.796	0.201	0.384 to 1.173				
Linear	-0.208	0.151	-0.502 to 0.092	-0.481	0.279	-1.035 to 0.064				
Cage and pitfall	0.279	0.129	0.023 to 0.532	0.226	0.214	-0.182 to 0.659				
One season	0.126	0.137	-0.144 to 0.395	0.201	0.217	-0.236 to 0.617				
Effort	0.196	0.058	0.077 to 0.306	0.078	0.095	-0.118 to 0.258				

# Appendix S5

Results of a generalized linear mixed model for the overall effects of Cerrado macrohabitats (open area, savanna, and forest) and trap type (pitfall, small Sherman®, large Sherman®, and wire mesh cage) on small mammal trapping success, considering species as a random factor. Analysis were conducted using the restricted dataset (39 sampling sites were sampled simultaneously with the four trap types, see text for details). F- and p-values and associated degrees of freedom are indicated. Asterisks indicate significant values

Effects	Degrees of freedom	F Value	P Value
(Intercept)	1:264	15.474	0.0001*
Ln body mass	1:24	0.015	0.90
Trap type	3:264	1.434	0.23
Macrohabitat	2:264	4.916	0.008*
Body Mass : TrapType	3:364	10.324	<0.0001*
Body mass : Macrohabitat	2:264	0.203	0.82
Trap type : Macrohabitat	6:264	0.330	0.92
Body Mass : Trap type : Macrohabitat	6:264	0.963	0.45

# Capítulo 2: Plant-animal interaction networks of Neotropical small mammals are affected by fire severity and resource availability but not by habitat structure Abstract

Ecological interactions can determine the occurrence of species in communities with frugivory being among the most widely distributed plant-animal interactions worldwide. Different interaction patterns can be associated with changes that communities undergo because of disturbances such as natural and anthropogenic fires. However, the impacts of fire events may vary, with different parts of a landscape experiencing distinct levels of fire severity. Here, we investigated plant-animal interaction networks involving small mammals and plant species consumed by these animals in fire-sensitive Cerrado (neotropical savanna) forests 3 years after burning. We identified 728 interactions between 211 plant species and 11 small mammal species. Fire severity altered the structure of plant-animal networks. Networks in areas severely affected by fires tended to be more nested, with greater diversity of interactions, less specialized, and less modular. Also, resource availability impacted plantanimal networks, with forests with more available resources being less nested and diverse, but more specialized and modular. Lastly, we found that habitat structure was associated with the gradient of fire severity, though it did not directly influence the evaluated network metrics. We highlight that fire-sensitive areas could have their interaction networks compromised, as these plant-animal networks become structurally distinct from unburned or less severely burned ones.

Keywords: Cerrado, gallery forest, wildfire, metabarcoding

#### Introduction

Ecological interactions can determine the occurrence of species in communities (Belyea and Lancaster 1999). One of the most widely distributed plant-animal interaction worldwide is frugivory, which influences the dynamics and stability of various terrestrial ecosystems (Levey et al. 2002, Estrada and Fleming 2012). Patterns of interactions between plants and animals are not static but vary both spatially and temporally (Alarcón et al. 2008, Dugger et al. 2019). This variation may be influenced by changes in both animal species composition and in plant resource availability. Both these factors are affected by disturbances, such as natural and anthropogenic fires (Sousa 1984). With climate change, fire events are anticipated to increase in both frequency and intensity. This projection is driven by the expected rise in extreme events, such as prolonged drought periods (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). Consequently, it is imperative for the conservation of natural systems the understanding of how fire affects plant-animal networks, especially in fire-prone ecosystems.

Fire regimes in terrestrial ecosystems are undergoing several changes in the last decades. Excessive suppression of natural fires in fire-prone environments, the deliberate ignition of fires in sensitive areas, and alterations in environmental conditions are the primary human activities that have contributed to changes in burning patterns (Bowman et al. 2011). While fire is a natural disturbance and an evolutionary factor in fire-prone ecosystems (Daubenmire 1968, Simon et al. 2009), alterations in its regime can have adverse effects on the biodiversity and functioning of these environments (Williams et al. 2009). One such fire-prone ecosystem is the Cerrado (Neotropical savanna), where fire events have occurred for at least 30,000 years (Salgado-Labouriau et al. 1997). However, this biome has experienced more intensified fire regimes in recent years (Schmidt and Eloy 2020), posing a particular threat to areas highly sensitive to this disturbance, such as gallery forests within extensive savanna and grassland landscapes (Dantas and Pausas 2013).

The distinct phytophysiognomies found in the Cerrado, including grassland, savanna, and forest formations, harbor a highly diverse flora, with estimates of around 10,000 plant species occurring (Ribeiro and Walter 1998, CEPF 2017, Sano et al. 2019). This diversity of habitats constitutes a heterogeneous landscape, promoting a high faunal diversity that includes at least 251 mammal species, of which 103 are rodents and marsupials (Paglia et al. 2012). Many of these animals incorporate fruits and seeds into their diets, resulting in complex plant-animal interaction networks in the Cerrado.

The network analysis approach has been one of the primary methods for describing interactions between plants and frugivores and for assessing changes in interaction patterns due to environmental changes (Quintero et al. 2022). Various metrics have been proposed to evaluate ecological interaction networks, with some of the most commonly used ones describing the degree of nestedness and modularity in interaction networks (Fortuna et al. 2010). Nested networks exhibit interactions involving specialist species as subsets of interactions involving more generalist species. This pattern is often observed in mutualistic interaction networks as well as host-parasite networks (Bascompte et al. 2003, Vázquez et al. 2005). In contrast, when a network displays a modular pattern, the species within it form subsets that interact more with each other than with species in other subgroups. Such modular structures are commonly reported in food webs (Krause et al. 2003), but have also been observed in mutualistic networks (Olesen et al. 2007). Further, a single network may exhibit a combination of these patterns, as is the case when modular networks have nestedness within the modules (Lewinsohn et al. 2006). In addition to nestedness and modularity, other metrics can provide further insights into the overall structure of networks, such as specialization, which describes the degree of specialization in species interactions (Blüthgen et al. 2006), and interaction diversity.

Our understanding of how ecological interactions are affect by fire in the Cerrado is still limited, constituting a relatively small portion of the studies concerning the impact of fire in this biome (Arruda et al. 2018). Most investigations into the responses of plant-animal interactions to fire events in this biome have primarily centered around plant-ant and plantpollinator interactions (Ballarin et al. 2023). This highlights a gap in our knowledge regarding the effects of fire on frugivory and seed dispersal interactions.

Fire has direct effects (e.g., causing the death of individuals) and indirect effects (e.g., altering environmental conditions in affected areas) on both plants and animals (Michaletz and Johnson 2007, Tomas et al. 2021, Bergstrom et al. 2023). Specifically, in the case of small mammals, a species turnover can be observed during the post-fire period, with some species increasing their populations while others decline (Fox 1982, Vieira and Marinho-Filho 1998, Vieira 1999, Briani et al. 2004). The availability of resources and the habitat structure after a fire are among the key factors influencing the recovery of small mammal populations in burned areas (Sutherland and Dickman 1999). However, the impacts of fire events vary depending on the type of vegetation, as well as topography, weather conditions, and fuel load (Countryman 1972). Therefore, different parts of a landscape may experience varying levels of fire severity (White et al. 1996), leading to different responses from animal populations and, consequently, affecting the ecological interactions within the group.

In the present study, we investigated plant-animal interaction networks involving small mammals and the plant species consumed by these animals in the Cerrado, while also examining the impact of fire severity on these networks. Since it was not possible to distinguish the type of interaction observed, i.e., whether it was mutualistic or antagonistic, the interactions were assessed together. Our objectives encompassed: 1) to describe the patterns of these plant-animal interaction networks between small mammals and plant species, and 2) to evaluate the effects of fire severity, resource availability, and habitat structure on

these plant-animal interaction networks within gallery forests three years after a major fire event. Given that both resource availability and habitat structure can be influenced by fire, and that these factors drive the responses of small mammal species in burned areas (Sutherland and Dickman 1999), we anticipate that the plant-animal interaction networks will exhibit distinct structures along the fire severity gradient. Specifically, we expect to observe more generalized interactions in areas severely affected by fire, as well as in forest areas with lower resource availability and highly modified habitat structures.

## Methods

#### Study sites

We conducted our study within two contiguous Conservation Units (UC) located in the Central Brazilian Cerrado: the Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park (PNCV) and the Fazenda Mata Funda Private Natural Heritage Reserve (RPPN Fazenda Mata Funda) (Figure 1). The PNCV encompasses approximately 240,000 hectares spread across five municipalities in the northeastern region of the state of Goiás. On the other hand, the RPPN Fazenda Mata Funda is situated in close proximity to the PNCV, covering 110 hectares within the municipality of Alto Paraíso de Goiás. This region experiences an equatorial climate with a dry winter period (Kottek et al. 2006) typically extending from May to September. Similar to much of the Cerrado, this area has historically faced recurring wildfires during the peak of the dry season (Silva et al. 2021). In fact, between 2008 and 2019, the cumulative fire scars in the PNCV reached an area equivalent to 225% of the current extent of this protected area (Matos et al. 2020). The most recent significant wildfire in this region occurred in 2017, a year marked by mega-fires on different continents (Fidelis et al. 2018). In the Chapada dos Veadeiros specifically, this event likely resulted from a combination of a prolonged dry period and escalating land conflicts related to the expansion of the PNCV, which was declared in the same year.

Within our study area, we sampled seven gallery forests that had been affected by varying degrees of severity during the 2017 fire (Figure 1). Gallery forests are forested areas associated with watercourses, characterized by an average tree height ranging from 20 to 30 meters and canopy coverage ranging from 70% to 95% (Ribeiro and Walter 1998). These forest formations play a pivotal role in preserving the diversity of non-flying mammals in the Cerrado (Redford and Fonseca 1986) and are more susceptible to fire damage compared to open Cerrado formations. To ensure that we captured distinct small mammal communities, we selected gallery forests with at least a 1-kilometer separation between them.

### Small mammal sampling and sample colection

We conducted two sampling campaigns to study small mammals, one during the rainy season (February and March 2020) and the other in the dry season (September and October 2020). In the first campaign, we sampled five gallery forests (Estiva 1, Maytrea 1, Maytrea 2, Mulungu 1, and Mulungu 2), and in the second campaign, we revisited these areas and included two additional gallery forests (Estiva 2 and Pouso Alto), making a total of seven areas. To capture animals in these areas, we established two transects, each consisting of 30 equidistant sampling points spaced 15 meters apart. At each point, we placed two types of traps: Sherman traps (one small -9 cm x 9.5 cm x 23 cm and one large -11 cm x 12.5 cm x 37 cm) on the ground and in the understory alternately. Moreover, at five sampling points in each transect, we substituted the large Sherman traps with Tomahawk traps (45 cm x 16 cm x 16 cm). All traps remained open for five consecutive nights and were baited on the first day of sampling with a mixture of banana, cornmeal, sardines, peanut butter, and palm oil. We refreshed the bait every two days or as needed.

We identified the captured animals, recorded basic body measurements, determined their sex, and noted their reproductive status. After marking them with numbered ear tags, we released the individuals at the same capture location. To analyze the plant species consumed by the small mammals, we collected feces found in the traps where the animals were captured or obtained during their handling. Subsequently, we preserved the samples in 70% alcohol and stored them in a freezer. All animal handling procedures adhered to the guidelines of the American Society of Mammal Zoologists (Sikes et al. 2011) and the study received approval from the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Brasília (CEUA) under protocol number 4783821.

#### Fruit availability

To assess fruit availability in the seven gallery forests, we conducted a count of fruiting individuals. To do this, we selected a starting point in each transect (in a non-systematic manner) and walked up to the tenth point, recording the number of fruiting individuals encountered. We considered specimens in all vertical strata located within 1.5 meters of the central trail and bearing fruits at any stage of ripeness. As in some cases fruit observations ceased at the ninth point in some transects, we utilized the values of the number of fruiting individuals divided by the total number of points covered for our analyses.





#### Habitat structure

To characterize the habitat structure in the sampled gallery forests, we measured six variables at all sampling points in each of the seven areas. For these measurements, we established a circle centered on each sampling point (with a radius of 1 meter), which was subsequently divided into four quadrants. Within these quadrants, we collected data on: a) canopy coverage by assessing the proportion of greenery in photographic records taken from a height of approximately 2 meters, with the camera facing upward toward the sky, and later analyzed using Image J software (Rasband 2018); b) herbaceous coverage, following the same methodology as for canopy coverage estimation but with the camera positioned at approximately 50 cm in height and directed toward the ground; c) distance to the nearest tree with a circumference of at least 15 cm at breast height; d) circumference of the nearest tree; e) obstruction in the understory, determined using the intersection method in which we horizontally extended a 1.5-meter metal rod marked with 10 equidistant points and recorded how many of these points were intersected by vegetation; and f) the presence of fallen tree trunks with a circumference of at least 20 cm.

#### Metabarcoding analysis and bioinformatic

In order to assess the plant resources consumed by small mammals, we performed DNA extraction from the feces of the captured individuals. To do this, we first separated up to 0.22 milligrams from each fecal sample and followed the manufacturer's protocol for the QIAamp Fast DNA Stool Mini Kit (Qiagen) to carry out DNA extraction from 200 out of 228 distinct samples collected. Subsequently, genetic material from individuals of the same species captured at the same sampling site was homogenized to create a single sample. Next, the DNA concentration of each extraction was determined through fluorometry using the Qubit<sup>TM</sup> dsDNA HS Assay Kit (High Sensitivity - Thermo Fisher Scientific) and the Qubit® 3.0 fluorometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific), following the manufacturer's instructions.

Following that, the DNA was amplified in triplicate through the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using the primer set ITS2-ITS3 (ITS2 F-ATGCGATACTTGGTGTGAAT; ITS3 R-GACGCTTCTCCAGACTACAAT). This primer set amplifies a region of up to 450

base pairs from the intergenic transcribed spacer (ITS) region, which is one of the most commonly used fragments in molecular systematics of plants due to its potentially high resolution of intraspecific relationships. This characteristic facilitated the description of dietary components for granivores, frugivores, and omnivores.

The PCR reactions were prepared for a final volume of 25  $\mu$ L, containing 5  $\mu$ L of Buffer (5 x); 2  $\mu$ L of dNTPs (2 mM each); 2.4  $\mu$ L of MgCl2 (25 mM); 0.5  $\mu$ L of each oligonucleotide (10 pmol); an average of 5 ng of DNA; 1.25 U of GoTaq G2 Flexi DNA Polymerase (Promega); 2  $\mu$ L of DMSO; 5  $\mu$ L of TBT-PAR buffer (Samarakoon et al. 2013); and sterile, nuclease-free ultrapure water to reach the final reaction volume.

The amplification was carried out using a Veriti Thermal Cycler® (Applied Biosystems). The temperature profiles for amplification followed these steps: enzyme activation at 94 °C for 3 minutes, followed by 30 amplification cycles of 1 minute at 94 °C, 1 minute at 54 °C, 1 minute at 72 °C, and a final extension step at 72 °C for 7 minutes. After amplification, the amplicons were analyzed on a 1.2% agarose gel using 5 µl of the PCR product to assess quality. Subsequently, we proceeded with library construction for sequencing on the Illumina platform, following the protocol provided by the manufacturer (Illumina 2013). The purified libraries were analyzed on a BioAnalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies) and combined into sequencing pools using equimolar ratios, with the addition of 10% PhiX. Finally, the libraries were sequenced on the Illumina MiSeq platform using the MiSeq High Output kit (600-cycles) (Illumina 2013).

The FastQ files containing the reads generated from sequencing were processed using the Pimba pipeline (Pipeline for MetaBarcoding Analysis), developed at Instituto Tecnológico Vale (ITV) (Oliveira et al. 2021). Reads shorter than 100 bp and reads with an average Phred quality score of < 20 were discarded. For taxonomic assignment of ASVs, we employed ASAP– Assemble Species by Automatic Partitioning (Puillandre et al. 2021). This method

constructs species partitions from single-locus sequence alignments. The implementation is based on a hierarchical clustering algorithm that utilizes pairwise genetic distances, and the scoring system used does not require any prior knowledge of intraspecific diversity. In our analyses, we selected the default settings (recursive splitting = 1%, showing the top 10 scores) and used only the ASAP partition with the best score and partitions with significant p-values.

#### Data analysis

#### Network analysis

To construct plant-animal interaction networks, we utilized the ASVs identified through DNA analysis of small mammal feces. In these networks, the nodes representing animals correspond to small mammal species, while the nodes representing plants correspond to the botanical families of the consumed plants. To assess the topological patterns in weighted networks, we assigned weights to the detected interactions, which reflected the number of ASVs (i.e., the richness of plants each small mammal species interacted with within each botanical family). These weighted bipartite networks were created for each of the assessed gallery forests.

Given the challenges in estimating the capture of resource diversity in our samples, we decided to analyze the topological patterns of the networks only for areas where we could analyze fecal samples from at least 15 individuals of small mammals within the community. Consequently, we examined four networks for areas sampled during the rainy season and five networks for areas sampled during the dry season. We opted for separate analyses for each season due to the pronounced seasonality observed in the Cerrado (Oliveira and Marquis 2002). This seasonality affects habitat conditions and resource availability, both of which can influence the structure of interaction networks.

To assess the topological pattern of plant-animal networks, we calculated the following metrics: nestedness, modularity, specialization, and Shannon interaction diversity. Nestedness describes the degree to which interactions in a network are organized such that specialist consumers interact with a subset of items consumed by more generalist species. For this metric, we used weighted NODF values, which range from 0 to 100 (Almeida-Neto and Ulrich 2011). Modularity, on the other hand, indicates the extent to which the network consists of subgroups of species that interact more with each other than with species in other subgroups within the network. For this metric, we employed the algorithm proposed by Beckett (2016), with values ranging from 0 to 1. Specialization, in turn, reflects the degree of exclusivity in interactions based on partner availability. For this metric, we used the H2' index, which ranges from 0 to 1 (Blüthgen et al. 2006). Finally, we obtained interaction diversity through the Shannon index, applied to count interactions instead of species abundance. This provided values that describe how much species are interacting and how evenly distributed these interactions are.

We opted for utilizing quantitative metrics because they are less susceptible to the effects of sample effort (Fründ et al. 2016, Vizentin-Bugoni et al. 2016). In a similar vein, we determined the significance of these metrics using null models. To achieve this, we employed the "vaznull" null model, which maintains the same observed connectivity while randomizing interactions between the two partitions of the network (Vázquez et al. 2007). We generated 1000 random networks from each of the observed networks and assessed the significance of the observed values using the Monte Carlo test to infer whether these values deviated from what would be expected by chance ( $\alpha = 5\%$ ).

For all network analyses, we utilized the "bipartite" package (Dormann et al. 2009) in the R software (R Core Team 2022). The basic script for randomizing networks and comparing observed values with those expected by chance was developed by Renata

#### Muylaert, Pavel Dodonov, and Marco Mello (available at

https://github.com/marmello77/network-significance).

#### Fruit availability

To determine if the observed values of network metrics could be accounted for by fruit availability, we conducted individual linear regressions for each of these metrics, with fruit availability serving as the independent variable. To satisfy the assumptions of the linear model, we took the square root of the values obtained for this availability.

#### Habitat structure

We also explored potential effects of habitat structure on the calculated network metrics. For this purpose, we first summarized the six variables related to habitat structure using Principal Component Analysis (PCA). In this analysis, we employed the z-scores of the variables to standardize and remove scale effects among them (Zar 2009). Subsequently, we examined whether the average values of PCA axes 1 and 2 for each gallery forest could be explained by the average values of the dNBR – Differentiated Normalized Burn Ratio (which is the difference between pre- and post-fire values of the Normalized Burn Ratio (Escuin et al. 2008)) through linear regression. The dNBR values were obtained by satellite images and is closely tied to vegetation structure and commonly used for assessing the severity of fire impact on vegetation (Keeley 2009, Soverel et al. 2010). Additionally, we utilized linear regressions to determine if the observed values for network metrics could be accounted for by the values of PCA axes 1 and 2.

# Results

We identified 771 distinct genetic sequences representing plant species found in the feces of rodents and marsupials captured in seven gallery forests within the Cerrado region.

Using the ASAP, these sequences were categorized into 211 plant species spanning 56 families (see appendix S1). The families with the highest number of identified taxa were Myrtaceae (n = 37), Melastomataceae (n = 33), Fabaceae (n = 20), Onagraceae (n = 14), and Rubiaceae (n = 11), accounting for a total of 54% of the identifications.

We captured 11 species (or group of species, because we considered species of the same genus whose accurate identification was not possible in the field as only one 'species'), as following: *Cerradomys scotti* (n = 1), *Didelphis albiventris* (n = 8), *Gracilinanus agilis* (n = 21), *Hylaeamys megacephalus* (n = 14), *Necromys lasiurus* (n = 4), *Nectomys rattus* (n = 36), *Oecomys spp.* (included *O. gr. catherinae* and *O. cleberi*; n = 20), *Oligoryzomys spp.* (included *O. mattogrossae* and *O. nigripes*, n = 10), *Oxymycterus delator* (n = 42), *Proechimys roberti* (n = 2), and *Rhipidomys macrurus* (n = 80). Among the assessed small mammals, *Oecomys spp.* was the species that interacted with the highest number of plants (n = 105), followed by *Hylaemys megacephalus* (n = 103), *Nectomys rattus* (n = 96), and *Rhipidomys macrurus* (n = 80). Together, these four species accounted for 52.7% of the total 728 interactions detected. As for botanical families, those with the highest number of interactions were Melastomataceae (n = 110), Myrtaceae (n = 87), Fabaceae (n = 77), Onagraceae (n = 44), Asteraceae (n = 39), Poaceae (n = 38), and Rubiaceae (n = 38), totaling 59% of all interactions detected (see appendix S2 and S3).

## Plant-animal networks and fire severity

The assessment of nestedness patterns in plant-animal interaction networks revealed a positive relation between the nestedness of networks during the dry season and the severity of fire. However, there was no such relation between nestedness in networks during the rainy season and fire severity. Additionally, regardless of the season, the observed nestedness values did not significantly differ from those expected by chance (Figure 2a).

Regarding modularity, a negative association was observed between this metric and fire severity for networks during the dry season, whereas no such relationship was found for modularity in networks during the rainy season. Furthermore, irrespective of seasonality, the observed modularity values tended to be lower than expected by chance, with six out of the nine assessed networks exhibiting a significant difference when compared to null models (Figure 2b).

We also noted a negative relation between fire severity and the degree of specialization within the networks (Figure 2c). This relation indicates that, as fire severity increased, the degree of specialization tended to be lower than expected by chance. Only the networks related to unburned areas displayed observed specialization values that did not differ significantly from those expected by chance. This effect was more pronounced in networks during the dry season but was also observed in networks during the rainy season (Figure 2c).

We identified a relationship between fire severity and the calculated interaction diversity values (Shannon index) of the networks (Figure 2d), with higher diversity values associated with areas more severely affected by fire. A comparison with randomized values indicated, in general, that the observed diversity values tended to be lower than expected by chance, both in networks during the dry season and those during the rainy season (Figure 2d).

#### Plant-animal networks and fruit availability

We observed a significant negative relationship between fruiting and both nestedness ( $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.51$ ; p = 0.03) and interaction diversity ( $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.57$ ; p = 0.02). In other words, higher observed fruiting was associated with lower values of these metrics (Figure 3; a and d). The relationship between fruiting and network specialization also tended to be negative but was not statistically significant ( $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.37$ ; p = 0.08; Figure 3c). Additionally, we detected a significant positive relationship between fruiting and network modularity ( $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.59$ ; p = 0.59; p = 0.59
0.02; Figure 3b). On the other hand, the relation between fruiting and fire severity was not significant ( $R^2 = 0.233$ ; p = 0.17).





**Figure 2**. Observed and expected values for a) nestedness, b) modularity, c) specialization, and d) interaction (Shannon) diversity obtained for plant-animal interaction networks in five gallery forests in the Cerrado. Black circles indicate the expected mean value based on 1000 randomizations of the networks, and vertical bars indicate the standard deviation around this mean. Numbers above the bars indicate the p-values obtained by randomization (bold numbers indicate that the observed value for the metric was different from what would be expected by chance).





Figure 3. Relationship between fructification and a) nestedness, b) modularity, c) specialization, and d) interaction (Shannon) diversity of plant-animal interaction networks in five gallery forests in the Cerrado. Trend lines are shown for p < 0.1 values (obtained through permutation; black lines indicate relationships with p < 0.05). Blue circles represent interaction networks for the rainy season, and yellow circles represent interaction networks for the dry season.

#### Plant-animal networks and habitat structure

Considering the habitat structure, the first axis (PC 1) of the Principal Component Analysis (PCA) explained 55% of the observed variance, while the second axis (PC 2) accounted for 19%. The habitat variables most strongly correlated with PC 1 were: a) distance to the nearest tree (0.52); b) canopy coverage (-0.50); c) circumference of the nearest tree (0.48); and d) herbaceous cover (0.47). Consequently, areas with more negative values along PC 1 exhibit denser vegetation, whereas areas with more positive values feature more open vegetation. On the other hand, for PC 2, only the presence of fallen logs showed a high value (0.85), while the other variables had values below 0.40.

We observed a significant positive relationship between the values of PC 1 and fire severity ( $R^2 = 0.719$ ; p = 0.04; Figure 4a). However, for the second axis, we did not identify

any relationship between the axis values and fire severity ( $R^2 = 0.058$ ; p = 0.62; Figure 4b). Additionally, we found no association between PC 1 and PC 2 and any of the four network topological metrics evaluated (see appendix S4 and S5).



**Figure 4.** Relationship between fire severity (dNBR) and the first (PC 1 = 55%) and second (PC 2 = 19%) axes of the Principal Component Analysis (PCA) conducted with the six habitat variables (canopy cover, herbaceous cover, distance to the nearest tree, circumference of the nearest tree, understory obstruction, and quantity of fallen logs) measured in seven gallery forests in the Cerrado. Trend lines indicate relationships with p < 0.05 (obtained by permutation).

# Discussion

We conducted this study to examine the impacts of fire severity, resource availability, and habitat structure on plant-animal interactions within the Cerrado ecosystem. This was the first study to employ *metabarcoding* analyses to identify dietary components (i.e., plants), allowing us to build interaction networks for small mammal communities affected by fires in the Cerrado. The use of this method enabled us to identify 728 interactions between 11 species (rodents and marsupials) and 211 plants, representing 56 different families. This level

of detail has never been documented in a single study before. For example, in the third chapter of this thesis, based on 395 fecal samples observed on stereoscope, we were only able to identify 28 plant species belonging to eight botanical families. Our findings indicate that the severity of fires altered the structure of plant-animal networks. It resulted in networks becoming more nested, exhibiting greater diversity of interactions, while also being less specialized and less modular in areas severely affected by fires. This effect was particularly pronounced during the dry season. Interestingly, we did not observe a correlation between resource availability (such as fruiting) and fire severity. However, higher resource availability did impact the structure of plant-animal networks, making them less nested and diverse, but more specialized and modular. Lastly, we found that habitat structure was associated with the gradient of fire severity, though it did not directly influence the evaluated network metrics.

### Fire severity, resource availability, and habitat structure

Our findings did not reveal a significant correlation between fire severity and fruit availability, contrary to our initial expectations. In various ecosystems, there is an indication of a link between fire occurrences and a decrease in fruit production. For instance, in the Amazon rainforest, areas affected by a fire induced by an extended dry period caused by the El Niño had reduced fruit production (Barlow and Peres 2006). Decreases in fruit abundance in post-fire years have even been reported in fire-prone environments. In an Amazonian savanna, for example, Sanaiotti and Magnusson (1995) observed a reduction in fruiting for shrubs and herbaceous plants (though not for tree species) in areas subjected to two consecutive years of burning and again two years after fire cessation. Significant reductions of up to 99% in fruit abundance in areas burned with fire return intervals of 1 to 2 years were also reported for temperate forests dominated by *Pinus* trees in North Carolina, USA (Lashley et al. 2017). Nevertheless, apart from fire occurrence, our understanding of the impact of fire severity on fruit abundance in affected vegetation remains limited. In some instances, the reduced availability of fruit reported in the studies mentioned was associated with increased fire frequency or shorter fire return intervals, conditions that differ from those we examined in the current study. Therefore, it is plausible that the absence of recent fire history in gallery forests, coupled with the time vegetation had to recover between the fire event and our samplings (a span of 3 years), may have provided plant species the opportunity to reproduce and yield fruit independently of fire severity. In our study, we were unable to assess whether fire severity affected other relevant aspects of fruit availability, such as richness and composition of fruiting species.

Conversely, fire severity had a significant impact on the habitat structure of the studied gallery forests, aligning with our expectations. This relationship indicated that more severely affected gallery forests displayed a more open structure, characterized by lower canopy cover, greater distances to the nearest tree, larger circumferences of the nearest tree, and greater herbaceous ground cover. Fire severity is gauged by assessing the damage inflicted on vegetation, a metric influenced by factors such as topography, weather conditions, and available fuel load (Countryman 1972, White et al. 1996). Thus, when evaluating a gradient of fire severity, it is expected that areas more severely impacted will experience greater alterations in habitat structure, as our study has shown. In fact, Flores et al. (2021) when examining gallery forests affected by the same fire in PNCV, identified varying levels of fire severity, with the most affected areas losing up to 80% of canopy cover.

# Plant-animal networks and fire severity

Our results indicated a positive relationship between the nestedness of plant-animal networks and fire severity, as expected, during the dry season. The mechanisms governing the recovery of small mammal populations in burned areas largely involve species' responses to changes in

resource availability and habitat structure following fires (Sutherland and Dickman 1999). We anticipated that interaction networks in areas most affected by fire would exhibit higher levels of nestedness due to reduced fruit availability. However, fire severity showed no correlation with fruiting. Another possibility is that the increased nestedness of networks in heavily burned forests was an indirect result of changes in the composition of small mammal communities. The simplification of forest habitat (primarily through reduced canopy cover and increased herbaceous ground cover) likely favored the invasion of species typical of open habitats into the gallery forests affected by the fire. In fact, there was an increase in taxonomic diversity of small mammals along the fire severity gradient. This increase in species richness, however, was accompanied by a decrease in the abundance of forest specialist species (Souza 2023). In the southern Amazon basin, experimentally burned forest areas also exhibited increased diversity of ants typical of open formations, at the expense of a reduction in the diversity of forest specialist ants (Paolucci et al. 2017). Similarly, Puig-Gironès et al. (2022) observed a positive relationship between the richness of open-habitat specialist birds and fire severity in burned areas in Catalonia, a Mediterranean region. Since the studied mammals shared a less structured environment, spatial segregation (e.g., between distinct vertical strata) may have been reduced. In this scenario, rodents and marsupials likely expanded their dietary niches, adopting more generalist diets. This could explain the increased nestedness of networks in more severely burned areas, at least during the dry season, a time of year when the availability of these resources is generally lower (; but see Darosci et al. 2021).

Regarding the networks modularity, we observed that as fire severity increases, modularity decreases. While these topological patterns are not mutually exclusive (Pinheiro et al. 2019), there is often a negative relation between nestedness and modularity values in ecological networks (Thébault and Fontaine 2010). In areas most severely impacted by fire, rodents' and marsupials' diets exhibited a more generalist pattern, which would reduce the

occurrence of modules in plant-animal interaction networks. Furthermore, we also observed a negative relationship between fire severity and the degree of specialization in plant-animal interaction networks, indicating that higher severity levels may lead to the formation of more generalized interaction networks. Species are classified as specialists on a particular resource when they interact with a subset of the potentially available resources. In this context, when assessing interaction networks at the community level, we can expect that the networks predominantly composed of specialist species will exhibit higher specialization values than those primarily composed of generalist species (Blüthgen et al. 2006).

We found a positive relationship between fire severity and the calculated values of interaction diversity in the networks, supporting our expectations. The occurrence of fire may be positively associated with the richness of certain vertebrate groups, such as birds and mammals (Moritz et al. 2023). Specifically, for rodents and marsupials, a higher richness of this group in burned forests appears to be related to the influx of species from adjacent open formations, favored by changes in habitat structure caused by fire (Camargo et al. 2018). As discussed earlier, we detected a positive relationship between fire severity and the taxonomic diversity of these animals in our study area, a result of the invasion of species typical of open areas into the gallery forests affected by the fire (Souza 2023). Furthermore, as fire severity increased, we observed a decline in the degree of specialization of the networks. In other words, small mammal communities became more generalist in terms of fruit and seed consumption, interacting with a greater richness of plants. Therefore, both the increased species richness of small mammals and the lower degree of specialization in the networks along the fire severity gradient may have contributed to a higher diversity of interactions in more severely affected areas. However, an increase in interaction diversity is not necessarily positive. For instance, we did not assess the strength of these pairwise interactions.

#### Plant-animal networks and fruit availability

As anticipated, our results indicated a negative relationship between resource availability (i.e., fruiting) and the nestedness of the networks. According to the optimal diet theory, in a scenario of increased food resource availability, individuals may adopt a more specialized dietary strategy (Svanbäck and Bolnick 2005). Similarly, if species within a community also adopt a more specialized diet when resources are abundant, there would be less overlap in the food items included in their diets. In interaction networks, this could result in lower nestedness, consistent with our observations. Similarly to our study, Hachuy-Filho et al. (2020) found more nested plant-bee networks with greater niche overlap during periods of lower availability of floral resources in *campo cerrado* areas. There are other studies, however, that have reported results contrary to ours, showing a positive relationship between food resource abundance and the nestedness of ecological networks. For instance, Cantor et al. (2013) observed a nested structure in interaction networks between D. albiventris and fruits consumed exclusively during the rainy season, a period with higher resource availability. When investigating plant-frugivore networks in seasonal ecosystems in Mexico. Ramos-Robles et al. (2016) found a positive correlation between nestedness and the abundance of fruits available to local bird species. Additionally, in a Cerrado-Atlantic Forest ecotone, plant-frugivore networks involving bats as consumers exhibited greater nestedness during the rainy season, a time when resources were more abundant (Laurindo et al. 2017). Thus, our results, along with the information available in the literature, suggest distinct patterns in the relationship between food resource abundance and the nestedness of plantanimal networks.

As expected, our findings indicated a positive relationship between resource availability (i.e., fruiting) and modularity. Applying the optimal diet theory, in a scenario with increased availability of food resources, species may adopt a more specialized dietary

strategy, leading to greater niche partitioning. Consequently, this could result in the formation of modules within plant-animal networks, where certain animal species interact more closely with specific groups of plants than with plants from other groups. Similar to our findings, Ballarin et al. (2019) observed a similar pattern in plant-ant interaction networks in the Atlantic Forest, with modularity positively associated with the availability of food resources (i.e., quality and quantity of nectar). In individual-resource networks, a positive relationship was found between fruit abundance in *cerradão* (woodland savanna) areas and network modularity for various populations of the Neotropical marsupial *Gracilinanus agilis* (Camargo et al. 2019). Similarly, there is evidence that plant-bee networks become more specialized and modular during periods of increased availability of floral resources in *campo cerrado* areas (Hachuy-Filho et al. 2020). Regarding specialization, our results suggest a positive correlation between this metric and fruiting, similar to what has been observed in other plant-animal interaction networks (Ballarin et al. 2019, Hachuy-Filho et al. 2020). This trend reinforces the hypothesis that plant-animal interactions may become more specialized and modular in environments with higher resource availability, as discussed earlier.

The negative relationship between fruiting and interaction diversity may have resulted from increased specialization in areas with higher resource availability. Furthermore, considering the optimal diet theory, species may adopt a more specialized dietary strategy when food resources are more abundant in the environment. Consequently, there would be a reduction in the richness of pairwise interactions, as each small mammal species would consume a subset of all fruits and seeds, ceasing to interact with the other available resources in the community. However, in other plant-animal interaction systems, a greater availability of resources has been associated with an increase in the diversity of observed interactions, as reported for plant-bee interactions in Cerrado savannas with sparse tree cover (i.e., 'campo cerrado'; Hachuy-Filho et al. 2020). At present, we cannot explain why these responses

diverge. These different patterns, however, may be related to the different types of interactions we investigated, as well as the animal groups involved and the distinct types of vegetation formations.

#### Plant-animal networks and habitat structure

Our results did not indicate a relationship between habitat structure and the topology of the studied networks, as might be expected. For instance, individual-resource interaction networks were more nested in *cerradão* areas where habitat structure featured more open vegetation with greater tree spacing (Camargo et al. 2019). We hypothesize that the effect of habitat structure (modified by fire) on network topology may have been indirect, determining the set of species that make up the small mammal community. This composition, in turn, would lead to modifications in the network metrics we assessed. For example, Zylinski et al. (2022), found indirect effects of fire, mediated by habitat changes, on the activity of mammals inhabiting eucalyptus forests in Australia.

# Conclusion

Plant-animal interaction networks are affected by fires, and the impacts on network structure vary with fire severity. In general, more severely affected gallery forests exhibited more generalist interactions, resulting in networks with higher nestedness and reduced modularity and specialization. The diversity of interactions was also higher in areas that burned more severely. This pattern likely occurred in response to the increased richness of small mammals due to the invasion of species typical of open areas into these gallery forests.

Plant-animal interaction networks were also affected by resource availability (i.e., fruiting), although this availability did not show a direct relationship with fire severity. Gallery forests with higher fruit availability had less generalist interactions, resulting in

networks with higher modularity and specialization and reduced nestedness. The diversity of interactions was also lower in areas with higher resource availability. This likely occurred because in these gallery forests, each of the small mammal species interacted with a subset of all available fruits, reducing the total number of interactions in the networks. Regarding habitat structure, we did not observe direct effects of this factor on the structure of interaction networks, three years after the fire event. It is possible that habitat structure, altered in gallery forests by the fire, may have influenced changes in small mammal communities, affecting their composition and having indirect effects on the structure of interaction networks.

In this study, the increased detection of interactions through the use of DNA *metabarcoding* analyses may have contributed to the observed patterns, as it allowed for the identification of interactions previously unknown due to limitations of traditional methods. We emphasize that fire-sensitive areas, when severely impacted, may have the robustness of their interaction networks compromised, as these plant-animal networks become structurally less modular and more nested, diverging from areas unburned or affected by low severity fire.

# References

- Alarcón, R., N. M. Waser, and J. Ollerton. 2008. Year-to-year variation in the topology of a plant–pollinator interaction network. Oikos 117:1796-1807.
- Almeida-Neto, M., and W. Ulrich. 2011. A straightforward computational approach for measuring nestedness using quantitative matrices. Environmental Modelling & Software 26:173-178.
- Arruda, F. V. d., D. G. d. Sousa, F. B. Teresa, V. H. M. d. Prado, H. F. d. Cunha, and T. J. Izzo. 2018. Trends and gaps of the scientific literature about the effects of fire on Brazilian Cerrado. Biota Neotropica 18.

- Ballarin, C. S., L. Hachuy-Filho, P. A. Sanz-Veiga, and F. W. Amorim. 2019. The resourcemediated modular structure of a non-symbiotic ant-plant mutualism. Ecological Entomology 45:121-129.
- Ballarin, C. S., G. J. Mores, G. Alcarás de Goés, A. Fidelis, and T. Cornelissen. 2023. Trends and gaps in the study of fire effects on plant–animal interactions in Brazilian ecosystems. Austral Ecology n/a.
- Barlow, J., and C. A. Peres. 2006. Effects of single and recurrent wildfires on fruit production and large vertebrate abundance in a central Amazonian Forest. Biodiversity & Conservation 15:985-1012.
- Bascompte, J., P. Jordano, C. J. Melián, and J. M. Olesen. 2003. The nested assembly of plant–animal mutualistic networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100:9383-9387.
- Beckett, S. J. 2016. Improved community detection in weighted bipartite networks. Royal Society Open Science 3:140536.
- Belyea, L. R., and J. Lancaster. 1999. Assembly rules within a contingent ecology. Oikos 86:402-416.
- Bergstrom, B. J., S. B. Scruggs, and E. M. Vieira. 2023. Tropical savanna small mammals respond to loss of cover following disturbance: a global review of field studies. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 11.
- Blüthgen, N., F. Menzel, and N. Blüthgen. 2006. Measuring specialization in species interaction networks. BMC Ecology 6:9.
- Bowman, D. M. J. S., J. Balch, P. Artaxo, W. J. Bond, M. A. Cochrane, C. M. D'Antonio, R.
  DeFries, F. H. Johnston, J. E. Keeley, M. A. Krawchuk, C. A. Kull, M. Mack, M. A.
  Moritz, S. Pyne, C. I. Roos, A. C. Scott, N. S. Sodhi, and T. W. Swetnam. 2011. The human dimension of fire regimes on Earth. Journal of Biogeography 38:2223-2236.

- Briani, D. C., A. R. T. Palma, E. M. Vieira, and R. P. B. Henriques. 2004. Post-fire succession of small mammals in the Cerrado of central Brazil. Biodiversity & Conservation 13:1023-1037.
- Camargo, A. C. L., R. O. L. Barrio, N. F. de Camargo, A. F. Mendonça, J. F. Ribeiro, C. M. F. Rodrigues, and E. M. Vieira. 2018. Fire affects the occurrence of small mammals at distinct spatial scales in a neotropical savanna. European Journal of Wildlife Research 64:63.
- Camargo, N. F., H. F. M. Oliveira, J. F. Ribeiro, A. J. A. Camargo, and E. M. Vieira. 2019. Availability of food resources and habitat structure shape the individual-resource network of a Neotropical marsupial. Ecology and Evolution 0.
- Cantor, M., M. M. Pires, G. O. Longo, P. R. Guimarães Jr., and E. Z. F. Setz. 2013. Individual variation in resource use by opossums leading to nested fruit consumption. Oikos 122:1085-1093.
- CEPF 2017. Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund. Ecosystem profile Cerrado biodiversity hotspot. Available at <u>https://www.cepf.net/sites/default/files/cerrado-ecosystem-profile-en-updated.pdf</u>. Accessed on November, 09, 2023.
- Countryman, C. M. 1972. The fire environment concept. Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Dantas, V. d. L., and J. G. Pausas. 2013. The lanky and the corky: fire-escape strategies in savanna woody species. Journal of Ecology 101:1265-1272.
- Darosci, A. A. B., F. S. C. Takahashi, C. E. B. Proença, L. H. Soares-Silva, and C. B. R. Munhoz. 2021. Does spatial and seasonal variability in fleshy-fruited trees affect fruit availability? A case study in gallery forests of Central Brazil. Acta Botanica Brasilica 35:456-465.

- Daubenmire, R. 1968. Ecology of fire in grasslands. Pages 209-266 in J. B. Cragg, editor. Advances in Ecological Research. Academic Press.
- Dormann, C. F., J. Fründ, N. Blüthgen, and B. Gruber. 2009. Indices, graphs and null models: analyzing bipartite ecological networks. The Open Ecology Journal 2:7-24.
- Dugger, P. J., P. G. Blendinger, K. Böhning-Gaese, L. Chama, M. Correia, D. M. Dehling, C. Emer, N. Farwig, E. C. Fricke, M. Galetti, D. García, I. Grass, R. Heleno, F. A. F. Jacomassa, S. Moraes, C. Moran, M. C. Muñoz, E. L. Neuschulz, L. Nowak, A. Piratelli, M. A. Pizo, M. Quitián, H. S. Rogers, R. A. Ruggera, F. Saavedra, M. S. Sánchez, R. Sánchez, V. Santillán, D. G. Schabo, F. R. da Silva, S. Timóteo, A. Traveset, M. G. R. Vollstädt, and M. Schleuning. 2019. Seed-dispersal networks are more specialized in the Neotropics than in the Afrotropics. Global Ecology and Biogeography 28:248-261.
- Escuin, S., R. Navarro, and P. Fernández. 2008. Fire severity assessment by using NBR (Normalized Burn Ratio) and NDVI (Normalized Difference Vegetation Index) derived from LANDSAT TM/ETM images. International Journal of Remote Sensing 29:1053-1073.
- Estrada, A., and T. H. Fleming. 2012. Frugivores and seed dispersal. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Fidelis, A., S. T. Alvarado, A. C. S. Barradas, and V. R. Pivello. 2018. The year 2017: megafires and management in the Cerrado. Fire 1:49.
- Flores, B. M., M. de Sá Dechoum, I. B. Schmidt, M. Hirota, A. Abrahão, L. Verona, L. L. F. Pecoral, M. B. Cure, A. L. Giles, P. de Britto Costa, M. B. Pamplona, G. G. Mazzochini, P. Groenendijk, G. L. Minski, G. Wolfsdorf, A. B. Sampaio, F. Piccolo, L. Melo, R. Fiacador de Lima, and R. S. Oliveira. 2021. Tropical riparian forests in danger from large savanna wildfires. Journal of Applied Ecology 58:419-430.

- Fortuna, M. A., D. B. Stouffer, J. M. Olesen, P. Jordano, D. Mouillot, B. R. Krasnov, R. Poulin, and J. Bascompte. 2010. Nestedness versus modularity in ecological networks: two sides of the same coin? Journal of Animal Ecology 79:811-817.
- Fox, B. J. 1982. Fire and mammalian secondary succession in an Australian coastal heath. Ecology 63:1332-1341.
- Fründ, J., K. S. McCann, and N. M. Williams. 2016. Sampling bias is a challenge for quantifying specialization and network structure: lessons from a quantitative niche model. Oikos 125:502-513.
- Hachuy-Filho, L., C. S. Ballarin, and F. W. Amorim. 2020. Changes in plant community structure and decrease in floral resource availability lead to a high temporal β-diversity of plant–bee interactions. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 14:571-583.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., D. Jacob, M. Taylor, T. Guillén Bolaños, M. Bindi, S. Brown, I. A.
  Camilloni, A. Diedhiou, R. Djalante, K. Ebi, F. Engelbrecht, J. Guiot, Y. Hijioka, S.
  Mehrotra, C. W. Hope, A. J. Payne, H.-O. Pörtner, S. I. Seneviratne, A. Thomas, R.
  Warren, and G. Zhou. 2019. The human imperative of stabilizing global climate change at 1.5°C. Science 365:eaaw6974.
- Illumina. 2013. 16S Metagenomic sequencing library preparation. Preparing 16S 1171 Ribosomal RNA Gene Amplicons for the Illumina MiSeq System. Pages 1-28, San Diego, CA, USA.
- Keeley, J. E. 2009. Fire intensity, fire severity and burn severity: a brief review and suggested usage. International Journal of Wildland Fire 18:116-126.
- Kottek, M., J. Grieser, C. Beck, B. Rudolf, and F. Rubel. 2006. World map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. Meteorologische Zeitschrift 15:259-263.
- Krause, A. E., K. A. Frank, D. M. Mason, R. E. Ulanowicz, and W. W. Taylor. 2003. Compartments revealed in food-web structure. Nature 426:282-285.

- Lashley, M. A., M. C. Chitwood, C. S. DePerno, and C. E. Moorman. 2017. Frequent fires eliminate fleshy fruit production. Forest Ecology and Management 405:9-12.
- Laurindo, R. d. S., R. Gregorin, and D. C. Tavares. 2017. Effects of biotic and abiotic factors on the temporal dynamic of bat-fruit interactions. Acta Oecologica 83:38-47.
- Levey, D. J., W. R. Silva, and M. Galetti. 2002. Seed dispersal and frugivory: ecology, evolution, and conservation. CABI.
- Lewinsohn, T. M., P. Inácio Prado, P. Jordano, J. Bascompte, and J. M. Olesen. 2006. Structure in plant–animal interaction assemblages. Oikos 113:174-184.
- Matos, R. M. P., L. L. Aguiar, and P. T. d. A. Martins. 2020. Ocorrência de fogo no Parque Nacional da Chapada dos Veadeiros, Goiás, Brasil: histórico recente no contexto da sua ampliação. GeoTextos 16.
- Michaletz, S. T., and E. A. Johnson. 2007. How forest fires kill trees: a review of the fundamental biophysical processes. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 22:500-515.
- Moritz, M. A., E. Batllori, and B. M. Bolker. 2023. The role of fire in terrestrial vertebrate richness patterns. Ecology Letters 26:563-574.
- Myers, N., R. A. Mittermeier, C. G. Mittermeier, G. A. B. da Fonseca, and J. Kent. 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403:853-858.
- Olesen, J. M., J. Bascompte, Y. L. Dupont, and P. Jordano. 2007. The modularity of pollination networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104:19891-19896.
- Oliveira, P. S., and R. J. Marquis. 2002. The cerrados of Brazil: ecology and natural history of a neotropical savanna. Columbia University Press.

- Oliveira, R. R. M., R. Silva, G. L. Nunes, and G. Oliveira. 2021. PIMBA: a Pipeline for MetaBarcoding Analysis. Pages 106-116 in Advances in Bioinformatics and Computational Biology. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- Paglia, A. P., G. A. B. Fonseca, A. B. Rylands, G. Herrmann, L. M. S. Aguiar, A. G.
  Chiarello, Y. L. R. Leite, L. P. Costa, S. Siciliano, M. C. M. Kierulff, S. L. Mendes, V.
  d. C. Tavares, R. A. Mittermeier, and J. L. Patton. 2012. Lista anotada dos mamíferos do Brasil/Annotated checklist of Brazilian mammals. 2 edition. Conservation International, Arlington, VA.
- Paolucci, L. N., J. H. Schoereder, P. M. Brando, and A. N. Andersen. 2017. Fire-induced forest transition to derived savannas: cascading effects on ant communities. Biological Conservation 214:295-302.
- Pinheiro, R. B. P., G. M. F. Felix, C. F. Dormann, and M. A. R. Mello. 2019. A new model explaining the origin of different topologies in interaction networks. Ecology 100:e02796.
- Puig-Gironès, R., L. Brotons, and P. Pons. 2022. Aridity, fire severity and proximity of populations affect the temporal responses of open-habitat birds to wildfires. Biological Conservation 272:109661.
- Puillandre, N., S. Brouillet, and G. Achaz. 2021. ASAP: assemble species by automatic partitioning. Molecular Ecology Resources 21:609-620.
- Quintero, E., J. Isla, and P. Jordano. 2022. Methodological overview and data-merging approaches in the study of plant-frugivore interactions. Oikos 2022.
- R Core Team. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

- Ramos-Robles, M., E. Andresen, and C. Díaz-Castelazo. 2016. Temporal changes in the structure of a plant-frugivore network are influenced by bird migration and fruit availability. PeerJ 4:e2048.
- Rasband, W. S. 2018. Image J. U. S. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA.
- Redford, K. H., and G. A. B. Fonseca. 1986. The role of gallery forests in the zoogeography of the Cerrado's non-volant mammalian fauna. Biotropica 18:126-135.
- Ribeiro, J. F., and B. M. T. Walter. 1998. Fitofisionomias do Cerrado. Pages 87-166 in S. M. Sano and S. P. Almeida, editors. Cerrado: ambiente e flora. EMBRAPA-CPAC, Planaltina, DF.
- Salgado-Labouriau, M. L., V. Casseti, K. R. Ferraz-Vicentini, L. Martin, F. Soubiès, K. Suguio, and B. Turcq. 1997. Late Quaternary vegetational and climatic changes in cerrado and palm swamp from Central Brazil. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 128:215-226.
- Samarakoon, T., S. Y. Wang, and M. H. Alford. 2013. Enhancing PCR amplification of DNA from recalcitrant plant specimens using a trehalose-based additive. Applications in Plant Sciences 1:1200236.
- Sanaiotti, T. M., and W. E. Magnusson. 1995. Effects of annual fires on the production of fleshy fruits eaten by birds in a Brazilian Amazonian savanna. Journal of Tropical Ecology 11:53-65.
- Sano, E. E., A. A. Rodrigues, E. S. Martins, G. M. Bettiol, M. M. C. Bustamante, A. S. Bezerra, A. F. Couto, V. Vasconcelos, J. Schüler, and E. L. Bolfe. 2019. Cerrado ecoregions: a spatial framework to assess and prioritize Brazilian savanna environmental diversity for conservation. Journal of Environmental Management 232:818-828.

- Schmidt, I. B., and L. Eloy. 2020. Fire regime in the Brazilian Savanna: Recent changes, policy and management. Flora 268:151613.
- Sikes, R. S., W. L. Gannon, t. A. Care, and U. C. o. t. A. S. o. Mammalogists. 2011. Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for the use of wild mammals in research. Journal of Mammalogy 92:235-253.
- Silva, D. C. B., L. d. S. Blos, M. L. F. Fernandes, M. C. A. Camargo, A. A. Ribeiro, F. Tatagiba, and L. H. M. d. F. Neves. 2021. Plano de manejo do Parque Nacional da Chapada dos Veadeiros. Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade, Brasília.
- Simon, M. F., R. Grether, L. P. de Queiroz, C. Skema, R. T. Pennington, and C. E. Hughes. 2009. Recent assembly of the Cerrado, a neotropical plant diversity hotspot, by in situ evolution of adaptations to fire. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106:20359-20364.
- Sousa, W. P. 1984. The role of disturbance in natural communities. Annual review of ecology and systematics 15:353-391.
- Souza, C. V. 2023. Efeitos da pirodiversidade e severidade do fogo na diversidade taxonômica, funcional e no uso do espaço por mamíferos no Cerrado. Universidade de Brasília, Brasília.
- Soverel, N. O., D. D. B. Perrakis, and N. C. Coops. 2010. Estimating burn severity from Landsat dNBR and RdNBR indices across western Canada. Remote Sensing of Environment 114:1896-1909.
- Sutherland, E. F., and C. R. Dickman. 1999. Mechanisms of recovery after fire by rodents in the Australian environment: a review. Wildlife Research 26:405-419.

- Svanbäck, R., and D. I. Bolnick. 2005. Intraspecific competition affects the strength of individual specialization: an optimal diet theory method. Evolutionary Ecology Research 7:993-1012.
- Thébault, E., and C. Fontaine. 2010. Stability of ecological communities and the architecture of mutualistic and trophic networks. Science 329:853-856.
- Tomas, W. M., C. N. Berlinck, R. M. Chiaravalloti, G. P. Faggioni, C. Strüssmann, R.
  Libonati, C. R. Abrahão, G. do Valle Alvarenga, A. E. de Faria Bacellar, F. R. de
  Queiroz Batista, T. S. Bornato, A. R. Camilo, J. Castedo, A. M. E. Fernando, G. O. de
  Freitas, C. M. Garcia, H. S. Gonçalves, M. B. de Freitas Guilherme, V. M. G. Layme,
  A. P. G. Lustosa, A. C. De Oliveira, M. da Rosa Oliveira, A. de Matos Martins
  Pereira, J. A. Rodrigues, T. B. F. Semedo, R. A. D. de Souza, F. R. Tortato, D. F. P.
  Viana, L. Vicente-Silva, and R. Morato. 2021. Distance sampling surveys reveal 17
  million vertebrates directly killed by the 2020's wildfires in the Pantanal, Brazil.
  Scientific Reports 11:23547.
- Vázquez, D. P., C. J. Melián, N. M. Williams, N. Blüthgen, B. R. Krasnov, and R. Poulin. 2007. Species abundance and asymmetric interaction strength in ecological networks. Oikos 116:1120-1127.
- Vázquez, D. P., R. Poulin, B. R. Krasnov, and G. I. Shenbrot. 2005. Species abundance and the distribution of specialization in host–parasite interaction networks. Journal of Animal Ecology 74:946-955.
- Vieira, E. M. 1999. Small mammal communities and fire in the Brazilian Cerrado. Journal of Zoology 249:75-81.
- Vieira, E. M., and J. Marinho-Filho. 1998. Pre- and post-fire habitat utilization by rodents of Cerrado from central Brazil. Biotropica 30:491-496.

- Vizentin-Bugoni, J., P. K. Maruyama, V. J. Debastiani, L. d. S. Duarte, B. Dalsgaard, and M. Sazima. 2016. Influences of sampling effort on detected patterns and structuring processes of a Neotropical plant–hummingbird network. Journal of Animal Ecology 85:262-272.
- White, J., K. Ryan, C. Key, and S. Running. 1996. Remote sensing of forest fire severity and vegetation recovery. International Journal of Wildland Fire 6:125-136.
- Williams, R. J., R. A. Bradstock, G. J. Cary, N. J. Enright, A. M. Gill, A. Leidloff, C. Lucas,R. J. Whelan, A. N. Andersen, and D. J. Bowman. 2009. Interactions between climate change, fire regimes and biodiversity in Australia: a preliminary assessment.
- Zar, J. H. 2009. Biostatistical analysis. 5th edition. Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey.
- Zylinski, S., M. Swan, and H. Sitters. 2022. Interrelationships between fire, habitat, and mammals in a fragmented heathy woodland. Forest Ecology and Management 522:120464.

# Supporting information

**Appendix S1**. Plants detected in the feces of 11 species of rodents and marsupials captured in seven gallery forests affected by different levels of fire severity in the Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park and Fazenda Mata Funda Private Natural Heritage Reserve. The values indicate presence (1) or absence (0).

	Species	Cerradomys scotti	Didelphis albiventris	Gracilinanus agilis	Hylaeamys megacephalus	Necromys lasiurus	Nectomys rattus	Oecomys spp.	Oligoryzomys spp.	Oxymycterus delator	Proechimys roberti	Rhipidomys macrurus	Total
Amaranthaceae													
Amaranthaceae sp.1		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Anacardiaceae													
Anacardiaceae sp.1		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
Anacardiaceae sp.2		0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	6
Apiaceae													
Apiaceae sp.1		0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Apiaceae sp.2		0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	3
Araceae													
Araceae sp.1		0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Asteraceae													
Asteraceae sp.1		0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	8
Asteraceae sp.2		0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	8
Asteraceae sp.3		0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	5
Asteraceae sp.4		0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	2
Asteraceae sp.5		0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Asteraceae sp.6		0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	6
Asteraceae sp.7		0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	3
Asteraceae sp.8		0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	6
Brassicaceae													
Brassicaceae sp.1		0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Brassicaceae sp.2		0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Burseraceae													
Burseraceae sp.1		0	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	4
Burseraceae sp.2		0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	4
Calophyllaceae													
Calophyllaceae sp.1		0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Cannabaceae													

Cannabaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	10
Celastraceae												
Celastraceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	7
Celastraceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	4
Celastraceae sp.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
Chloranthaceae												
Chloranthaceae sp.1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	3
Chrysobalanaceae												
Chrysobalanaceae sp.1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	5
Chrysobalanaceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	2
Clusiaceae												
Clusiaceae sp.1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Cucurbitaceae												
Cucurbitaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	2
Cucurbitaceae sp.2	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	8
Cyperaceae												
Cyperaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Cyperaceae sp.2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Elaeocarpaceae												
Elaeocarpaceae sp.1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Erythroxylaceae												
Erythroxylaceae sp.1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Euphorbiaceae												
Euphorbiaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	10
Euphorbiaceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2
Euphorbiaceae sp.3	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	3
Euphorbiaceae sp.4	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	7
Euphorbiaceae sp.5	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	5
Fabaceae												
Fabaceae sp.1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	3
Fabaceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	3
Fabaceae sp.5	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	4
Fabaceae sp.6	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	2
Fabaceae sp.7	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Fabaceae sp.8	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	7
Fabaceae sp.9	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	5
Fabaceae sp.10	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	3
Fabaceae sp.11	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	3
Fabaceae sp.12	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	4
Fabaceae sp.13	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	4
Fabaceae sp.14	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	9
Fabaceae sp.15	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	2
Fabaceae sp.16	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Fabaceae sp.17	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	7
Fabaceae sp.18	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	4
Fabaceae sp.19	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	2

Fabaceae sp.20	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2
Fabaceae sp.21	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	8
Fabaceae sp.22	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	2
Gentianaceae												
Gentianaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	8
Gesneriaceae												
Gesneriaceae sp.1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	6
Heliconiaceae												
Heliconiaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Heliotropiaceae												
Heliotropiaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Juncaceae												
Juncaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Juncaceae sp.2	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	3
Lamiaceae												
Lamiaceae sp.1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	4
Lythraceae												
Lythraceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	3
Lythraceae sp.2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Malpighiaceae												
Malpighiaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	7
Malpighiaceae sp.2	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	8
Malpighiaceae sp.3	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Malvaceae												
Malvaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Malvaceae sp.2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
Marcgraviaceae												
Marcgraviaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	10
Marcgraviaceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Melastomataceae												
Melastomataceae sp.1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	4
Melastomataceae sp.3	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	5
Melastomataceae sp.4	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.5	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	2
Melastomataceae sp.6	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Melastomataceae sp.7	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	4
Melastomataceae sp.8	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Melastomataceae sp.9	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	4
Melastomataceae sp.10	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Melastomataceae sp.11	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.12	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	3
Melastomataceae sp.13	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	2
Melastomataceae sp.14	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	3
Melastomataceae sp.15	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	5
Melastomataceae sp.16	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	10
Melastomataceae sp.17	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	7
*												

Melastomataceae sp.18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.19	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.20	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	3
Melastomataceae sp.21	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.22	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	9
Melastomataceae sp.23	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	6
Melastomataceae sp.24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.25	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.26	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	7
Melastomataceae sp.27	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	4
Melastomataceae sp.28	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	3
Melastomataceae sp.29	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.30	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.31	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.32	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Melastomataceae sp.33	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
Melastomataceae sp.34	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	11
Myrtaceae												
Myrtaceae sp.1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	2
Myrtaceae sp.3	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.4	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.5	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.6	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.7	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.8	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.9	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.10	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.11	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.12	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	4
Myrtaceae sp.13	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	7
Myrtaceae sp.14	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Myrtaceae sp.15	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	7
Myrtaceae sp.16	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	7
Myrtaceae sp.17	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	3
Myrtaceae sp.18	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.19	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.20	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.21	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.22	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	4
Myrtaceae sp.23	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.24	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.25	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.26	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Myrtaceae sp.27	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	2
Myrtaceae sp.28	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1

Myrtaceae sp.29	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	3
Myrtaceae sp.30	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.31	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.32	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.33	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.34	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Myrtaceae sp.35	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	4
Myrtaceae sp.36	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2
Myrtaceae sp.37	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	5
Nyctaginaceae												
Nyctaginaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	10
Nyctaginaceae sp.2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Nyctaginaceae sp.3	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Nyctaginaceae sp.4	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	3
Nyctaginaceae sp.5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	2
Onagraceae												
Onagraceae sp.1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	9
Onagraceae sp.2	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	7
Onagraceae sp.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Onagraceae sp.4	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	2
Onagraceae sp.5	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Onagraceae sp.6	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	3
Onagraceae sp.7	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	2
Onagraceae sp.8	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	3
Onagraceae sp.9	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	3
Onagraceae sp.10	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	2
Onagraceae sp.11	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	3
Onagraceae sp.12	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	3
Onagraceae sp.13	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	3
Onagraceae sp.14	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	2
Orchidaceae												
Orchidaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	2
Oxalidaceae												
Oxalidaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	5
Papaveraceae												
Papaveraceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	9
Passifloraceae												
Passifloraceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	9
Phyllanthaceae												
Phyllanthaceae sp.1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Phyllanthaceae sp.2	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	4
Phytolaccaceae												
Phytolaccaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Poaceae												
Poaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	7
Poaceae sp.3	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	10

Poaceae sp.4	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	7
Poaceae sp.5	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	5
Poaceae sp.6	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	8
Poaceae sp.7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Polygalaceae												
Polygalaceae sp.1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	3
Primulaceae												
Primulaceae sp.1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Primulaceae sp.2	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	5
Primulaceae sp.3	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Proteaceae												
Proteaceae sp.1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	2
Proteaceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Rhamnaceae												
Rhamnaceae sp.1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	11
Rosaceae												
Rosaceae sp.1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Rubiaceae												
Rubiaceae sp.1	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	3
Rubiaceae sp.2	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	4
Rubiaceae sp.3	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	4
Rubiaceae sp.4	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Rubiaceae sp.5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
Rubiaceae sp.6	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	4
Rubiaceae sp.8	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	3
Rubiaceae sp.9	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	3
Rubiaceae sp.10	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	5
Rubiaceae sp.11	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	4
Rubiaceae sp.12	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	6
Rutaceae	0	-	0	-	Ũ	-	-	Ũ	•	Ũ	•	U
Rutaceae sp 1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	2
Rutaceae sp 2	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	-
Sanindaceae	0	0	1	•	Ū	1	1	1	1	Ŭ	Ŭ	0
Sapindaceae sp 1	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	4
Sapindaceae sp 2	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	4
Sapotaceae	0	1	1	•	Ū	0	0	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ		
Sapotaceae sp 1	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	4
Sinarunaceae	0	1	0	•	Ũ	0	1	Ŭ	Ũ	Ŭ		
Siparunaceae sn 1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	4
Solanaceae	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	-
Solanaceae sp 1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Sturnencene	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2
Styracaceae an 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	r
Styracaceae sp.1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	ے ا
Stylacaceae Sp.2	U	0	U	1	1	1	U	1	0	U	0	4
Sympiocaceae	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	4
sympiocaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	U	0	0	U	U	U	1	4

Symplocaceae sp.2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	3
Urticaceae												
Urticaceae sp.1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2
Urticaceae sp.2	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	6
Verbenaceae												
Verbenaceae sp.1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	10
Zingiberaceae												
Zingiberaceae sp.1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Zingiberaceae sp.2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
Total	6	77	73	103	44	96	105	61	56	27	80	728



Appendix S2. Plant-animal interaction networks for wet season in four gallery forests in the Cerrado. Sites from left to right, from top to bottom: Mulungu 1 (unburned), Maytrea 2 (low), Maytrea 1 (moderate), and Estiva 1(moderate).







**Appendix S3**. Plant-animal interaction networks for dry season in five gallery forests in the Cerrado. Sites from left to right, from top to bottom: Mulungu 1 (unburned), Estiva 2 (low), Maytrea 2 (low), Maytrea 1 (moderate), and Estiva 1(moderate).



**Appendix S4**. Relationship between the observed values for a) nestedness, b) modularity, c) specialization, and d) interaction diversity (Shannon) and the values of PC 1 axes from Principal Component Analysis (PCA) conducted with six habitat variables (canopy cover, herbaceous cover, distance to the nearest tree, circumference of the nearest tree, understory obstruction, and quantity of fallen logs) in five gallery forests in the Cerrado. Blue circles represent interaction networks for the rainy season, and yellow circles represent interaction networks for the dry season.



**Appendix S5**. Relationship between the observed values for a) nestedness, b) modularity, c) specialization, and d) interaction diversity (Shannon) and the values of PC 2 axes from Principal Component Analysis (PCA) conducted with six habitat variables (canopy cover, herbaceous cover, distance to the nearest tree, circumference of the nearest tree, understory obstruction, and quantity of fallen logs) in five gallery forests in the Cerrado. Blue circles represent interaction networks for the rainy season, and yellow circles represent interaction networks for the dry season.

# Capítulo 3: Fire severity affects consumption and potential dispersal of seeds by small mammals in a Neotropical savanna

#### Abstract

The seed dispersal process holds the potential to influence the recruitment of plant species, yielding profound consequences on vegetation structure, particularly in ecologically diverse habitats and environments undergoing succession. Nonetheless, disruptions in the phases of the dispersal cycle can be induced by environmental disturbances, such as fires, leading to varied impacts on the agents involved. We investigated the potential role of rodents and marsupials as seed dispersers in a neotropical savanna (Cerrado). We also evaluated the impact of fire severity on the seed dispersal services provided by these small mammals in gallery forests three years after a major fire event. For 13 small mammal species captured, we recorded a total of 11,688 seeds in fecal samples, encompassing 28 plant species from at least eight families. An NMDS analysis revealed differences among rodent and marsupial species in terms of potentially dispersed plants, with most seed species being consumed by a single species (n = 18). Fire severity negatively affected richness of defecated seeds and changed the relative role of these animals as seed dispersers. Evaluation of fire-severity effects on seed richness indicated lower richness in areas burned with higher severity for each of the four most abundant small mammals. Furthermore, fire severity significantly affected the composition of seed species occurring in the fecal samples. Our results indicated that highseverity wildfires affect highly relevant ecological processes, such as seed dispersal by animals. These species-specific effects could impact the recruitment dynamics of plant species and, consequently, the vegetation recovery in fire-affected areas.

**Keywords**: Cerrado, Plant-animal interactions, gallery forest, wildfire, Rodentia, Didelphimorphia, endozoochory

# Introduction

Seed dispersal is a fundamental process within the plant life cycle (Wang & Smith 2002) whose intricate mechanism can be facilitated by a variety of animal groups. Animals may increase the likelihood that dispersed seeds will evade local competition and escape seed predators and pathogens (van der Pijl 1982, Howe & Miriti 2004). Nonetheless, disruptions in the different phases of the dispersal cycle can be induced by environmental disturbances, such as fire events. These events lead to varied impacts on the agents Involved in the dispersion process (Parr et al. 2007, Markl et al. 2012, Cazetta & Vieira 2021). Understanding the ramifications of fire-induced alterations is imperative for comprehending how ecosystems will react to fire events of distinct magnitudes.

Fire events are a prevalent phenomenon in the Cerrado (Neotropical savanna), with a history of occurrence spanning over 30,000 years (Salgado-Labouriau et al. 1997). The Cerrado encompasses a diverse array of plant formations that range from grasslands and savannas to forested physiognomies (Sano et al. 2019). The open formations, including grasslands and savannas, have evolved to tolerate and even benefit from fire, while the forested areas are more vulnerable to such disturbances (Dantas & Pausas 2013). In recent years, the Cerrado has been suffering intensified fire regimes (Schmidt & Eloy 2020), mainly because of global climate changes, human land use, and the lack of a cohesive fire management policy (Durigan & Ratter 2016, Schmidt & Eloy 2020).

Natural or human-made burnings influence directly or indirectly the fauna inhabiting fire-prone ecosystems (Bergstrom et al. 2023). Particularly for small mammals, certain species thrive while others decline, resulting in a turnover of species over the post-burn period (Fox 1982, Vieira & Marinho-Filho 1998, Vieira 1999, Briani et al. 2004). In forested ecosystems that experience infrequent fires, the post-fire recovery of small mammal communities is slow, taking years for populations of some fire-sensitive species (mostly

arboreal or scansorial species) to reestablish themselves (Mendonça et al. 2015, Cazetta & Vieira 2021). This longer recovery period is probably a consequence of the lower resilience and more protracted post-fire regeneration of forest plant communities (Hoffmann et al. 2009, Armenteras et al. 2021, González et al. 2021).

The impacts of fire can also have indirect effects on ecological processes involving small mammals. These animals can function as both seed predators (Vieira et al. 2003, DeMattia et al. 2004) or dispersers (Charles-Dominique et al. 1981, Magnusson & Sanaiotti 1987, Brewer & Rejmánek 1999, Cáceres & Lessa 2012, Sahley et al. 2016). Dispersal services are provided mainly by consumption of fruits containing small seeds, which can remain viable after passing through the digestive tract (Magnusson & Sanaiotti 1987, Camargo et al. 2011, Lessa et al. 2019, Godó et al. 2022). The role of small mammals as seed predators or dispersers, however, can be influenced by several factors, such as seed/fruit physical, chemical, and phenological traits and the availability of fruits and other food resources in the environment (Rusch et al. 2014, Gong et al. 2015, Stuhler & Orrock 2016, Zeng et al. 2022). These factors can be abruptly and markedly affected by environmental changes such as fires, which ultimately also affects interactions between seeds and animals (Godó et al. 2022).

The impacts of fire on forest formations of the Cerrado depend on several factors, including weather conditions, available fuel load, and topography – all of which collectively determine the fire's behavior (Countryman 1972). As a consequence of all these factors, fire incidents can manifest different intensities and propagation rates, thereby causing divergent impacts on vegetation, which can be categorized according to levels of severity, including damage to canopy cover (Flores et al. 2021). Distinct levels of fire severity can cause diverse effects not only on small mammal species but also on their roles as seed predators and seed dispersers. Nonetheless, despite the Cerrado hosting at least 103 small mammals (rodents and
marsupials) that include fruits and seeds in their diets (Paglia et al. 2012), our understanding of the role of these species as seed dispersers is very scarce (but see Magnusson & Sanaiotti 1987, Camargo et al. 2011, Lessa et al. 2019). Even less known are the impacts caused by fire on seed dispersal processes facilitated by small mammals within the Cerrado (but see Cazetta & Vieira 2021).

We investigated the potential role of rodents and marsupials as seed dispersers in Cerrado areas and the impact of fire severity on dispersal services provided by these animals in gallery forests three years after the occurrence of a large wildfire. To achieve that, we assessed the groups of plants consumed and potentially dispersed by these animals and identified which small mammal species would play a relevant role in the endozoochoric dispersal process. Regarding the influence of fire, we investigated the effects of fire severity on potential seed dispersal services provided by small mammals in gallery forests of the Cerrado. We hypothesized that fire severity alters the dispersal potential of small mammal species, leading to changes in seed consumption patterns by these animals. This might result in a reduction of both quantity and richness of seeds consumed in the areas most affected by fire. Thus, we predicted that seed diversity would be higher in gallery forests that experienced less severe fire impact.

#### Methods

#### Study area

We conducted the study in the Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park (PNCV) and the Private Natural Heritage Reserve (RPPN) Fazenda Mata Funda, two contiguous Conservation Units (Cus) in the Cerrado of central Brazil (Appendix S1). The PNCV covers approximately 240,000 hectares in the northeast of the Goiás state while the contiguous RPPN Fazenda Mata Funda covers 110 hectares. The region has an equatorial climate with a marked dry season

(Kottek et al. 2006) from May to September. As in most of the Cerrado, this region has historically suffered from recurrent fires in the late dry season (Silva et al. 2021). The most recent major fire in this region occurred in 2017 and burned about 66,000 ha (>27% of the total area of the park, see Nunes et al. 2023 for details). In this area burned in 2017, we sampled for small mammals in gallery forests and adjacent grasslands. Gallery forests are associated with watercourses with an average height of 20-30 meters and canopy cover between 70 and 95% (Redford & Fonseca 1986). These forests are of great importance for maintaining the diversity of non-volant mammals in the Cerrado (Redford & Fonseca 1986) and are more sensitive to fire than the open formations (Hoffmann et al. 2009).

#### Small mammal sampling

We conducted small mammal sampling during the rainy (February and March 2020) and dry season (September and October 2020). In the rainy season, we sampled five gallery forests and five adjacent grasslands. These sites were sampled again in the dry season, together with two additional gallery forests and two adjacent grasslands, for a total of 14 study sites. These sites had at least 1 km of distance between them (Appendix S1). For trapping small mammals, we established two transects with 30 equidistant trapping stations spaced at 15-meter intervals. We placed live traps (Sherman® traps) of two sizes ('small': 9 cm x 9.5 cm x 23 cm; and 'large': 11 cm x 12.5 cm x 37 cm) alternately on the ground and in the understory at each station, except for five stations where we placed wire mesh cage traps (45 cm x 16 cm x 16 cm) instead of large Sherman traps. All traps were set for five consecutive nights and were baited with a homogeneous mixture of banana, cornmeal, sardines, peanut butter, and palm oil. We renewed the bait every two days or as needed.

For each captured animal we recorded species, sex, and reproductive status, releasing the individuals at their original capture point after ear-tagging. Our animal handling

procedures adhered to the guidelines of the American Society of Mammal Zoologists (Sikes et al. 2011), and the study received ethical approval from the University of Brasília's Animal Ethics Committee (CEUA), protocol number 4783821.

#### Fecal sampling and analysis

In order to assess the seeds potentially dispersed by small mammals, we collected the fecal samples from the traps where the animals were captured and those obtained during animal handling. In the laboratory, we washed the collected samples and examined them under a stereoscope, specifically looking for seeds that seemed to be undamaged. For the taxonomic identification of these seeds, we referred to pertinent literature sources (Kuhlmann & Darosci 2018, Kuhlmann & Fagg 2018) and sought the expertise of a botanical specialist in seeds of Cerrado flora (Dr. Marcelo Kuhlmann). Subsequently, we tested a subset of seeds for viability using the tetrazolium test. This is a commonly employed test which indicates whether the embryos present viable tissue (Bartuszevige & Gorchov 2006, Genrich et al. 2017, França-Neto & Krzyzanowski 2019).

## Data analysis

For evaluating the relation between small mammals and consumed plant species we run the NMDS (non-metric multidimensional scaling) ordination technique using R 4.2.1 software (R Core Team 2022), with the vegan package (Oksanen J 2022). We arranged the small mammal species based on the seed species found in their fecal samples, utilizing the Bray-Curtis index. For this analysis, we considered only rodent and marsupial species with a minimum of five fecal samples obtained from the 14 sampled areas.

We organized the small mammals according to their potential roles as seed dispersers, classifying the species (minimum of five captured individuals) based on the following attributes (considered to be relevant for their role as seed dispersers): (1) estimated seed

richness (considering 10 samples, calculated using EstimateS 9.1.0 software; Colwell 2013); (2) proportion of fecal samples containing seeds; (3) average number of seeds per sample; and (4) abundance of the species in the surveyed areas as indicated by number of individuals captured. Considering the variance in magnitudes across these variables, we used the sum of z-score values obtained for each attribute as an indicator of the relevance of each small mammal as seed disperser.

We evaluated the effect of fire severity on diversity and species composition of seeds potentially dispersed only in the forest sites sampled (n = 7). For this, we used the Differentiated Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR), which is the difference between pre- and post-fire values of the Normalized Burn Ratio (NBR) (Escuin et al. 2008) (see Appendix S2 for details). This index is closely tied to vegetation structure and is commonly used for assessing the severity of fire impact on vegetation (Keeley 2009, Soverel et al. 2010), being categorized as follows: 1) regeneration (< -0.1); 2) unburned or similar (between -0.1 and +0.1); 3) low severity (between +0.1 and +0.27); 4) moderate severity (between +0.27 and +0.66); and 5) high severity (> 0.66). For our studied sites, there was not any site in the 'high severity' class.

We compared the richness of visually undamaged seeds in fecal samples among distinct severity classes associated to the sampled forest sites (unburned, low, and moderate). For these comparisons, we constructed sample-based interpolation (rarefaction) and extrapolation curves using the software iNEXT online (Chao et al. 2014, Chao et al. 2016) with 999 randomization and 84% confidence intervals, used for between-curve comparisons because it mimics a statistical test with an  $\alpha$  level of 5% (null hypothesis rejection in case of non-overlapping intervals; MacGregor-Fors & Payton 2013). These comparisons were made for the entire small mammal community (fecal samples of all species considered together) and independently for each species with at least seven fecal samples in each fire-severity class.

We also compared the seed species composition among fire-severity classes performing a one-way permutation multivariate ANOVA analysis (PERMANOVA; Anderson 2001), grouping the fecal samples (all mammal species considered together) according to the three classes (unburned, low, and moderate) and using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity. Prior to the analysis, we applied a Wisconsin transformation to the species matrices, for reducing the influence of highly abundant seed species (Legendre & Gallagher 2001). We run a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) to illustrate differences in 'community' (i.e. group of seed species associated to each fire-severity class) composition between the fire-severity classes. We also performed a PERMDISP test on the same Bray–Curtis matrix to test for between-group differences in the multivariate dispersion. Moreover, we used a similarity percentage (SIMPER) analysis to determine the seed species that best explained the differences in the 'community' composition. We performed the PERMANOVA and SIMPER analyses in Past software (Hammer et al. 2001) and PERMDIST analysis in the R package vegan (Oksanen et al. 2022).

## Results

For a total effort of 14,400 trap nights, we captured 405 individuals of small mammals. We considered species of the same genus whose accurate identification was not possible in the field as only one 'species'. The following species (or group of species) were captured: the rodents *Calomys* spp. (included *C. expulsus* and *C. tener*, n = 15 individuals), *Cerradomys* scotti (n = 5), *Hylaeamys megacephalus* (n = 14) *Necromys lasiurus* (n = 46), *Nectomys* spp. (includes *N. squamipes* and *N. rattus*, n = 41), *Oecomys* spp. (included *O.* gr. *catherinae* and *O. cleberi*; n = 21), *Oligoryzomys* spp. (included *O. mattogrossae* and *O. nigripes*, n = 10); *Oxymycterus delator* (n = 134), *Oxymycterus* sp. (n = 3), *Proechimys roberti* (n = 2),

*Rhipidomys macrurus* (n = 81), and *Thrichomys apereoides* (n = 4); and two marsupials (*Didelphis albiventris*, n = 8; and *Gracilinanus agilis*, n = 21).

We collected 395 fecal samples of which 139 (35.18%) contained at least one apparently undamaged seed. In total, we tallied 11,688 seeds encompassing 28 plant species belonging to eight families (Asteraceae, n = 2; Cucurbitaceae, n = 1; Melastomataceae, n = 9; Piperaceae, n = 2; Poaceae, n = 5; Rubiaceae, n = 1; Solanaceae, n = 1; and Urticaceae, n = 2; Appendix S3), with five morphotypes whose taxonomic identity could not be determined. The mean seed diameter was 1.35 mm (standard deviation = 0.63; median = 1 mm, range: 0.6-3.0 mm).

We detected seeds in at least one fecal sample for 13 out of the 14 species captured, with the exception of *P. roberti*. The evaluation of the relation between small mammals and seeds found intact in the fecal samples, conducted using NMDS, revealed distinct patterns among the animals in terms of the consumed plant species (Figure 1). Most of the seed species were consumed by only one small mammal species (n = 18). Some pioneer species (from the genera *Cecropia* and *Miconia*), however, were consumed by at least three mammal species (Appendix S3). For seeds belonging to the *Miconia* (Melastomataceae) genus, for which the tetrazolium test could be performed, 23% of 1456 seeds tested remained viable after passing through the digestive tract.

Our results indicated that fire severity affected the richness of potential small mammal dispersers. We captured seven small mammals in the low-severity sites with >6 fecal samples but only four in the moderate-severity sites (Figure 2). Fire severity also changed the relative potential role of small mammals as seed dispersers. The marsupial *D. albiventris* was the best-ranked potential seed disperser in the gallery forests with low severity but was apparently absent in the forests affected by moderate fire severity. In these forests, the best-ranked species was the rodent *O. delator* (Figure 2). For the unburned sites, however, only two

species had sufficient sample size, *R. macrurus* (49 individuals) and *Nectomys* spp (6 individuals), which precluded the ordination of the species. In these sites, *R. macrurus* was the main potential seed disperser (seeds occurred in 38% of 48 samples, estimated seed richness = 2.74, and mean seed number per sample = 4.85). Only one sample (16.7%) of *Nectomys* spp contained seeds (one seed).



Figure 1. NMDS of seed species found in the feces of different small mammal species sampled in seven gallery forests and seven adjacent open areas in the Cerrado of central Brazil (stress = 0.062; Bray-Curtis similarity index). Abbreviations for small mammal species.: Calo = *Calomys* spp.; Dide = *Didelphis albiventris*; Grac = *Gracilinanus agilis*; Hyla = *Hylaeamys megacephalus*; Necr = *Necromys lasiurus*; Nect = *Nectomys* sp.; Oeco = *Oecomys* spp; Olig = *Oligoryzomys* spp.; Oxym = *Oxymycterus* delator; Rhip = *Rhipidomys macrurus*. Plant species with the same positions in NMDS two-dimensional space were represented by a single point, according to the following groups: Group 1: *Clibadium armani* (Asteraceae), morfo 12, morfo 18, morfo 24, and Poaceae sp.1; Group 2: *Miconia* sp. 2 (Melastomataceae), morfo 26, Poaceae sp. 5, and *Cecropia* sp.1 (Urticaceae); Group 3:

*Miconia* sp. 1 (Melastomataceae), *Miconia* sp. 3 (Melastomataceae), Poaceae sp. 2, Poaceae sp. 3, Poaceae sp. 4, *Sabicea brasiliensis* (Rubiaceae), and *Solanum* sp. (Solanaceae).



Figure 2. Effect of fire severity on the potential role of small mammals as seed dispersers in Cerrado gallery forests. The role of each species as seed disperser was determined considering four characteristics, as following: 1) estimated seed richness considering 10 fecal samples (see Figure 3), for between-species comparison, 2) percentage of samples containing seeds (seed incidence), 3) mean number of seeds per sample, and 4) species abundance (*i.e.* number

of captured individuals). For each characteristic, we used z-transformed values for enabling comparison among variables. We used the sum of these z-scores of these four variables for ranking small mammals in relation to their potential role as seed dispersers in forests within each class of fire intensity. Classes of fire severity with sufficient sample size for analyses were 'Low' (a) and 'Moderate' (b).

Fire severity affected seed dispersal services provided by small mammals. For each of the four most abundant species, the classes of higher fire severity presented lower richness than the classes with lower fire severity. Similarly, for the overall seed-species richness (gathering all fecal samples), the lowest richness was found for the sites in the highest fire severity class (*i.e.*, moderate), but with some overlapping between confidence intervals (Figure 3).

The evaluation of the effect of fire severity on the composition of plant species found intact in the feces indicated significant differences among the three severity classes (unburned, low, and moderate; PERMANOVA test: SS = 19.06; d.f. = 2, 68; Pseudo-F = 2.621; P = 0.013; 9999 permutations; Figure 4). These differences were not caused by differences in dispersion between groups (PERMDIST test: SS = 0.909; d.f. = 2, 68; F = 2.175, P = 0.12; 999 permutations). *A posteriori* between-group comparisons indicated that the fire-severity class 'unburned' differed from both 'low' (P = 0.020) and 'moderate' (P = 0.018) but these two latter classes did not differ from each other (P = 0.236). The SIMPER analyses for paired comparisons between the class 'unburned' with the two other classes indicated that the same three species were among the four most relevant seed species contributing to the dissimilarity between class pairs (~68% of the total dissimilarity for both comparisons; Table 1). These species were two *Miconia* species (sp6 and sp8) and *Tilesia baccata* (Asteraceae). The *Miconia* species presented much higher percentage of contribution

to the total dissimilarity (>56% for the two species combined in both paired comparisons) than any other one (all remaining species presented <4.5% of contribution for both paired comparisons). These two dominating *Miconia* species showed opposite patterns of dominance in relation to occurrence in the unburned class, whereas *T. baccata* occurred only in the fecal samples obtained in sites with low or moderate fire severity (Table 1).



Figure 3. Rarefaction and extrapolation curves of species richness of seeds found in fecal samples of small mammals (rodents and marsupials) sampled in seven gallery forests in the Cerrado of central Brazil. These forests were grouped in three categories according to the severity of a large wildfire that occurred three years before sampling. These categories were: unburned areas, areas that suffered low severity fire, and areas that suffered moderate severity fire (severity inferred using the differenced normalized burn ratio - dNBR). The analyses were performed for all species considered together (11 species; a) and for the four species (or genus) with sufficient sample size for analysis ( $n \ge 7$  per fire severity class; b = Gracilinanus agilis, c = Oxymycterus delator, d = Oecomys spp, e = Rhipidomys macrurus). For within species comparisons, limited sample sizes precluded the evaluation among the three classes of fire severity.



Figure 4. PCoA (principal coordinate analysis) plot of seed community dissimilarity (based on seeds found in small-mammal fecal samples) among forest sites belonging to 3 fire-severity classes (triangle = unburned, circle = low, square = moderate) sampled 3 years after the

occurrence of fire in gallery forests of the Brazilian Cerrado. Filled rectangles indicate the centroids of the 95% ellipses. Percentage of total variation explained by each axis in indicated between parentheses.

## Discussion

We investigated the potential role of small mammals as seed dispersers in the neotropical savanna (Cerrado) and the effects of a large wildfire on such role. We found apparently undamaged seeds of 28 plant species belonging to eight families (mainly Melastomataceae and Poaceae) in 35.18% of fecal samples belonging to 13 of 14 small mammals captured. The role of these animals as potential seed dispersers was inversely related with the level of fire severity three years after the fire occurrence. In gallery forests that suffered a low level of fire severity, we recorded seven small mammals dispersing seeds whereas in gallery forests with moderate level of fire severity this number dropped to four. Moreover, an increase in fire severity caused a reduction in the richness of plant species potentially dispersed by each of the four most common small mammal species.

The group of potentially dispersed plants was predominantly composed of species with small-seeded fruits (mean seed diameter = 1.35 mm), which is mainly determined by morphological limitations of these small animals. Similarly, Lessa *et al.* (2019) investigated fecal contents of small mammals in riparian forests of southeastern Brazil and reported that 92% of the seeds found in the feces of six small rodents had a diameter of < 1 mm. The prevalence of small seeds is a characteristic feature of pioneer species (Dalling & Hubbell 2002), which can potentially benefit from fire events to establish themselves within forested areas. Consequently, by specifically dispersing these small seeds, small mammals might play a significant role in facilitating the establishment of pioneer plant populations in regions affected by fires.

We detected that the family exhibiting the highest richness and quantity of seeds in the fecal samples was Melastomataceae (Appendix S3). Several plants of this highly speciose family (177 genera and ~5,750 species; Goldenberg *et al.* 2023) are categorized as pioneers due to their diminutive fruits and seeds, which are frequently consumed by small mammals (Lessa & da Costa 2010, Camargo *et al.* 2011, Camargo & Vieira 2022). This family includes *Miconia*, the most speciose genus occurring in the samples. Seeds of *Miconia* remain viable even after passing through the digestive tract of small mammals (as indicated by our viability testes; see also Magnusson & Sanaiotti 1987, Sahley *et al.* 2016), which reinforces the potential role of small mammals as dispersers of *Miconia* spp. Species from this genus are highly abundant in the Cerrado and exhibit massive fruiting, sometimes spanning several months (Messeder *et al.* 2020). These plants possibly serve as a relevant source of water and sugar in the diet of small mammals, particularly during periods of drought (Camargo *et al.* 2011), making them pivotal resources for Neotropical fauna (Messeder *et al.* 2020).

Our results indicated that the role of small mammals as seed dispersers through endozoochory is related to a restricted group of small-seeded plants. This potential service, however, must not be underestimated. Small mammals constitute nearly half of all mammal species, have a widespread global distribution, and make up a substantial portion of terrestrial mammal populations in diverse natural environments (Mittermeier & Wilson 2015, Lacher *et al.* 2016, Wilson *et al.* 2017). In the neotropical region, most small rodents and marsupials feed on fruits and seeds to some extent (Paglia et al. 2012). Seed viability after passing through the digestive tract may range from 23% (for *Miconia* seeds in the present study) to 30% (overall percentage for 7 neotropical small rodents; Sahley *et al.* 2016). While this proportion may be low, these animals generally occur in high densities and ingest high absolute numbers of seeds. Thus, it is likely that they deposit a substantial quantity of seeds in suitable germination sites, potentially contributing to the establishment of small-seeded plants

(Godó et al. 2022). Additional components of the seed dispersal cycle (*e.g.*, quality of deposition sites, germination rates, and seedling establishment; Wang & Smith 2002), however, must be understood for the evaluation of the actual small-rodent contributions to seedling recruitment.

The role of small rodents in facilitating seed dispersal, however, is not limited to endozoochory. In some cases, these animals remove and store fruits and seeds, which may eventually germinate (Jensen 1985, Nyiramana *et al.* 2011). Moreover, small rodents often consume only the pulp of fruits with large seeds, leaving several seeds unharmed (Vieira *et al.* 2003), in some cases far from the parent tree (Briani *et al.* 2001). This behavior can enhance seed germination in suitable locations for seedling establishment.

The role of small mammals in seed dispersal undergoes changes when fires alter vegetation structure and small mammal communities. This can result in reduced seed removal rates (Paglia *et al.* 1995, Cazetta & Vieira 2021; but see Zwolak *et al.* 2010). These changes might be caused by an increased perception of predation risk experienced by small mammals in more open environments, directly influencing their foraging choices (Boone *et al.* 2022, Merz *et al.* 2023). While our study did not specifically investigate the concept of a "landscape of fear", this phenomenon could be present in gallery forests that have been severely impacted by fires. In certain cases, canopy cover has been reduced to as low as 20% in our study areas (Flores *et al.* 2021), potentially creating conditions that affect the behavior of small mammals.

The differences among small mammals in terms of seed species consumed that we detected (Figure 1) likely reflect the interaction of various factors, including arboreal activity, nutritional requirements, body size, and skull morphology. In our study, the largest species captured (*D. albiventris*; ~0.5–2.0 kg) consumed exclusively two out of the three seed species found in its fecal samples, including the largest seeds found in any sample (Cucurbitaceae sp.; diameter = 3mm). This marsupial ranked first among potential seed dispersers in forests

classified with the lowest level of fire severity but was absent in sites more severely impacted by fire. This absence could potentially have a detrimental effect on seed dispersal processes, particularly for seeds that are not dispersed by other small mammals in the area. Marsupials of the *Didelphis* genus are known to be relevant seed dispersers in Neotropical forests (Medellin 1994, Cáceres *et al.* 1999, Cáceres 2002, Cantor *et al.* 2010). Their body mass facilitates the consumption of larger seeds in greater quantities, as well as the ability to travel longer distances (Cáceres & Lessa 2012). Consequently, the role of this marsupial as a disperser probably are not exerted by other small mammals in areas severely impacted by fires, at least for certain plant species.

Another marsupial species, though smaller (*Gracilinanus agilis*), was a relevant seed disperser in gallery forests affected by low or moderate fire severity. This result supports available data regarding the frugivory and seed dispersal role of *G. agilis* in other Cerrado regions, particularly for pioneer plants (Lessa & da Costa 2010, Camargo *et al.* 2011). Therefore, considering that the availability of dispersers is reduced in areas more severely affected by fire, the persistence of this species might be even more relevant for vegetation regeneration in these areas. This was also the case of the rodent *Oxymycterus delator*, one of the top three species in the ranking of seed dispersers in forests under low fire severity and ascending to the first position in forests under moderate fire severity. This finding was unexpected, since *Oxymycterus* spp are reported to consume mainly invertebrates (Suarez 1994, Talamoni *et al.* 2008, Ribeiro *et al.* 2019). Our results indicated, however, that *O. delator* may present a flexible diet, opportunistically exploiting fruits and seeds.

Except for *O. delator*, the best-ranked potential dispersers are recognized as basically frugivores, like arboreal rodents of the genus *Oecomys* and *Rhipidomys* (Paglia *et al.* 2012, Ribeiro *et al.* 2019, Camargo *et al.* 2021). Indeed, *R. macrurus* was the main potential seed disperser in 'unburned' sites. This rodent was among the species most negatively impacted by

fire severity, displaying an intermediate role as a potential disperser in low-severity areas and with very few records in areas more severely impacted by fire (only 2 samples). As an arboreal species, this rodent probably feeds mainly in the forest canopy (Camargo *et al.* 2018), possibly feeding on fruits of plants that do not thrive in areas severely affected by fire. Consequently, it becomes less abundant (and may even disappear) in these heavily impacted areas.

The small mammal communities showed relatively low redundancy regarding the seed species potentially dispersed (Figure 1). In systems with limited functional redundancy, species loss can result in more relevant impacts since the remaining species are unable to compensate for the same functions (Naeem 1998). In addition to the low functional redundancy observed, there was also a reduction in the diversity of forest-specialist species (*i.e.*, arboreal species) in areas more severely impacted by fire. A similar pattern was reported for arboreal marsupials in Australian forests, where some species had their populations reduced in patches affected by high-severity fires (Lindenmayer *et al.* 2013). In our study, the combination of low functional redundancy and the absence (or at least reduced abundance) of forest-specialist species in the most disturbed areas could lead to a decline in the seed dispersal function performed by small mammals. The persistence of these impacts could be long-lasting, as fire-affected animal populations might not revert to pre-fire conditions even after 10 years following high-severity fire events (Campbell-Jones *et al.* 2022).

The variation in composition and abundance of potentially dispersing small mammals across the severity gradient was likely associated with differences in vegetation structure, as suggested for other forested environments (González *et al.* 2021). The recovery of vegetation structure in severely burned areas might also be considerably slower than in less severely impacted ones due to greater tree mortality, loss of canopy coverage, and reduced understory connectivity. In our study area, there was a variation in the impacts suffered by gallery forests

during the 2017 fire, but with some areas experiencing up to 80% loss in canopy coverage (Flores *et al.* 2021). Moreover, the gallery forests cover a limited total area within the landscape, located relatively far from each other (from the perspective of a small animal) and immersed in a non-forested matrix (Appendix 1). This spatial configuration probably hinders the recolonization of forest-dwelling species (*e.g.*, *R. macrurus*, *Oecomys* spp.) in the more severely impacted sites and may have contributed to maintaining lower abundances of these species in these sites even three years after the fire event. This landscape effect on the recolonization of burned areas by small mammals has been suggested for other Cerrado forests (Mendonça *et al.* 2015). On the other hand, if population recovery relies on individuals that survived the fire event, as indicated for small mammals in diverse Australian ecosystems (Banks *et al.* 2017, Hale *et al.* 2022), population growth will be linked to the number of founding individuals as well as the availability of required resources for the species (*e.g.*, food and shelter).

The differences in the composition of consumed seeds by small mammals among the fire severity classes may reflect fire-induced changes in floristic composition in the studied forests. In fact, the impacts of fire on floristic diversity can be observed across various forest ecosystems. For instance, recurrent or more severe burns significantly reduced the diversity of plants in the understory of the Amazon Forest (Cochrane & Schulze 1999, Prestes *et al.* 2020). Moreover, forest patches that experienced more severe fire damage exhibited a prevalence of pioneer species (Cochrane & Schulze 1999), likely due to reduced canopy coverage and subsequent increased light penetration. Thus, the changes in flora within fire-affected forests can drive shifts in the diversity of fruits and seeds available for consumption by fauna, potentially impacting the role of animals as seed dispersers.

# Conclusion

We showed that high-severity wildfires may affect highly relevant ecological processes, such as seed dispersal by small mammals. These effects include a reduction in the number of potentially dispersing small mammal species and in the number of plant species dispersed by these animals. These effects on the dispersal role of small mammals were species-specific, being associated to the gradient of fire severity of the gallery forests burned three years before. Considering the low redundancy (in terms of dispersed plant species) among the rodents and marsupials that may serve as dispersers, the absence (or low abundance) of species in areas more severely impacted by fire can compromise the role of the small mammal group as seed dispersers. This reduction could impact the recruitment dynamics of plant species and, consequently, the vegetation recovery in fire-affected areas. However, this effect will depend on the relative importance of the small mammal species in the dispersal processes of each plant that interacts with these animals.

#### Author contributions

AL: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, writing original draft, visualization, project administration. CVS: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, project administration, reviewing and editing the manuscript. AFM: conceptualization, reviewing and editing the manuscript. PFL: data collection, laboratory work, reviewing and editing the manuscript. GGR: data collection, laboratory work, reviewing and editing the manuscript. RPM: data collection and preliminary analysis, laboratory work, reviewing and editing the manuscript. EMV: conceptualization, methodology, investigation, reviewing and editing the manuscript, supervision, funding acquisition, project administration.

# Supporting information

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

## Acknowledgments

This study was authorized by the Biodiversity Authorization and Information System (Sisbio-ICMBio/IBAMA nr 71643-2). We thank the Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park staff and the Non-Governmental Organization PEQUI (Pesquisa e Conservação do Cerrado) for logistical support during fieldwork. We thank Rossano Marchetti Ramos for helping us with the processing of satellite images and Marcelo Kuhlmann for helping in the identification of seeds. We are also grateful to the many students and volunteers for their assistance in fieldwork.

## Funding information

This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) - Finance Code 001 (graduate scholarships to AL and CVS). Funding also was provided by the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico - CNPq (personal research grant received by EMV, grant number 311857/2022-1; graduate scholarship to AL, number 144252/2019-8; and undergraduate scholarship to RPM) and the National Center for Preventing and Combating Forest Wildfires (PrevFogo/Ibama - CNPq; grant number 441998/2018-6 received by EMV).

## References

ANDERSON, M. J. 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecol 26: 32-46.

- ARMENTERAS, D., M. C. MEZA, T. M. GONZÁLEZ, I. OLIVERAS, J. K. BALCH, AND J. RETANA. 2021. Fire threatens the diversity and structure of tropical gallery forests. Ecosphere 12: e03347.
- BANKS, S. C., L. MCBURNEY, D. BLAIR, I. D. DAVIES, AND D. B. LINDENMAYER. 2017. Where do animals come from during post-fire population recovery? Implications for ecological and genetic patterns in post-fire landscapes. Ecography 40: 1325-1338.
- BARTUSZEVIGE, A. M., AND D. L. GORCHOV. 2006. Avian seed dispersal of an invasive shrub. Biological Invasions 8: 1013-1022.
- BERGSTROM, B. J., C. R. DICKMAN, A. MONADJEM, AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2023. Editorial: Drivers of small-mammal community structure in tropical savannas. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 11.
- BOONE, S. R., A. M. BREHM, AND A. MORTELLITI. 2022. Seed predation and dispersal by small mammals in a landscape of fear: effects of personality, predation risk and land-use change. Oikos 2022.
- BREWER, S. W., AND M. REJMÁNEK. 1999. Small rodents as significant dispersers of tree seeds in a Neotropical forest. Journal of Vegetation Science 10: 165-174.
- BRIANI, D. C., A. R. T. PALMA, E. M. VIEIRA, AND R. P. B. HENRIQUES. 2004. Post-fire succession of small mammals in the Cerrado of central Brazil. Biodiversity & Conservation 13: 1023-1037.
- BRIANI, D. C., E. M. VIEIRA, AND M. V. VIEIRA. 2001. Nests and nesting sites of Brazilian forest rodents (Nectomys squamipes and Oryzomys intermedius) as revealed by a spooland-line device. Acta Theriologica 46: 331-334.
- CÁCERES, N. C. 2002. Food habits and seed dispersal by the white-eared opossum, Didelphis albiventris, in southern Brazil. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 37:97-104.

- CÁCERES, N. C., V. A. O. DITTRICH, AND E. L. A. MONTEIRO-FILHO. 1999. Fruit consumption, distance of seed dispersal and germination of solanaceous plants ingested by common opossum (Didelphis aurita) in southern Brazil. Revue d'Ecologie, Terre et Vie 54: 225-234.
- CÁCERES, N. C., AND L. G. LESSA. 2012. O papel de marsupiais na dispersão de sementes. *In*N. C. Cáceres (Ed.). Os marsupiais do Brasil: Biologia, ecologia e conservação, pp.
  407-423. UFMS, Campo Grande, Brazil.
- CAMARGO, N. F., R. M. S. CRUZ, J. F. RIBEIRO, AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2011. Frugivoria e potencial dispersão de sementes pelo marsupial *Gracilinanus agilis* (Didelphidae: Didelphimorphia) em áreas de Cerrado no Brasil central. Acta Bot Bras 25: 646-656.
- CAMARGO, N. F., G. G. REIS, A. C. L. CAMARGO, G. B. NARDOTO, J. M. KNEITEL, AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2021. Seasonal isotopic niche of a rodent: high between-individual variation but no changes in individual niche width during the rich-resource period. Biotropica.
- CAMARGO, N. F., AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2022. Marsupials in a Neotropical savanna: diet variation and seasonal patterns. *In* N. C. Cáceres and C. R. Dickman (Eds.). American and Australasian Marsupials. Springer Nature, Switzerland.
- CAMARGO, N. F. D., N. Y. SANO, AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2018. Forest vertical complexity affects alpha and beta diversity of small mammals. J Mammal 99: 1444-1454.
- CAMPBELL-JONES, M. M., M. BASSETT, A. F. BENNETT, E. K. CHIA, S. LEONARD, AND L. COLLINS. 2022. Fire severity has lasting effects on the distribution of arboreal mammals in a resprouting forest. Austral Ecology 47: 1456-1469.
- CANTOR, M., L. FERREIRA, W. SILVA, ANDE. SETZ. 2010. Potential seed dispersal by
   *Didelphis albiventris* (Marsupialia, Didelphidae) inhighly disturbed environment. Biota
   Neotropica (Brasil) Num.2 Vol.10 10.

- CAZETTA, T. C., AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2021. Fire occurrence mediates small-mammal seed removal of native tree species in a Neotropical savanna. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 9.
- CHAO, A., N. J. GOTELLI, T. C. HSIEH, E. L. SANDER, K. H. MA, R. K. COLWELL, AND A. M. ELLISON. 2014. Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers: a framework for sampling and estimation in species diversity studies. Ecol Monog 84: 45-67.
- CHAO, A., K. H. MA, AND T. C. HSIEH. 2016. iNEXT Online: software for interpolation and extrapolation of species diversity.
- CHARLES-DOMINIQUE, P., M. ATRAMENTOWICZ, M. CHARLES-DOMINIQUE, H. GÉRARD, A. HLADIK, C. M. HLADIK, AND M. F. PRÉVOST. 1981. Les mammifères frugivores arboricoles nocturnes d'une forêt guyanaise: inter-relations plantes-animaux Revue d'Écologie (Terre et Vie) 35: 341-435.
- COCHRANE, M. A., AND M. D. SCHULZE. 1999. Fire as a recurrent event in tropical forests of the eastern Amazon: effects on forest structure, biomass, and species composition. Biotropica 31: 2-16.
- COLWELL, R. K. 2013. EstimateS: Statistical estimation of species richness and shared species from samples.
- COUNTRYMAN, C. M. 1972. The fire environment concept. Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- DALLING, J. W., AND S. P. HUBBELL. 2002. Seed size, growth rate and gap microsite conditions as determinants of recruitment success for pioneer species. Journal of Ecology 90: 557-568.
- DANTAS, V. D. L., AND J. G. PAUSAS. 2013. The lanky and the corky: fire-escape strategies in savanna woody species. Journal of Ecology 101: 1265-1272.

- DEMATTIA, E. A., L. M. CURRAN, AND B. J. RATHCKE. 2004. Effects of small rodents and large mammals on Neotropical seeds. Ecology 85: 2161-2170.
- DURIGAN, G., ANDJ. A. RATTER. 2016. The need for a consistent fire policy for Cerrado conservation. Journal of Applied Ecology 53: 11-15.
- ESCUIN, S., R. NAVARRO, AND P. FERNÁNDEZ. 2008. Fire severity assessment by using NBR (Normalized Burn Ratio) and NDVI (Normalized Difference Vegetation Index) derived from LANDSAT TM/ETM images. International Journal of Remote Sensing 29: 1053-1073.
- FLORES, B. M., M. DE SÁ DECHOUM, I. B. SCHMIDT, M. HIROTA, A. ABRAHÃO, L. VERONA, L.
  L. F. PECORAL, M. B. CURE, A. L. GILES, P. DE BRITTO COSTA, M. B. PAMPLONA, G. G.
  MAZZOCHINI, P. GROENENDIJK, G. L. MINSKI, G. WOLFSDORF, A. B. SAMPAIO, F.
  PICCOLO, L. MELO, R. FIACADOR DE LIMA, AND R. S. OLIVEIRA. 2021. Tropical riparian forests in danger from large savanna wildfires. Journal of Applied Ecology 58: 419-430.
- Fox, B. J. 1982. Fire and mammalian secondary succession in an Australian coastal heath. Ecology 63: 1332-1341.
- FRANÇA-NETO, J. D. B., AND F. C. KRZYZANOWSKI. 2019. Tetrazolium: an important test for physiological seed quality evaluation. Journal of Seed Science 41: 359-366.
- GENRICH, C. M., M. A. R. MELLO, F. A. O. SILVEIRA, J. L. BRONSTEIN, AND A. P. PAGLIA. 2017. Duality of interaction outcomes in a plant–frugivore multilayer network. Oikos 126: 361-368.
- GODÓ, L., O. VALKÓ, S. BORZA, AND B. DEÁK. 2022. A global review on the role of small rodents and lagomorphs (clade Glires) in seed dispersal and plant establishment. Global Ecology and Conservation 33: e01982.
- GOLDENBERG, R., J. F. A. BAUMGRATZ, F. A. MICHELANGELI, P. J. F. GUIMARÃES, R. ROMERO, A. F. A. VERSIANE, K. FIDANZA, R. R. VÖLTZ, D. N. SILVA, L. F. G. LIMA, K. C. SILVA-

GONÇALVES, L. F. BACCI, J. C. FONTELAS, R. PACIFICO, E. S. BRITO, M. J. R. ROCHA, M.
K. CADDAH, J. MEIRELLES, P. ROSA, R. FERREIRA-ALVES, A. K. A. SANTOS, K. V. C.
MOREIRA, M. REGINATO, L. F. A. OLIVEIRA, A. FREIRE-FIERRO, A. M. A. AMORIM, A. B.
MARTINS, F. ALMEDA, L. K. R. HINOSHITA, R. KRIEBEL, AND F. S. MEYER. 2023.
Melastomataceae in Flora e Funga do Brasil. Jardim Botânico do Rio de Janeiro.

- GONG, H., C. TANG, AND B. WANG. 2015. Post-dispersal seed predation and its relations with seed traits: a thirty-species-comparative study. Plant Species Biology 30: 193-201.
- GONZÁLEZ, T. M., J. D. GONZÁLEZ-TRUJILLO, A. MUÑOZ, AND D. ARMENTERAS. 2021.
  Differential effects of fire on the occupancy of small mammals in neotropical savannagallery forests. Perspectives in Ecology and Conservation 19: 179-188.
- HALE, S., L. MENDOZA, T. YEATMAN, R. COOKE, T. DOHERTY, D. NIMMO, AND J. G. WHITE. 2022. Evidence that post-fire recovery of small mammals occurs primarily via in situ survival. Diversity and Distributions 28: 404-416.
- HAMMER, Ø., D. A. T. HARPER, AND P. D. RYAN. 2001. PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontologia Electronica 4:9.
- HOFFMANN, W. A., R. ADASME, M. HARIDASAN, M. T. DE CARVALHO, E. L. GEIGER, M. A. B. PEREIRA, S. G. GOTSCH, AND A. C. FRANCO. 2009. Tree topkill, not mortality, governs the dynamics of savanna–forest boundaries under frequent fire in central Brazil. Ecology 90: 1326-1337.

HOWE, H. F., AND M. N. MIRITI. 2004. When seed dispersal matters. BioScience 54: 651-660.

- JENSEN, T. S. 1985. Seed-seed predator interactions of european beech, Fagus silvatica and forest rodents, Clethrionomys glareolus and Apodemus flavicollis. Oikos 44: 149-156.
- KEELEY, J. E. 2009. Fire intensity, fire severity and burn severity: a brief review and suggested usage. International Journal of Wildland Fire 18: 116-126.

- KUHLMANN, M., AND A. DAROSCI. 2018. Frutos e Sementes do Cerrado: Espécies Atrativas para a Fauna (Vol. 2). M. K. Peres.
- KUHLMANN, M., AND C. FAGG. 2018. Frutos e Sementes do Cerrado: Espécies Atrativas para a Fauna (Vol. 1). M. K. Peres.
- LACHER, T. E., R. A. MITTERMEIER, AND D. E. WILSON. 2016. Handbook of the mammals of the world: vol. 6: lagomorphs and rodents I.
- LEGENDRE, P., AND E. D. GALLAGHER. 2001. Ecologically meaningful transformations for ordination of species data. Oecologia 129: 271-280.
- LESSA, L. G., ANDF. N. DA COSTA. 2010. Diet and seed dispersal by five marsupials (Didelphimorphia: Didelphidae) in a Brazilian cerrado reserve. Mammalian Biology -Zeitschrift für Säugetierkunde 75: 10-16.
- LESSA, L. G., C. S. PAULA, AND R. S. PESSOA. 2019. Food habits and endozoochorous seed dispersal by small rodents (Cricetidae and Echimyidae) in a riparian forest in southeastern Brazil. Neotropical Biology and Conservation 14: 349-359.
- LINDENMAYER, D. B., W. BLANCHARD, L. MCBURNEY, D. BLAIR, S. C. BANKS, D. DRISCOLL, A. L. SMITH, AND A. M. GILL. 2013. Fire severity and landscape context effects on arboreal marsupials. Biol Conserv 167: 137-148.
- MACGREGOR-FORS, I., AND M. E. PAYTON. 2013. Contrasting diversity values: statistical inferences based on overlapping confidence intervals. PLoS One 8: e56794.
- MAGNUSSON, W. E., AND T. M. SANAIOTTI. 1987. Dispersal of *Miconia* seeds by the rat *Bolomys lasiurus*. J Trop Ecol 3: 277-278.
- MARKL, J. S., M. SCHLEUNING, P. M. FORGET, P. JORDANO, J. E. LAMBERT, A. TRAVESET, S. J.WRIGHT, AND K. BÖHNING-GAESE. 2012. Meta-analysis of the effects of human disturbance on seed dispersal by animals. Conservation Biology 26: 1072-1081.

- MEDELLIN, R. A. 1994. Seed dispersal of Cecropia obtusifolia by two species of opossums in the Selva Lacandona, Chiapas, Mexico. Biotropica 26: 400-407.
- MENDONÇA, A. F., T. ARMOND, A. C. L. CAMARGO, N. F. CAMARGO, J. F. RIBEIRO, P. L. ZANGRANDI, AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2015. Effects of an extensive fire on arboreal small mammal populations in a neotropical savanna woodland. Journal of Mammalogy 96: 368-379.
- MERZ, M. R., S. R. BOONE, AND A. MORTELLITI. 2023. Predation risk and personality influence seed predation and dispersal by a scatter-hoarding small mammal. Ecosphere 14: e4377.
- MESSEDER, J. V. S., F. A. O. SILVEIRA, T. G. CORNELISSEN, L. F. FUZESSY, AND T. J. GUERRA. 2020. Frugivory and seed dispersal in a hyperdiverse plant clade and its role as a keystone resource for the Neotropical fauna. Annals of Botany 127: 577-595.
- MITTERMEIER, R. A., AND D. E. WILSON. 2015. Handbook of the mammals of the world: vol. 5: monotremes and marsupials.
- NAEEM, S. 1998. Species redundancy and ecosystem reliability. Conservation Biology 12: 39-45.
- NUNES, B. A., A. CUNHA, ANDE. M. VIEIRA. 2023. Effects of a large wildfire on the community composition of medium and large mammals in a neotropical savannah. International Journal of Wildland Fire 32: 1109-1118.
- NYIRAMANA, A., I. MENDOZA, B. A. KAPLIN, AND P.-M. FORGET. 2011. Evidence for seed dispersal by rodents in Tropical Montane Forest in Africa. Biotropica 43: 654-657.
- OKSANEN J, S. G., BLANCHET F, KINDT R, LEGENDRE P, MINCHIN P, O'HARA R, SOLYMOS P, STEVENS M, SZOECS E, WAGNER H, BARBOUR M, BEDWARD M, BOLKER B, BORCARD D, CARVALHO G, CHIRICO M, DE CACERES M, DURAND S, EVANGELISTA H, FITZJOHN R, FRIENDLY M, FURNEAUX B, HANNIGAN G, HILL M, LAHTI L, MCGLINN D, OUELLETTE

M, RIBEIRO CUNHA E, SMITHT, STIER A, TER BRAAKC, WEEDON J. 2022. \_vegan: Community Ecology Package\_. R package version 2.6-2.

- OKSANEN, J., G. SIMPSON, F. BLANCHET, R. KINDT, P. LEGENDRE, P. MINCHIN, R. O'HARA, P. SOLYMOS, M. STEVENS, E. SZOECS, H. WAGNER, M. BARBOUR, M. BEDWARD, B.
  BOLKER, D. BORCARD, G. CARVALHO, M. CHIRICO, M. DE CACERES, S. DURAND, H.
  EVANGELISTA, R. FITZJOHN, M. FRIENDLY, B. FURNEAUX, G. HANNIGAN, L. M. HIL, L.
  LAHTI, D. MCGLINN, M. OUELLETTE, E. RIBEIRO CUNHA, T. SMITH, A. STIER, C. TER
  BRAAK, AND J. WEEDON. 2022. vegan: Community Ecology Package R package version 2.6-4.
- PAGLIA, A. P., J. DE MARCO, F. M. COSTA, R. F. PEREIRA, AND G. LESSA. 1995.
  Heterogeneidade estrutural e diversidade de pequenos mam<sup>o</sup>feros em um fragmento de mata secundaria de Minas Gerais, Brasil. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 12: 67-79.
- PAGLIA, A. P., G. A. B. FONSECA, A. B. RYLANDS, G. HERRMANN, L. M. S. AGUIAR, A. G.
  CHIARELLO, Y. L. R. LEITE, L. P. COSTA, S. SICILIANO, M. C. M. KIERULFF, S. L.
  MENDES, V. D. C. TAVARES, R. A. MITTERMEIER, AND J. L. PATTON. 2012. Lista anotada dos mamíferos do Brasil/Annotated checklist of Brazilian mammals. Conservation International, Arlington, VA.
- PARR, C. L., A. N. ANDERSEN, C. CHASTAGNOL, AND C. DUFFAUD. 2007. Savanna fires increase rates and distances of seed dispersal by ants. Oecologia 151: 33-41.
- PRESTES, N. C. C. D. S., K. G. MASSI, E. A. SILVA, D. S. NOGUEIRA, E. A. DE OLIVEIRA, R.
  FREITAG, B. S. MARIMON, B. H. MARIMON-JUNIOR, M. KELLER, AND T. R. FELDPAUSCH.
  2020. Fire effects on understory forest regeneration in southern Amazonia. Frontiers in Forests and Global Change 3.
- R CORE TEAM. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

- REDFORD, K. H., AND G. A. B. FONSECA. 1986. The role of gallery forests in the zoogeography of the Cerrado's non-volant mammalian fauna. Biotropica 18: 126-135.
- RIBEIRO, J. F., A. GUARALDO, G. B. NARDOTO, G. SANTORO, AND E. M. VIEIRA. 2019. Habitat type and seasonality influence the isotopic trophic niche of small mammals in a neotropical savanna. Hystrix, It J Mamm 30: 30-38.
- RUSCH, U. D., J. J. MIDGLEY, AND B. ANDERSON. 2014. Seasonal fluctuations in rodent seed caching and consumption behaviour in fynbos shrublands: Implications for fire management. S Afr J Bot 93: 217-221.
- SAHLEY, C. T., K. CERVANTES, E. SALAS, D. PAREDES, V. PACHECO, AND A. ALONSO. 2016. Primary seed dispersal by a sigmodontine rodent assemblage in a Peruvian montane forest. Journal of Tropical Ecology 32: 125-134.
- SALGADO-LABOURIAU, M. L., V. CASSETI, K. R. FERRAZ-VICENTINI, L. MARTIN, F. SOUBIÈS, K. SUGUIO, AND B. TURCQ. 1997. Late Quaternary vegetational and climatic changes in cerrado and palm swamp from Central Brazil. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 128: 215-226.
- SANO, E. E., A. A. RODRIGUES, E. S. MARTINS, G. M. BETTIOL, M. M. C. BUSTAMANTE, A. S. BEZERRA, A. F. COUTO, V. VASCONCELOS, J. SCHÜLER, AND E. L. BOLFE. 2019. Cerrado ecoregions: a spatial framework to assess and prioritize Brazilian savanna environmental diversity for conservation. Journal of Environmental Management 232: 818-828.
- SCHMIDT, I. B., AND L. ELOY. 2020. Fire regime in the Brazilian Savanna: Recent changes, policy and management. Flora 268: 151613.
- SIKES, R. S., W. L. GANNON, T. A. CARE, AND U. C. O. T. A. S. O. MAMMALOGISTS. 2011. Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for the use of wild mammals in research. Journal of Mammalogy 92: 235-253.

- SOVEREL, N. O., D. D. B. PERRAKIS, AND N. C. COOPS. 2010. Estimating burn severity from Landsat dNBR and RdNBR indices across western Canada. Remote Sensing of Environment 114: 1896-1909.
- STUHLER, J. D., AND J. L. ORROCK. 2016. Past agricultural land use and present-day fire regimes can interact to determine the nature of seed predation. Oecologia 181: 463-473.
- SUAREZ, O. V. 1994. Diet and habitat selection of Oxymycterus rutilans (Rodentia, Cricetidae). Mammalia 58: 225-234.
- TALAMONI, S. A., D. COUTO, D. A. CORDEIRO, AND F. M. DINIZ. 2008. Diet of some species of Neotropical small mammals. Mammalian Biology 73: 337-341.

VAN DER PIJL, L. 1982. Principles of dispersal in higher plants. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

- VIEIRA, E. M. 1999. Small mammal communities and fire in the Brazilian Cerrado. Journal of Zoology 249: 75-81.
- VIEIRA, E. M., ANDJ. MARINHO-FILHO. 1998. Pre- and post-fire habitat utilization by rodents of Cerrado from central Brazil. Biotropica 30: 491-496.
- VIEIRA, E. M., M. A. PIZO, AND P. IZAR. 2003. Fruit and seed exploitation by small rodents of the Brazilian Atlantic forest. Mammalia, p. 533.
- WANG, B. C., AND T. B. SMITH. 2002. Closing the seed dispersal loop. Trends Ecol Evol 17: 379-386.
- WILSON, D. E., T. E. LACHER, AND R. A. MITTERMEIER. 2017. Handbook of the mammals of the world: Vol. 7: Rodents II.
- ZENG, D., M. GALETTI, J. LIU, T. JIN, Y. ZHAO, AND P. DING. 2022. Size-related seed use by rodents on early recruitment of *Quercus serrata* in a subtropical island forest. Forest Ecol Manag 503: 119752.
- ZWOLAK, R., D. E. PEARSON, Y. K. ORTEGA, AND E. E. CRONE. 2010. Fire and mice: seed predation moderates fire's influence on conifer recruitment. Ecology 91: 1124-1131.

# Supporting information

**Appendix S1**. Map of the studied Cerrado (Neotropical savanna) region indicating the area burned in 2017 and the location of the study sites in the Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park and the Fazenda Mata Funda Private Natural Heritage Reserve, central Brazil. Site names are (numbers were ranked according to dNBR index; see Appendix 2): 1 = Estiva1, 2 = Maytrea1, 3 = Maytrea2, 4 = Estiva2, 5 = Mulungu2, 6 = Mulungu1, 7 = and Pouso Alto. Sites 4 (located in the Fazenda Mata Funda Private Natural Heritage Reserve) and 7 were sampled only in the dry season.



**Appendix S2.** Classification of the seven sampled gallery forests in 2020 in the Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park and the Fazenda Mata Funda Private Natural Heritage Reserve according to fire severity estimated by the Differentiated Normalized Burn Ratio (dNBR). This index was used for evaluating the effect of fire severity on diversity and species composition of seeds potentially dispersed by the small mammals. For the calculation of the dNBR, we determined fire severity for each of the seven gallery forest sites sampled using images from the Sentinel 2A satellite obtained before and after the 2017 wildfire (available in https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov. After that, we computed for pre-fire and post-fire instances using the formula (B8 - B12) / (B8 + B12), where B8 represents the near-infrared spectrum (with a resolution of 10m) and B12 corresponds to the shortwave infrared spectrum. The difference between pre- and post-fire values of the Normalized Burn Ratio (NBR) is the dNBR (Escuin *et al.* 2008). Also indicated is the total number of fecal samples obtained in each site (Samples).

Site	dNBR	Severity class	Samples
Estiva1	0.62	Moderate	53
Maytrea1	0.29	Moderate	45
Maytrea2	0.23	Low	46
Estiva2	0.21	Low	20
Mulungu2	0.13	Low	10
Mulungu1	-0.02	Unburned	52
Pouso Alto	-0.04	Unburned	7

**Appendix S3**. Identified seed species and their respective abundances found in the feces of small mammals sampled in the months of February and March (rainy season) and September and October (dry season) of 2020 in the central Brazilian Cerrado (Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park and Fazenda Mata Funda Private Natural Heritage Reserve). Species codes: Ca = Calomys spp., Cs = Cerradomys scotti, Da = Didelphis albiventris, Ga= Gracilinanus agilis, Hm= Hylaeamys megacephalus, Nl = Necromys lasiurus, Ne=Nectomys rattus., Oe=Oecomys spp., Ol=Oligoryzomys spp., Od = Necromys spp., Od = Necro

Oxymycterus delator, Ox = Oxymycterus sp., Rm= Rhipidomys macrurus, Ta = Thrichomys apereoides.

Species	Ca	Cs	Da	Ga	Hm	Nl	Ne	Oe	Ol	Od	Ox	Rm	Та	Total
Asteraceae														
Clibadium armanii	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Tilesia baccata	0	0	3698	0	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	3703
Cucurbitaceae														
Cucurbitaceae sp.	0	0	29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	29
Melastomataceae														
Miconia sp. 1	0	0	0	0	0	197	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	197
Miconia sp. 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	2
Miconia sp. 3	0	0	0	0	0	29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	29
Miconia sp. 4	0	0	0	54	100	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	155
Miconia sp. 5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Miconia sp. 6	2	95	0	456	54	246	285	516	6	5100	0	218	0	6978
<i>Miconia</i> sp. 7	0	0	0	1	0	5	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	8
<i>Miconia</i> sp. 8	0	0	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	11	0	13	0	32
Miconia spp.	0	0	0	0	0	9	0	0	0	0	0	6	1	16
Piperaceae														
<i>Piper</i> sp. 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Piper sp. 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	13	0	0	0	19
Poaceae														
Poaceae sp. 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
<i>Poaceae</i> sp. 2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Poaceae sp. 3	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
<i>Poaceae</i> sp. 4	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
<i>Poaceae</i> sp. 5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
Rubiaceae														
Sabicea brasiliensis	0	29	0	0	0	34	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	92
Solanaceae														
<i>Solanum</i> sp.	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Urticaceae														
Cecropia	0	0	345	90	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	436
Cecropia sp. 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	0	3
Unidentified														
Morfo 12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Morfo 17	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	3

Morfo 18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2
Morfo 24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1
Morfo 26	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
Total	2	124	4072	611	154	525	292	522	6	5134	1	244	1	11688

# CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS

O desenho amostral utilizado na amostragem de comunidades de pequenos mamíferos no Cerrado afetou as estimativas de abundância e riqueza desse grupo. Para todos as macroformações analisadas, as estimativas de diversidade foram maiores quando foram utilizadas em conjunto armadilhas tipo gaiola (i. e. *live-traps*) e as de interceptação e queda (i. e. *pitfalls*). Amostragem que consideraram as duas estações climáticas foram mais eficientes, especialmente nas formações abertas (i. e. campos e savanas). Detectamos um viés no tamanho dos indivíduos capturados por cada tipo de armadilha, com animais maiores sendo capturados por armadilhas de interceptação e queda e animais menores por armadilhas tipo gaiola. Também observamos que, em ambientes de savana, esse último tipo é mais eficiente na captura de um maior número de espécies.

Portanto, com base no presente estudo e na literatura disponível, sugerimos ambos tipos de armadilhas (i. e. tipo gaiola e de interceptação e queda), para amostragem em todos as macroformações. Dessa forma, obteremos a melhor representação possível da comunidade, capturando espécies maiores e menores, indivíduos jovens e adultos, e animais que evitam entrar em armadilhas tipo gaiola. Também recomendamos a realização de amostragem que leve em consideração a variação sazonal da região, bem como que a disposição das armadilhas esteja alinhada com os objetivos do estudo e que o tipo, tamanho e forma da área de estudo sejam considerados.

As interações planta-animal entre pequenos mamíferos e a flora do Cerrado são afetadas pelo fogo. A severidade do fogo modificou o padrão estrutural das redes, tornando-as mais aninhadas, e com menor grau de modularidade e especialização nas matas de galeria atingidas mais severamente por um incêndio. Esses resultados provavelmente estão relacionados com um consumo de frutos e sementes mais generalista por roedores e marsupiais presentes nas áreas que queimaram de forma mais severa. Nessas áreas, a

diversidade de interações foi maior, possivelmente em decorrência da invasão de espécies típicas de habitats abertos nessas matas de galeria que tiveram sua estrutura mais intensamente modificada pelo incêndio.

A disponibilidade de recursos (i. e. frutos) também afetou a estrutura das redes plantaanimal, embora essa disponibilidade não tenha apresentado relação direta com a severidade do fogo. Interações mais generalistas levaram à formação de redes mais modulares e especializadas em áreas com maior disponibilidade de frutos, assim como a um grau de aninhamento menor. Nessas áreas, a diversidade de interações foi menor. Esse resultado possivelmente reflete uma maior partição de nicho entre as espécies, que passaram a consumir um subconjunto de frutos dentre todos aqueles disponíveis para a comunidade, levando à redução do número total de interações realizadas quando comparado ao número total de interações possíveis (i. e. todas espécies de animais interagindo com todas as espécies de plantas).

A estrutura do habitat não afetou diretamente a estrutura das redes planta-animal, embora tenha sido explicada em grande parte pela severidade do fogo. A variação na estrutura do habitat ao longo do gradiente de severidade do fogo pode ter determinado mudanças na composição das comunidades de pequenos mamíferos. Assim, é possível que seus efeitos sobre a estrutura das interações tenham sido indiretos.

Ao avaliarmos a dieta de roedores e marsupiais por meio da análise de DNA *metabarcoding*, pudemos detectar uma riqueza de plantas consumidas muito acima do que é possível através de métodos tradicionais. Por esse método, conseguimos identificar 211 espécies de plantas nas fezes desses animais, contrastando com as 28 espécies de sementes detectadas pela análise visual em estereoscópio.

O fogo também afetou o papel dos pequenos mamíferos como potenciais dispersores de sementes. Esses efeitos incluíram a redução no número de potenciais dispersores e na

diversidade de plantas potencialmente dispersas nas matas de galeria mais severamente atingidas pelo incêndio. Esses efeitos sobre o papel das espécies foram espécie-específicos, variando ao longo do gradiente de severidade do fogo. Considerando a baixa redundância (em termos de espécies de plantas dispersas) entre os roedores e marsupiais que podem atuar como dispersores, a ausência (ou baixa abundância) de espécies em áreas mais severamente impactadas pelo fogo pode comprometer o papel do grupo de pequenos mamíferos como dispersores de sementes. Essa redução pode afetar a dinâmica de recrutamento das espécies vegetais e, consequentemente, a recuperação da vegetação em áreas afetadas pelo fogo. No entanto, esse efeito vai depender da importância relativa das espécies de pequenos mamíferos nos processos de dispersão de cada planta que interage com esses animais.

Por fim, destacamos que a proteção de áreas de Cerrado sensíveis aos impactos do fogo (como as matas de galeria avaliadas) precisa ser considerada nos planos de manejo integrado do fogo aplicados nesse bioma. Os resultados apresentados no presente estudo indicam que incêndios severos modificam as comunidades de pequenos mamíferos que habitam as matas de galeria. Essas modificações têm efeitos sobre as interações planta-animal assim como sobre o papel ecossistêmico que roedores e marsupiais desempenham como dispersores de sementes, potencialmente impactando o recrutamento vegetal em matas de galeria queimadas de forma mais severa. Ademais, esses efeitos foram detectados três anos após o incêndio, indicando que os impactos sofridos pela vegetação e pela fauna podem ser prolongados. Desta forma, contribuindo para a alteração desses ambientes, a médio e longo prazo, em relação às características de matas de galeria que não tenham sido atingidas pelo fogo.